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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements other than 
statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including statements regarding future events or our future results of 
operations, financial condition, business, strategies, financial needs, and the plans and objectives of management, are forward-looking statements. In 
some cases you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” 
“expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “likely,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” or similar 
expressions and the negatives of those terms. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:

• our expectations regarding our revenue, expenses, and other operating results;
• our ability to acquire new customers and successfully retain existing customers;
• our ability to develop new products and services and bring them to market in a timely manner;
• our ability to achieve or sustain our profitability;
• our ability to maintain and expand our strategic relationships with third parties;
• our business plan and our ability to effectively manage our growth;
• our market opportunity, including our total addressable market;
• anticipated trends, growth rates, and challenges in our business and in the markets in which we operate;
• our ability to attract and retain qualified employees;
• uncertainties regarding the impact of general economic and market conditions, including as a result of currency fluctuations, inflation, or 

regional and global conflicts or related government sanctions;
• our ability to maintain the security and availability of our solutions;
• our ability to maintain our money transmission licenses and other regulatory approvals;
• our ability to maintain and expand internationally; and
• our expectations regarding anticipated technology needs and developments and our ability to address those needs and developments with 

our solutions.

You should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements and you should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of 
future events. The results, events, and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur, and actual results, 
events, or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements made in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the date of this report. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in 
this report to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, 
except as required by law. If we update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates 
with respect to those or other forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions, including those described in “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible 
for us to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may 
cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make.

Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Remitly Global,” “Remitly,” “the Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K refer to Remitly Global, Inc. and our consolidated subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Remitly was founded in 2011 with a vision to transform the lives of immigrants and their families by providing the most trusted financial services on 
the planet. As our business has grown over the last decade - so must our vision. In order to continue to serve our existing customers as well as serve 
other global citizens with cross-border financial needs we have expanded our vision to transforming lives with trusted financial services that 
transcend borders. 

The inspiration behind Remitly came when Matt, our co-founder and Chief Executive Officer, was living and working in Kenya. Living abroad, he 
experienced firsthand how painful it could be to send money across borders, and witnessed how far that money could go once it made it home. In 
Matt’s own words, remittances are all about trust, and he’s committed to making Remitly the most trusted financial service provider in the world. 
Today, Remitly is a leading digital financial services provider for immigrants, their families, and other global citizens in over 170 countries around 
the world. The long-term, trusted relationships we foster with our customers have enabled us to expand our core cross-border remittance product to 
over 5,000 corridors worldwide, and we are working to offer complementary new products to our 5.9 million quarterly active users. 

Our customers are at the heart of everything we do. We believe that when we can provide more people with access to trusted financial services that 
transcend the barriers of borders, they can change the future. Our customers do this by transforming the local economies where they live and work, as 
well as the communities where they share access to trusted financial services. 

Remitly’s culture is key to our success, and our cultural values act as a blueprint for how we accomplish everything we do. We regularly refresh our 
values to align with our strategy. The one constant, and single most important of these values is customer centricity, which serves as our north star in 
all that we do. To us, customer centricity means “we are here to listen to, learn from, and serve our customers.” 

Our other core values fall broadly into three categories:

• Our purpose: Aim for the stars, be an owner, and earn trust through integrity; and
• Building relationships: Lead authentically, be global, hire and grow exceptional people, be constructively direct, be a compassionate 

partner, and be joyful; and
• Taking action: Have a bias for action, be data-driven, sweat the details, deliver on promises, overcome fear, and continuously improve.

These values influence our actions every day. Living up to our values builds customer trust, inspires employee engagement, and makes “Promises 
Delivered” our fundamental ethos.

Acquisition of Rewire

On January 5, 2023, we acquired 100% of the outstanding equity interests of Rewire (O.S.G.) Research and Development Ltd., a company organized 
under the laws of the State of Israel (“Rewire”), for approximately $77.9 million of aggregate consideration, the majority of which was or will be 
settled in cash, with the remaining consideration settled or to be settled in Remitly equity. The acquisition of Rewire allows us to accelerate our 
opportunity to differentiate the remittance experience with complementary products and expands our remittance businesses in new geographies all 
with a strong team that is culturally aligned with Remitly.

2023 Key Performance Metrics

Substantially all of our revenue today is generated through our remittance business, where we earn revenue from transaction fees charged to 
customers who are sending remittances and the foreign exchange spreads earned between the foreign exchange rate offered to customers and the 
foreign exchange rate on our currency purchases. 

In addition to our financial results, we regularly review key business metrics to evaluate our performance, identify trends affecting our business, 
prepare financial projections, and make strategic decisions. We believe that these key business metrics provide meaningful supplemental information 
for management and investors in assessing our historical and future operating performance. The calculation of these key business metrics discussed 
below may differ from other similarly titled metrics used by other companies, analysts, or investors. The key business metrics that we use to measure 
the performance of our business are defined as follows:

• “Active customers” is defined as the number of distinct customers that have successfully completed at least one transaction using Remitly 
during a given period. We identify customers through unique account numbers. 

• “Send volume” is defined as the sum of the amount that customers send, measured in U.S. dollars, related to transactions completed during 
a given period. This amount is net of cancellations, does not include transaction fees from customers, and does not include any credits, 
offers, or bonuses applied to the transaction by us.
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As active customers are measured on a quarterly basis, the data for the full-year periods for active customers is not meaningful, and therefore this 
metric is only presented on a quarterly basis herein. 

Our 2023 key performance metrics included the following results: 

• Active customers for the fourth quarter of 2023 increased to 5.9 million, from 4.2 million, up 41% year over year.

• Send volume for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased to $39.5 billion, from $28.6 billion, up 38% year over year.

The charts below present the respective key metrics for the past five fiscal years (active customer figures below represent active customers during the 
fourth quarter of the respective year):

          

Quarterly Active Customers
(in thousands)

948

1,891

2,836

4,188

5,911

Q4 2019 Q4 2020 Q4 2021 Q4 2022 Q4 2023

Send Volume
(in millions)

7,087

12,055

20,448

28,631

39,459

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Our Services 

We provide a digital cross-border remittance product that is accessible via our mobile app or the web. Our customers are able to set up an account 
and start sending money to international recipients on our platform, generally within minutes. Recipients can receive funds in multiple ways using 
our diversified and global disbursement network. Our customers can also track the status of their transactions as they are processed. Today, our 
customers predominately engage with us via their mobile phones, either using our app or website, shifting what traditionally required waiting in line 
to speak with an agent to hand held devices. Providing our customers with a convenient, easy, and safe mobile experience underpins our approach to 
product development, marketing, and customer success. 

Our remittance revenue is earned from transaction fees charged to customers who are sending remittances and the foreign exchange spreads between 
the foreign exchange rate offered to customers and the foreign exchange rate on our currency purchases. 

While our journey began in digital cross-border remittances, we continue to evolve and invest in our technology platform to be able to deepen 
relationships with our customers. We believe this will allow us to address our customers’ discrete financial services needs, many of which are not met 
by legacy institutions.

Substantially all of our revenue is currently generated from digital cross-border remittances.

Strategy

We operate in a large and fragmented cross-border payments market that provides financial products and services to approximately 1 billion 
customers around the world. Based on estimates from FXC Intelligence, the consumer to consumer cross-border payments market is currently 
approximately $1.8 trillion and is expected to reach $3.3 trillion by 2030, growing at a CAGR of approximately 8%. As of December 31, 2023, we 
had captured approximately 2% of this market. Our strategy is to build on our trusted brand and technology platform by offering products and 
services in the cross-border payments market. We also believe that the global scale and breadth of our global money movement network that we have 
built over many years provides additional opportunities to leverage our platform to provide value to customers and businesses across the cross-border 
payments landscape. According to FXC Intelligence, the current market for consumer to business cross-border payments is approximately $3.1 
trillion, business to consumer cross-border payments is approximately $1.7 trillion, and small to medium business cross-border payments is 
approximately $10.4 trillion.

Table of Contents

2



Our approach to achieving our strategy has been rooted from Day 1 in customer centricity, which means deeply understanding our customers’ unique 
and local needs to provide them with a differentiated experience in cross-border offerings around remittances. Strategically, managing our business 
from this perspective has been key to our success since the very beginning and forms the framework for the remainder of our strategy, which includes 
the following focus areas:

• Deliver a fast, reliable and seamless end-to-end transaction experience that is tailored and localized to meet the needs of our global 
customer base. Delivering cross-border financial services in a trusted and reliable way to many customer segments is incredibly complex. 
We are focused on delivering a fast, reliable, and seamless experience to customers that builds trust and drives repeat engagement with our 
platform. Examples of complexity in cross-border financial services that we are investing in include localization across over 170 countries, 
reducing friction for customers across different payment methods and currencies, fraud and compliance systems that prevent bad actors 
while at the same time maintaining a great overall customer experience, sophisticated treasury and foreign exchange management, and 
delivering funds reliably and speedily to billions of bank accounts, billions of mobile wallets, and thousands of cash pick-up locations 
across the globe. All of this requires scale and a digital first approach and importantly, a critical focus on reducing unnecessary friction 
across all stages of the remittance journey which Remitly is uniquely qualified to deliver.

• Hyper localized marketing at attractive unit economics. We plan on continuing to invest in delivering a superior, trusted remittance 
experience for our customers, creating loyalty and a long-term relationship with our customers while also acquiring new customers at 
highly attractive unit economics. Our investments in performance, organic, and brand marketing along with increasing word of mouth will 
continue to drive efficient new customer acquisition. We have been able to drive efficiencies in new customer acquisition by focusing on 
elasticity testing, scaling search engine optimization, developing high-quality content, optimizing channel mix, deploying localized 
marketing campaigns, and by increasing word of mouth and referrals driven by our increasing scale and product enhancements. As we 
scale our customer base, we expect to benefit from increased leverage on our variable transaction costs which allows us to continue to 
invest in driving new customers to our platform at attractive unit economics.

• Unlock incremental customers, corridor types, and geographies. We see an opportunity to generate value by expanding our cross-
border financial services more broadly to additional customers and markets around the world. While our global network spans over 5,000 
corridors, we have plans to increase our reach to thousands of additional corridors. Although our customer base today is primarily 
immigrants that regularly send money home to family and friends in developing countries, we believe our platform can serve additional 
customers that have cross-border financial needs. We expect to leverage our data-driven approach to optimize the value we deliver to our 
customers, product features, marketing strategies, and customer economics as we expand and grow to new geographies and customers. 
Additionally, we expect to leverage our localization expertise and our technology platform to grow the number of disbursement, payment, 
and other partners in our global network and increase the quality and number of direct integrations with such partners. We will also 
continue to establish new disbursement partnerships and add new payment methods to enhance our cross-border payment remittance 
experience for current and potential customers in our existing corridors.

• Deepening our customer relationships, including through complementary new products. We believe there are enormous opportunities 
to create a more inclusive financial system that caters to customers that have cross-border financial needs. In connection with these 
opportunities, we are using the trust and insights we have with our customers to develop complementary new products. We believe our 
investments in complementary new products will deepen and expand our relationship with our customers creating a unique and virtuous 
cycle that leads to increased customer value, long term customer engagement, and a competitive advantage for Remitly.

What Sets Us Apart 

Our brand promise is to bring “peace of mind” into everything we do. We focus on bringing trust, reliability, and a fair and transparent price to cross-
border financial services.

There are four core elements to our differentiated approach:

• Mobile First. Our mobile app for cross-border remittances provides an easy-to-use, end-to-end process with a simple and reliable user 
experience that delivers peace of mind. In just a few minutes, customers are able to set up and send money for the first time with Remitly, 
and repeat transactions are easier with just a few taps. Our customers and their families can also track the status of their transactions as they 
are processed, and we provide a reliability promise to customers which is underpinned by our sophisticated risk models, high quality 
network, and empathetic customer service. This mobile-first experience enables us to engage beyond the initial transaction, generating 
strong repeat usage and high customer loyalty. Our services are highly non-discretionary for our customers which results in high revenue 
visibility throughout economic cycles.

As of December 31, 2023, our Remitly mobile app had a 4.9 iOS App Store rating with more than 1.4 million reviewers and a 4.8 Android 
Google Play rating with more than 740,000 reviewers. We have achieved this level of engagement and these high ratings by designing 
mobile-first products that make the customer experience simple and convenient and give our customers complete peace of mind. 
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• Global Scale and High Quality Money Movement Platform. Our global network of funding and disbursement partnerships enables us to 
complete money transfers efficiently in over 5,000 corridors without the need to deploy local operations in each country. We are able to do 
this while complying with global and local licensing and regulatory requirements. A corridor represents the pairing of a send country, from 
which a customer can send a remittance, with a specific receive country to which such remittance can be sent. As a result of the quality of 
our network and the foundational investments we have made, in general every new send country we add results in a significant number of 
new corridors, as we are able to quickly connect send countries with receive countries, allowing us to continue to scale rapidly. Our scale 
and direct integration strategy allows us to negotiate highly favorable terms with both funding and disbursement partners while providing a 
great end-to-end customer experience including rapid and reliable transfers.

We provide broad and high quality disbursement options to our customers allowing them to choose the method that is most convenient for 
their family and friends to receive funds. We have partner relationships with global banks, aggregators, and leading payment providers to 
give our customers an array of payment (or pay-in) options, including with a bank account, card-based payments, and alternative payment 
methods. 

Our disbursement network enables us to send (or pay-out) funds to over 4.2 billion bank accounts, over 1.2 billion mobile wallets, and 
approximately 460,000 cash pick-up locations. We focus on creating financial inclusion by providing payout optionality and access for 
recipients who do not always have convenient access to traditional banking. We believe our focus on financial inclusion creates peace of 
mind for our customers and their families while attracting and retaining loyal customers.

• Highly Attractive Unit Economics. Our data driven approach to optimizing customer lifetime value combined with a localized and 
scalable marketing platform allows us to acquire new customers at highly attractive unit economics. As we improve customer lifetime 
value through product enhancements and changes to variable operating costs, we are able to invest more in marketing while maintaining 
our marketing efficiency. We believe our expertise in localizing our marketing, products, and customer support at scale is a key 
differentiator and enables us to provide customers with a personalized experience that drives peace of mind while also delivering high 
returns on marketing and product investments. 

• Superior Technology Platform. We believe that our differentiated approach to building our technology infrastructure enables a great 
customer experience and allows us to scale to meet customer demands in a more flexible way. We have been able to scale to more 
customers, more regions, and more use cases while continuing to get better at our reliability, speed, and performance due to our 
investments and unique approach to our technology platform. This enables not only our ability to scale, but also accelerates innovation on 
behalf of our customers - whether that is doing simple things well like delivering reliability, speed, and performance, or about enabling new 
use cases like complementary new products over time. Because our customers initiate transfers digitally, we capture and leverage a body of 
transaction-related data that provides insight into customer behavior and customer experience. This data and the analytics we perform help 
to inform our marketing investments and product development prioritization. In addition, we leverage our data platform and proprietary 
models to improve our compliance systems and manage pricing, treasury, fraud risk, and customer support. Finally, our proactive 
investments in artificial intelligence and machine learning have continued to drive scaled improvement in the areas of fraud and risk, 
pricing, customer support, and marketing.

Our Global Network 

Our global network of funding and disbursement partners is at the core of our business. Over the last decade, we have strategically expanded and 
improved the quality of our network in existing corridors to provide our customers with increasing disbursement options and in new corridors as part 
of our expansion strategy. A key focus of our global network strategy is continuing to expand the number of direct integrations with local partners. 
These direct integrations allow for a better customer experience and lower costs and are a significant competitive advantage. Our partners, including 
those that are among the most trusted and recognized brands around the world, create a broad and effective payment acceptance (pay-in) and payment 
delivery (pay-out) ecosystem for our customers:

• Payment acceptance. We have relationships with top tier banks and leading global payment processors and networks. These relationships 
provide our customers an array of payment (or pay-in) options to fund remittances with a bank account, card-based payments, and 
alternative payment methods.

We can accept and settle transfers from hundreds of millions of consumer bank accounts, payment methods such as Apple Pay and Google 
Pay, as well as Visa and Mastercard credit and debit cards. As a digital service, we typically do not have sending agents who accept cash. 
We, in turn, do not incur costs or commissions associated with physical agent-based sending and funding. 

• Payment disbursement. We provide broad access to disbursement options for our customers including cash and digital disbursement 
options. Our broad disbursement network provides peace of mind and allows customers to choose whatever method works best for their 
family and friends to receive funds. We have access to many disbursement partners across the globe including major banks, aggregators, 
cash pick-up, and mobile wallet partners. These relationships provide our customers with choice of disbursement and enable us to send 
funds within minutes, or even seconds, to over 4.2 billion bank accounts, over 1.2 billion mobile wallets, and approximately 460,000 cash 
pick-up locations (including retail outlets and banks).
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We select our disbursement partners based on our recipients’ preferences, quality of service, cost, brand recognition, and co-branding 
opportunities. Our disbursement partners make us a trusted source of remittances because our customers are typically already familiar with 
their chosen disbursement partner and recipients feel comfortable receiving money where they regularly bank or shop. In addition, we only 
select disbursement partners that meet or exceed: (1) our geographic coverage goals in the markets in which they operate; (2) our robust 
compliance and regulatory requirements; and (3) our specific operating metrics such as credit worthiness and error rates.

As a result of our scale, we are able to establish multi-faceted partnerships. These partnerships enable the ability to source and settle foreign 
exchange rates locally, accept payments, or deposit customer funds directly to customer accounts. In addition, we have redundancies built 
into our global network for our various partnerships.

Today, our customers primarily send money from the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and other countries in Europe. Our customers and 
their recipients are located in over 170 countries around the world; our largest receive countries include India, Mexico, and the Philippines.

Technology 

Our Technology Platform

Our purpose-built technology platform powers localized consumer experiences, enables a robust network of partner integrations, and uses data to 
optimize business performance, while enabling our ability to expand into complementary new products.

Our unique technology platform has broad and complex capabilities and, together with our proprietary data, gives us a unique advantage in 
understanding our customers and being able to meet their needs. Given the scale of our business, the local nuances of the markets we serve, and the 
complexity of digital cross-border payments, investments in our technology have positioned us for efficiency and continued growth. Our technology 
platform is comprised of the following:

• Core transaction engine that underpins the entire transaction lifecycle along with a sophisticated pricing engine that enables ongoing price 
optimization;

• Customer experience interface, across Android, iOS, and Web with corridor-specific user journeys and multilingual self-service or real-
time support; 

• Disbursement network for partner integrations that supports a diverse set of disbursement methods for our customers and their recipients in 
over 170 countries; 

• Our electronic Know Your Customer (“KYC”), machine learning-based fraud scoring and payment authentication processes that all take 
place in real-time to give our customers immediate feedback and are in compliance with highly complex and continuously evolving global 
and local regulations; and

• Marketing technology stack that enables our marketing team to efficiently operate and improve the quality of our customer experiences by 
supporting our localization strategies and efficiently capturing and analyzing data to ensure maximum long-term return on our marketing 
investments.

Customer Experience

We strive to make each customer interaction on our digital products intuitive and free of unnecessary friction. New customers can typically initiate a 
transaction with only a few taps after setting up their account and adding their recipient’s information. We have further streamlined the experience for 
existing customers completing repeat transactions. In addition, we recognize that customers' needs and preferences vary across corridors and continue 
to localize the customer journey in select corridors, from language, to product selection, to the specific flow and product options. Finally, when errors 
or delays do occur, we strive to enable our customers to take control of the issues and resolve directly within our product, whenever possible.

We invest substantial resources and rely on data and insights to understand our customers’ needs in order to continually innovate to deliver even 
richer features, products, and services. We therefore have significant resources dedicated to technology and development across multiple teams 
including product, engineering, design, analytics, compliance, marketing, and customer service. These teams are responsible for the envisioning, 
design, development, and testing of our platform and services. We focus the majority of our investment on developing new functionality, making it 
accessible and relevant globally, improving the customer experience and optimizing fraud loss rates, and further enhancing the usability, reliability, 
and performance of our platform and services.

Competition

We have experienced and expect to continue to experience competition from a number of companies, including those who are well-established or 
who may have greater resources, and those who may become meaningful competitors in the future. Our competitors generally fall into the following 
categories:

• Incumbent providers with a scaled legacy footprint. Traditional providers with large networks of brick-and-mortar locations and agents 
around the world, that have been slow to adopt digital solutions. 

• Traditional banks. Traditional bank networks that offer a wide variety of financial services, including international remittances, but have 
limited disbursement options and may have burdensome KYC processes that do not cater to immigrants or other global citizens. 
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• Digital-first cross-border payment providers. Digital-first providers of payments, money transfer, and remittance products that aim to be 
convenient, transparent, and affordable, with varying corridor-related focuses, such as developed-to-developing or developed-to-developed 
markets. 

• Emerging players focused on complementary financial products and services. Digital-only banks, wallets, and other emerging digital 
players typically offer a subset of the financial services offered by traditional banks, and generally place a greater emphasis on convenience 
and user experience. Similarly, those utilizing blockchain technology and digital or crypto assets often claim benefits of lower cost 
transactions and higher transfer speeds relative to incumbent money-movement providers. However, price volatility, various fiat conversion 
fees, user friction, lack of trust, legal and regulatory uncertainty, and other factors have limited the utility of cryptocurrencies, as well as 
digital assets broadly, for remittances. Still, Remitly continues to assess blockchain technologies and digital assets (and our users’ 
preferences towards them) as both an opportunity and competitive risk, particularly as the technology continues to evolve. 

• Informal person-to-person channels. Bringing cash home when immigrants travel, trusting others to deliver cash back home, established 
networks of “IOUs” based on documentation or passwords, and other systems of trust-based cash transfers that evade tracking and 
regulation. As digital-first cross-border payment providers continue to expand reach and provide higher quality and accessible services, we 
believe the share of informal person-to-person channels will likely diminish over time, expanding the addressable market for the competitor 
categories above.

Digital-first companies are increasingly gaining market share from legacy providers and traditional banks. We believe that the principal competitive 
factors across experience, product, network, and technology include:

• Experience: Digital-first companies, like Remitly, are focusing on the customer experience, by providing a trusted relationship with 
customers and their families, especially during devastating times, which ranges from family emergencies to natural disasters. Digital first 
companies also provide a simple and convenient customer experience, which is specialized to customers by region, which appeals to 
customers and their families on a hyper-local level.

• Product: Digital-first companies have the ability to focus on the product. With the various pay-in and pay-out options, the speed and 
certainty of transactions is a competitive advantage. Additionally, these companies are able to provide an adjacent suite of digital-first 
financial services (complementary products) with fair and transparent product pricing, while providing global and local customer service.

• Network: Digital-first companies leverage their expansive global network, which allows the companies to provide a vast array of easy-to-
access disbursement options and the ability to accept alternative payment methods.

• Technology: In a world of being digitally connected, digital-first companies focus on technological differentiation, through service 
availability, performance, scalability, and reliability. The ability to innovate continues to be a competitive advantage. Additionally, 
technology allows for efficient fraud, compliance, and regulatory management in the highly regulated industry. 

By focusing on the unique needs of immigrants and having a relentless customer focus, we believe that we have built a differentiated and compelling 
value proposition, and that we compete favorably on the basis of these factors.

Specifically, we believe that our mobile-first suite of products, our vast global network, our localization expertise at scale, and our data-driven 
approach create sustainable differentiation against competitors. 

Regulatory Environment

Our business is subject to a wide range of federal, state, and international laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance across the globe. The majority 
of these are applicable to us on the basis of the jurisdictions in which we operate and conduct our activities. These include, without limitation, the 
United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and the European Economic Area (the “EEA”). We are also subject to laws, regulations, and guidance 
on the basis of the jurisdictions in which recipients receive disbursements. These include India, Mexico, and the Philippines as well as other receive 
countries. These laws and regulations include strict requirements intended to help detect and prevent money laundering, terrorist financing, 
sanctioned persons and activity, fraud, data misuse, theft and misappropriation, and other illicit activity. In addition, the applicable regulatory 
framework includes laws, regulations, and guidance regarding money transmission licensing, financial services, consumer protections including 
disclosures, foreign exchange, safeguarding of customer funds, currency controls, unclaimed property, privacy, and cybersecurity. The regulatory 
requirements applicable to our business in any given jurisdiction are typically extensive, complex, frequently evolving, and increasing in scope, and 
may impose overlapping and/or conflicting requirements or obligations. For more information, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Legal and 
Compliance Risks.”

We have developed and implemented a compliance program, including our anti-money laundering (“AML”) and consumer protection programs, 
composed of policies and procedures designed to comply with such regulatory framework as it applies to our business. We also monitor these areas 
closely to continue to adapt our business practices and strategies to help us comply with the current and evolving regulatory environment. 
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Anti-Money Laundering. In the United States, our business is subject to federal AML laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance, which include the 
Bank Secrecy Act (the “BSA”), as amended by the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001, as well as similar state laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance. 
The BSA, among other things, requires companies engaged in money transmission to register with the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network 
(“FinCEN”) of the U.S. Department of the Treasury as money services businesses and to develop and maintain risk-based AML programs, report 
suspicious activity, and collect and maintain information about their customers and certain transaction records. These requirements may also apply to 
our disbursement partners and, if our partners are service providers who have relationships with their own disbursement providers, those partners’ 
disbursement providers (“disbursement sub-partners”). Furthermore, FinCEN has interpreted the BSA to require money services businesses to 
conduct risk-based monitoring of their counterparties. 

Similar AML laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance in the countries where we operate and those where we are licensed apply to our business 
internationally. These include laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance to detect and prevent money laundering and terrorist financing, including 
obligations to collect and maintain information about our users, recordkeeping, reporting, and due diligence and supervision of our counterparties 
similar to, and in some cases exceeding, those required under the BSA. We are also, to a lesser extent, impacted by AML laws, regulations, and 
supervisory guidance in the other countries in which our disbursement partners and disbursement sub-partners operate.

As a money services business, we maintain a stringent AML compliance program that includes internal policies and controls, designation of AML 
compliance officers for each of our regulated subsidiaries, ongoing employee training and monitoring programs, and annual independent reviews. 

Sanctions. Our business must also comply with U.S. economic and trade sanctions programs administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s 
Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) and with similar sanctions administered by sanctions authorities in other jurisdictions in which we 
operate or where we are licensed. These laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance prohibit or restrict transactions in, to, or from certain countries, 
regions, or governments, as well as with certain individuals and entities such as traffickers in illegal goods or services, terrorists, and terrorist 
organizations. Sanctions are imposed to address acute foreign policy and national security threats and may change rapidly and unpredictably in 
response to world events or domestic or international political developments. 

We have implemented policies, procedures, and internal controls that are designed to comply with these economic and trade sanctions programs. 
These measures include, without limitation, controls designed to prevent transactions to or from countries or territories that are subject to 
comprehensive sanctions, screening certain transactions and customer information against OFAC and other international government watch-lists, 
blocking funds of persons named on OFAC’s list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons and other persons and entities designated as 
prohibited persons by U.S. and non-U.S. sanctions authorities, and preparing and submitting blocking and other reports as required by relevant 
authorities. 

Anti-Bribery. We are subject to regulations imposed by the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”) in the United States, the Corruption of 
Foreign Public Officials Act in Canada (“CFPOA”), the U.K. Bribery Act in the United Kingdom, and similar laws in the other jurisdictions in which 
we or our disbursement partners or disbursement sub-partners operate, which generally prohibit companies and those acting on their behalf from 
making improper payments to foreign government officials for the purpose of influencing official action or otherwise gaining an unfair business 
advantage, such as obtaining or retaining business. We maintain a compliance program designed to comply with applicable anti-bribery laws, 
regulations, and supervisory guidance.

Money Transmission and Stored Value Licensing or Registration. We are subject to licensing and registration requirements in relation to our 
money transmission and stored value issuance activities on a state by state and federal basis in the United States and in almost every other jurisdiction 
from which our customers initiate transactions, including, but not limited to, Canada, the United Kingdom, and the EEA.

In the United States, we are registered as a Money Services Business with FinCEN, and we hold licenses to operate as a money transmitter (or its 
equivalent) in the 48 states where such licenses are required, as well as in the District of Columbia and various U.S. Territories. As a licensed money 
transmitter, we are subject to, among other requirements, restrictions with respect to the investment of customer funds, reporting requirements, 
bonding requirements, minimum net worth requirements, customer disclosure requirements, regulatory approval of directors and senior management 
of the licensed entity, AML and sanctions compliance, cybersecurity program requirements, and examination by state regulatory agencies. In 
connection with certain licenses we hold in the United States, there are also different shareholding thresholds that may require a shareholder to obtain 
regulatory approval prior to exceeding such thresholds.

Outside the United States, we provide services to our customers in a variety of ways. In several key jurisdictions, we have obtained licenses or are 
registered to operate as a money services business or payment institution, as applicable. In Canada, we are registered with the Financial Transactions 
and Reports Analysis Centre of Canada as a money services business. In the United Kingdom, we have obtained a payment institution license from 
the Financial Conduct Authority. In Ireland, we have obtained a payment institution license from the Central Bank of Ireland, and such license 
permits us to provide certain payment services across the EEA. We also hold licenses in several other jurisdictions and plan to apply for money 
transmitter licenses or their equivalents in additional jurisdictions. Additionally, in several foreign jurisdictions, we work with disbursement partners 
to make funds available to recipients. These may be locally licensed businesses or regulated banks whom we believe to be compliant with local laws.

Under these licensing regimes and associated regulations and supervision, we are subject to requirements such as capital and safeguarding rules, 
certain consumer protection requirements, IT and operational security risk management requirements, outsourcing oversight requirements, and 
periodic regulatory examinations. In certain countries, we are able to serve our customers through the use of disbursement partners instead of 
obtaining our own license. These entities are typically locally licensed businesses or regulated banks whom we believe are compliant with local laws.
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Unclaimed Property. We must also comply with unclaimed property laws in the United States and in other countries where we are licensed. These 
laws require us to remit to certain government authorities the property of others held by us that has been unclaimed for a specified period of time, 
such as unpaid money transfers. We hold property subject to unclaimed property laws and we have an ongoing program designed to help us comply 
with these laws. We are subject to audits with regard to our escheatment practices. 

Consumer Disclosure and Consumer Protection. We are subject to laws, regulations, and disclosure requirements relating to consumer protection in 
the United States and other jurisdictions in which we have operations, where such laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance are enforced by 
numerous government agencies. In the U.S., the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (the “CFPB”) implements, examines compliance with, and 
enforces federal consumer protection laws governing financial products and services, including the Remittance Transfer Rule. The Remittance 
Transfer Rule requirements include: (1) a disclosure requirement to provide consumers sending funds internationally from the United States with pre-
transaction written disclosures and receipts; (2) an obligation to investigate and resolve certain errors, including errors that may be outside our 
control; and (3) an obligation, upon a customer’s request, to cancel certain transactions that have not been completed. The CFPB has recently 
signaled greater scrutiny regarding consumer fees and disclosures generally, and stronger enforcement of the Remittance Transfer Rule specifically. 
We expect a heightened enforcement environment for remittance companies, especially regarding transparency of fees and exchange rates. 
Furthermore, the CFPB may be considering new restrictions or rules on such fees and disclosures.

In addition, under the Dodd-Frank Act, it is unlawful for any provider of consumer financial products or services to engage in unfair, deceptive, or 
abusive acts or practice (“UDAAP violations”). The CFPB has substantial rule-making and enforcement authority to prevent UDAAP violations in 
connection with any transaction involving a consumer financial product or service. As a larger participant in the market for international money 
transfers, we are subject to direct CFPB supervisory authority over our business. This includes the authority to fine and provide consumer restitution 
for violations and request information and data about our compliance activities. In addition, the CFPB requires that we track and respond to consumer 
complaints. 

Similar laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance in the countries where we operate and those where we are licensed apply to our business 
internationally. These include laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance to provide disclosures, an obligation to investigate and resolve certain 
errors and complaints, and obligations to cancel certain transactions. In addition, there has also been an increase in the level and regulatory scrutiny 
of consumer protection laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance relating to ‘treating customers fairly’. These laws apply to our international 
business (including in the United Kingdom and the EEA). In the United Kingdom, the Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”) has issued, 
supervises, and enforces the Consumer Duty that places an obligation on firms to act to deliver good outcomes for retail customers. 

Indirect Regulatory Requirements. In addition to the direct licenses discussed above, we also seek, obtain, and maintain additional licenses to 
support new products and use cases, and we also are subject to indirect regulatory requirements based on the requirements of our product partners. At 
the current time, none of the businesses supported by these indirect or new licenses are material to our business.

For an additional discussion on governmental regulations affecting our business, please see “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Financial Risks” and “Item 3. 
Legal Proceedings” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Intellectual Property 

Intellectual property and proprietary rights (“IP Rights”) are important to the success of our business. We rely on a combination of copyright, 
trademark, and trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as license agreements, confidentiality procedures, non-disclosure 
agreements, and other contractual protections to establish, maintain, and protect our IP Rights, including our proprietary technology, software, know-
how, and brand. 

As of December 31, 2023, we owned six U.S. registered trademarks, two pending U.S. trademark applications, 112 foreign registered trademarks, 
and 29 pending foreign trademark applications covering the mark REMITLY, our collapsed Clasped Hand logo, REMITLY (+ Clasped Hand Logo), 
PASSBOOK BY REMITLY, 汇安易 (Hui Mei Yi in Chinese characters), and 睿每易 (Rui Mei Yi in Chinese characters). This includes six foreign 
registered trademarks for the REWIRE mark and REWIRE Logo resulting from the purchase of REWIRE (O.S.G.) RESEARCH AND 
DEVELOPMENT LTD. We are in the process of recording the assignment of the REWIRE and REWIRE Logo marks with the relevant trademark 
offices. We are pursuing additional trademark registrations to the extent we believe it would be beneficial and cost effective. Additionally, we own 
common law trademark rights in the above referenced marks as well as the REMITLY PROMISES DELIVERED (+ Clasped Hand Logo) mark in 
the United States and certain other jurisdictions where common law rights are recognized. We also own several domain names, including 
www.remitly.com.

We monitor our trademarks and service marks through watch services which notify us when applications for potentially conflicting marks have been 
filed in the United States and in other jurisdictions. We also enforce our trademarks, service marks, trade names, and domain names against 
infringing third-party trademarks, trade names, and domain names by sending cease and desist letters, filing complaints, and commencing 
administrative and other legal proceedings in the United States and various other jurisdictions. 

In addition, we rely upon a substantial amount of intellectual property licensed from third parties, including under certain open source licenses.
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We also seek to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of our IP Rights through contractual protections and appropriate technological restrictions, 
such as physical and electronic security measures. It is also our practice to enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements (or similar 
agreements) with our employees, consultants, and contractors involved in the development of intellectual property on our behalf. We also enter into 
confidentiality agreements with other third parties to limit access to, and disclosure and use of, our confidential information and proprietary 
information. We further control the use of our proprietary technology and intellectual property through provisions in our terms of service.

See the section titled “Risk Factors—Cybersecurity, Privacy, Intellectual Property, and Technology Risks” for a more comprehensive description of 
risks related to our IP Rights. 

Privacy and Cybersecurity

Privacy Regulations. We collect, use, receive, store, transmit, disclose, and otherwise process a wide variety of data and information (including 
personal information and sensitive personal information) for various purposes in our business. This aspect of our business is subject to numerous 
laws, rules, regulations, industry standards, and other obligations in the United States and globally. Regulation and proposed regulation in this area 
has increased significantly in recent years and is expected to continue to do so. Our data handling is also subject to contractual obligations.

In the U.S., various federal, state, and local laws, rules, and regulations apply to the collection, disclosure, security, and other processing of personal 
information, including the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act, the 
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (the “GLBA”), and various state laws and regulations relating to privacy and cybersecurity. The GLBA (along with its 
implementing regulations), a federal privacy law that applies to financial institutions, like Remitly, restricts certain collection, storage, use, 
disclosure, and other processing of certain nonpublic or otherwise legally protected information, requires notice to individuals of privacy policies and 
practices relating to sharing such information, and provides individuals with certain rights to prevent the use and disclosure of such information. 
These rules also impose requirements for the safeguarding and proper destruction of such information through the issuance of cybersecurity standards 
or guidelines. 

In addition to numerous privacy and cybersecurity laws and regulations already in place, U.S. states are increasingly adopting laws imposing 
comprehensive privacy and cybersecurity obligations, which may be more stringent, broader in scope, or offer greater individual rights with respect 
to personal information (including sensitive personal information) than foreign, federal, or other state laws and regulations, and such laws and 
regulations may differ from or conflict with each other. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act, as amended by the California Privacy 
Rights Act of 2020 (collectively, the “CCPA”), broadly defines personal information, gives California residents expanded privacy rights and 
protections, and provides for civil penalties for violations and a private right of action for data breaches. A growing number of other states also have 
enacted, or are considering enacting, comprehensive privacy and cybersecurity laws that share similarities with the CCPA. There are also ongoing 
discussions in the U.S. Congress of a new federal privacy and cybersecurity law to which we may become subject if it is enacted. Additionally, the 
U.S. Federal Trade Commission and many state attorneys general are interpreting federal and state consumer protection laws as imposing standards 
for the online collection, use, dissemination, security, and other processing of personal information.

Internationally, many countries have established their own privacy and cybersecurity legal framework with which we, our customers, and/or partners 
may need to comply. For example, as a result of our presence in Europe and our service offering in the European Union, we are subject to the EU 
General Data Protection Regulation (the “GDPR”), which imposes stringent privacy and cybersecurity requirements. The GDPR includes numerous 
requirements and changes from previously existing European law, including more robust obligations on data controllers and processors and more 
fulsome documentation requirements for data protection compliance programs by covered companies. Failure to comply with the GDPR can result in 
fines up to the greater of €20 million or 4% of annual global revenues of the violator. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal 
data to countries outside of the EEA, including the United States, in respect of which the European Commission or other relevant regulatory body has 
not issued a so called ‘adequacy decision,’ unless the parties to the transfer have implemented specific safeguards to protect the transferred personal 
data. 

Moreover, following the exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union, the GDPR was transposed into U.K. law (the “U.K. GDPR”) as 
supplemented by the U.K. Data Protection Act 2018, which currently imposes the same obligations as the GDPR in most material respects. Failure to 
comply with the U.K. GDPR can result in fines up to the greater of £17.5 million or 4% of annual global revenues of the violator. However, the U.K. 
GDPR will not automatically incorporate changes made to the GDPR going forward (which would need to be specifically incorporated by the U.K. 
government), which creates a risk of divergent parallel regimes and related uncertainty. For example, in 2021, the European Commission announced 
an adequacy decision concluding that the United Kingdom ensures an equivalent level of data protection to the GDPR, which provides some relief 
regarding the legality of continued personal data flows from the EEA to the United Kingdom. This adequacy determination will automatically expire 
in June 2025 unless the European Commission renews or extends it and may be modified or revoked in the interim. We cannot predict how the U.K. 
GDPR and other U.K. privacy and cybersecurity laws, rules, or regulations may develop, including as compared to the GDPR, nor can we predict the 
effects of divergent laws and related guidance. Moreover, the U.K. government has launched a public consultation on proposed reforms to the data 
protection framework in the United Kingdom. This may lead to future divergence and variance between the two regimes.
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Recent legal developments in Europe have created complexity and uncertainty regarding data transfers from the EEA to countries outside of the EEA 
in respect of which the European Commission or other relevant regulatory body has not issued an adequacy decision. Furthermore, the United 
Kingdom similarly restricts transfers of personal data to countries outside of the United Kingdom to countries such as the United States that the U.K. 
government does not consider to provide an adequate level of personal data protection. While we currently rely on the standard contractual clauses 
promulgated and recently substantially revised by the European Commission and the United Kingdom’s International Data Transfer Agreement (or 
the United Kingdom’s approved international data transfer addendum to the European Union’s standard contractual clauses) for such transfers, on 
July 10, 2023, the European Commission adopted an adequacy decision concluding that the United States ensures an adequate level of protection for 
personal data transferred from the European Union to the United States under the recently adopted EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework (followed on 
October 12, 2023 with the adoption of an adequacy decision in the United Kingdom for the U.K.-U.S. Data Bridge). However, the EU-U.S. Data 
Privacy Framework (and the U.K.-U.S. Data Bridge) may be in flux as such new adequacy decision has been challenged, and is likely to face 
additional challenges, including at the Court of Justice of the European Union. 

Additionally, many statutory requirements, both in the United States and abroad, include obligations for companies to notify individuals of data 
breaches involving certain personal information. For example, laws in all U.S. states require businesses to provide notice to consumers whose 
personal information has been disclosed as a result of a data breach. These laws are not consistent, and compliance in the event of a widespread data 
breach is difficult and may be costly. Moreover, states have been frequently amending existing laws, requiring attention to changing regulatory 
requirements. Furthermore, in July 2023, the SEC adopted new cybersecurity disclosure rules requiring public companies to disclose, among other 
things, a material cybersecurity incident within four days of determining that an incident is material. We also may be contractually required to notify 
consumers or other third parties of a cyberattack, cybersecurity breach, or other similar incident.

There are a number of pending legislative proposals in the European Union, the U.S., at both the federal and state level, as well as other jurisdictions 
that could impose new obligations in areas affecting our business. We expect that our efforts to comply with the GDPR, U.K. GDPR, GLBA, CCPA, 
and other regulatory and legislative requirements will continue to require substantial investments, including investments in compliance processes and 
technical infrastructure. In addition, some countries are considering or have passed legislation implementing cybersecurity requirements, including 
requiring local storage and processing of data or similar requirements that could increase the cost and complexity of delivering our services. 

We are engaged in ongoing privacy and cybersecurity compliance and oversight efforts, including in connection with the requirements of privacy and 
cybersecurity laws, rules, regulations, industry standards, and other obligations. Many of these privacy and cybersecurity laws, rules, and regulations 
are subject to change, have uncertain and inconsistent interpretation and enforcement, and may conflict with one another, other requirements or 
obligations, or our practices or the features of our services. 

For additional information about privacy and associated risks, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Cybersecurity, Privacy, Intellectual Property, and 
Technology Risks.”

Cybersecurity. While we take reasonable efforts to secure our customers’ information, financial technology companies such as us are prone to 
cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, service outages, and other similar incidents by third parties seeking unauthorized access to our data or to disrupt 
our ability to provide access to our products and services. In addition, computer malware, viruses, social engineering (predominantly phishing 
attacks), vendor errors, and general hacking have become more prevalent in the industry, have occurred on our systems in the past, and will occur on 
our systems in the future. We regularly encounter attempts to create false or undesirable accounts or take other actions on our platform for purposes 
such as spamming, spreading misinformation, or other objectionable ends. Cyberattacks may cause interruptions to our platform, degrade the user 
experience, cause users to lose confidence and trust in our platform, impair our internal systems, or result in financial harm to us. Our efforts to 
protect company data or the information that we receive may also be unsuccessful due to: software bugs or other technical malfunctions; employee, 
contractor, or vendor error or malfeasance; government surveillance; or other threats that evolve. In addition, third parties may attempt to 
fraudulently induce employees to disclose information in order to gain access to our data. Cyberattacks continue to evolve in sophistication and 
volume, and inherently may be difficult to detect for long periods of time. 

For additional information about cybersecurity and associated risks, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Cybersecurity, Privacy, Intellectual 
Property, and Technology Risks.”

Human Capital

As we continue to grow and serve customers around the world, we strive to build a global team that is open, curious, and values individuals’ unique 
experiences, cultural backgrounds, strengths, and perspectives. Fostering a sense of belonging in all environments allows for every Remitly employee 
around the world to do their best work in service to our customers. 

Our Global Team. As of December 31, 2023, we had over 2,700 full-time equivalent employees working out of our global offices, which includes 
our headquarters in Seattle, Washington, several other office locations, or remotely. None of our team members is represented by a labor union or is 
covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We believe the positive relationship between our customers, our team members, and our mission-
oriented culture differentiates us and is a key driver of our business success. Attracting, recruiting, growing, and retaining globally diverse talent 
enables us to deliver on our brand promise to customers and serve our broad set of stakeholders. We are focused on supporting our employees from 
recruitment and onboarding, to ongoing development, and have implemented programs designed to encourage engagement and personal wellness. 
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Our Culture and Values. Culture is the set of habits that allows a group of people to cooperate by assumption rather than by negotiation. It is 
composed of artifacts, norms, values, and behaviors - and it is not what we say, but what we do without asking. Culture serves as the invisible glue 
that binds together the intangibles (e.g., how we treat each other, how we make decisions, how we serve our customers) with business objectives.

Remitly’s cultural values define our ideal behaviors and interactions. Each of us as individuals, teams, and as a company has strengths and growth 
opportunities. We view our values as a north star and, with a ‘growth mindset,’ our aspiration to work towards. Our values give us a common 
language to guide our work, behavior, and decision making every day. 

Remitly’s culture is the foundation of our success. We invested in our culture and values the day we started this company more than a decade ago, 
and we will continue to invest for the decades to come. Our values are not stagnant. Every so often we take a step back to refresh our values with the 
goal of continuously improving as we grow to serve millions of new customers, attract exceptional employees, globalize, grasp opportunities, and 
face challenges in our ever-changing world. Our cultural values define how we get things done. At Remitly we believe that how we accomplish our 
work leads to great outcomes in what we accomplish. 

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion. Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (“DEI”) is deeply rooted in our purpose and mission at Remitly. We have worked 
to build education, support, and awareness for DEI into all parts of our employee experience and continue to find new ways to provide benefits and 
support in line with the needs of the diverse talent we attract. Our focus every day is to tirelessly deliver for our customers, many of whom may be 
underrepresented in the countries they have migrated to and have historically been left out of traditional financial systems. To ensure we create an 
inclusive culture that embraces the diversity of our employees, we have invested in resources and created programs that encourage continuous 
learning and constructive dialogue at all levels of our organization, including, among others, employee-led global affinity groups, executive members 
hosting DEI monthly meetings, and investing in tools that deliver weekly DEI-related learning content to employees. 

Employee Engagement and Retention. Employee voice and engagement is a cornerstone to how we foster a culture of belonging. This focus allows 
all of us to do our personal best to deliver for our customers every day. Activities and initiatives include annual employee engagement surveys, pulse 
surveys and action planning, ongoing feedback sessions, office hours, and 1:1s. Our cultural values are woven throughout our employee lifecycle 
processes including onboarding, performance management, and development planning, which help us to attract, inspire, and retain a world-class and 
globally diverse team.

Benefits and Compensation. In every geography with employees, we offer market competitive compensation that includes equity to reward high 
performers and align our employee incentives with the long-term and customer-oriented success of Remitly. 

We provide comprehensive benefits and services that help meet the unique needs of our employees, including medical, dental, and vision insurance, a 
health savings account with company contribution, family and medical leave, flexible work schedules, paid holidays and flexible vacation time, as 
well as mental wellness access from Modern Health, which provides coaching and counseling services for employees and dependents in their 
household. To support parents and families, we offer benefits through Maven so all employees on any path to parenthood have 24/7 access to virtual 
care, ranging from prenatal support and family planning, to delivery, postpartum, and pediatrics that support diverse family structures. Remitly also 
participates in the World Professional Association for Transgender Health (the “WPATH”) so our teammates who identify as Transsexual, 
Transgender, and Gender Nonconforming People have access to the care they need. We sponsor a 401(k) plan that includes a matching contribution 
and offer financial coaching through a third-party provider. We also offer an employee stock purchase plan to enable eligible employees to purchase 
shares of common stock at a discount via accumulated payroll deductions.

Corporate Philanthropy

When communities have access to financial tools and resources, they change the future for themselves and their loved ones. They also transform the 
local economies where they live and work, as well as the countries where they send money. Through Remitly’s charitable giving programs, we aspire 
to invest in and support the organizations and coalitions who are committed to improving financial inclusion and community resiliency around the 
globe. In 2021, we joined Pledge 1%, a global movement that encourages and empowers companies of all sizes and stages to donate 1% of their staff 
time, product, profit, and/or equity to social good. Our major corporate philanthropy programs include the following:

Pledge 1%. Our Pledge 1% commitment publicly acknowledges our intent to give back and expand our social impact in order to sustainably further 
our mission to expand the financial inclusion of immigrants and other global citizens. As such, in July 2021, our board of directors approved the 
reservation of up to 1,819,609 shares of our common stock (which was approximately 1.0% of our fully diluted capitalization as of June 30, 2021) 
that we may issue to or for the benefit of a 501(c)(3) nonprofit foundation or a similar charitable organization pursuant to our Pledge 1% commitment 
in equal installments over ten years. From 2021 to 2023, we donated 181,961 shares of our common stock each year to the Remitly Philanthropic 
Fund. We also have a multifaceted social good program that aligns with our Pledge 1% philanthropic commitment.

Corporate and Employee Giving. We have various corporate and employee giving programs, aligned to our impact priorities, as described in our 
inaugural 2022 Impact Report published on our investor relations website in September 2023. Our programs include providing financial assistance 
through our Remitly Scholars Program to help students in the Philippines pay for school fees, books, food, school supplies, and other resources they 
might need to successfully graduate from college, as well as supporting immigrant communities and strengthening community resilience by 
responding to disasters around the world.
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Volunteering. In 2023, we focused on volunteer opportunities that addressed financial inclusion, family support for immigrants and refugees, and 
youth education. Volunteer events included employees volunteering as mentors and career coaches, offering time and experience to students entering 
into the technology field. We also delivered several Employee Action Guides that provided Remitly employees with self-paced learning and mental 
health resources that could be shared with their online and offline networks. 

Available Information

Copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed 
or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are available, free of 
charge, on our investor relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material electronically with or furnish it to the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The SEC also maintains a website that contains our SEC filings. The address of the site is www.sec.gov.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain events we participate in or host with members of the investment community on our investor relations 
website. Additionally, we offer notifications of news or announcements regarding our financial performance, including SEC filings, investor events, 
and press and earnings releases through our investor relations website. We have used, and intend to continue to use, the Investor Relations section of 
our website at https://ir.remitly.com as a means of disclosing material nonpublic information and for complying with our disclosure obligations under 
Regulation FD. Further corporate governance information, including our board committee composition and charters, code of business conduct and 
ethics, and corporate governance guidelines, is also available on our investor relations website under the heading “Governance.” The contents of our 
websites are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report or document we file with the 
SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together 
with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations,” our consolidated financial statements, and the accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
before making a decision to invest in our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks 
and uncertainties that we are unaware of or that we deem immaterial may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of 
the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, operating results, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that 
event, the market price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Summary of Risk Factors

Some of the material risks that we face include:

• We operate in a highly competitive and evolving market and may be unable to compete successfully against existing and future competitors 
which employ a variety of existing business models and technologies or new innovations;

• If we are not able to innovate, improve existing products, and develop new products that achieve market acceptance, our growth, business, 
operating results, financial condition, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected;

• We partner with third parties to support fulfillment of our service, including risk management, payment processing, customer support, 
cloud hosting, and disbursement, which exposes us to risks outside our direct control;

• Cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, service outages, or other similar incidents could result in serious harm to our business, reputation, 
and financial condition, including by triggering regulatory action or a breach of our agreements with significant partners that we rely on to 
deliver our services;

• We are subject to privacy and cybersecurity laws across multiple jurisdictions which are highly complex, overlapping, frequently changing, 
and which create compliance challenges that may expose us to substantial costs, liabilities, or loss of customer trust. Our actual or 
perceived failure to comply with these laws could harm our business;

• Use of our platform for illegal or fraudulent activities could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results;

• Failure to comply with sanctions laws, anti-terrorist financing laws, anti-money laundering laws, and similar laws associated with our 
activities outside of the United States, and anti-corruption laws could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences;

• We are exposed to the risk of loss or insolvency if our disbursement partners fail to disburse funds according to our instructions or were to 
become insolvent unexpectedly or funds are disbursed before customer funds are guaranteed to be sufficient;

• If there is any material change of service terms or loss of coverage in our payment processors and disbursement network, our business 
could be harmed;

• If our disbursement partners do not provide a positive recipient experience, our business would be harmed;

• Risks associated with operations outside the United States and foreign currencies could adversely affect our business, financial condition, 
results of operations, and cash flows;

• If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may 
be adversely affected;

• If one or more of our counterparties, including financial institutions, aggregators, and local cash pick-up institutions where we have cash on 
deposit, or our lenders and potential hedging counterparties, default on their financial or performance obligations to us or fail, we may incur 
significant losses; and

• Our customers and business operations are exposed to macroeconomic conditions and geopolitical forces in developing regions and regions 
that account for a significant amount of our send volume, which exposes us to risk of loss.
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Business and Industry Risks

We operate in a highly competitive and evolving market and may be unable to compete successfully against existing and future competitors which 
employ a variety of existing business models and technologies or new innovations. 

The market for remittances is global, highly competitive, and fragmented and includes a mix of traditional and digital players. This includes 
monoline remittance companies as well as more platform-based competitors that offer multiple financial services, including remittances. These 
competitors include traditional banks, digital-first cross-border payment providers, online-only banks, and cryptocurrency providers. Some of the 
competitors are significantly larger than we are, have longer operating histories, have more scale and name recognition, and more resources to 
deploy. We also compete against smaller, country-specific companies, banks, and informal person-to-person money transfer service providers that 
may have more ability to effectively tailor products and services, marketing, and regulatory compliance to local preferences and requirements.

Some of these competitors may introduce new products or services that render us unable to retain our existing customers or attract new customers at 
prices that are consistent with our pricing model and operating budget. In addition, these competitors use a variety of funding, money measurement 
and pricing methodologies which may be more attractive to customers in some geographies or demographics. Our pricing strategy for our cross-
border payments may also prove to be unappealing to our customers for other reasons, too. If this were to occur, it is possible that we would have to 
change our pricing strategies or reduce our prices, which could harm our revenue and operating results.

In addition, the broader financial services sector is experiencing rapid evolution in technologies and there has recently been significant advancement 
in the development of neobanking, as well as other real time payment technologies. Any failure to timely anticipate changes in customer behavior 
related to new payment technologies, or to successfully integrate such technologies into our services, could harm our ability to compete and result in 
a loss of customers and corresponding loss of revenue.

If we are not able to innovate, improve existing products, and develop new products that achieve market acceptance, our growth, business, 
operating results, financial condition, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

Our products and services rely on a technology-driven platform that requires innovation to remain competitive. Our process for innovation is 
complex and relies upon both internally developed and third-party technologies and services, including machine learning, cloud-based, and other 
emerging technologies. We may not be able to make product or technological improvements as quickly as our competitors and/or as demanded by 
our customers, or to market them effectively, which could harm our ability to attract or retain customers. This includes the incorporation of artificial 
intelligence (AI) technologies. In addition, we continue to develop new products and services which require ongoing investment. It is possible that 
these new products may not return our investment or be profitable, or may experience disruptions in development or availability in the market as a 
result of a variety of factors outside our control, which may have an adverse effect on our business and financial results. See the section titled “Risk 
Factors—General Risks.” Additionally, the majority of our customers access our products through our mobile website and mobile app, and we must 
ensure that our offerings are optimized for mobile devices and that our mobile apps are interoperable with popular third-party mobile operating 
systems such as Google Android and Apple iOS. If we are unable to successfully and in a timely fashion innovate and improve our existing products 
that achieve market acceptance, and continue to deliver a superior customer experience, our growth, business, operating results, financial condition, 
and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

We have grown rapidly in recent years and have limited operating experience at our current scale of operations. If we are unable to manage our 
growth effectively, our business and operating results may be materially and adversely affected. We also may not be able to sustain our growth 
rate in the future.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods in our headcount, licensing portfolio, geographic footprint, and transaction volume, all of which 
place substantial demands on our management and operational resources. We will need to continue to improve our operational, financial, and 
management controls and our reporting systems and procedures to manage this growth. 

Further, as we continue to grow, our business becomes increasingly complex and requires more resources. We have expended and anticipate 
continuing to expend, significant resources on expanding our infrastructure, streamlining our business and management processes, and other 
operational areas. Continued growth could strain our existing resources and we could experience operating difficulties in managing our business 
across numerous jurisdictions. Failure to effectively scale could harm our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit personnel and to 
effectively focus on our growth strategy. 

For example, our controls, policies, and procedures, including with respect to accounting, risk management, privacy, cybersecurity, client on-
boarding, transaction monitoring, and reliance on manual controls, among other compliance matters, remain under development and may not be 
consistently applied or fully effective to identify, monitor, and manage all risks of our business as we continue to scale rapidly. If we do not inform, 
train, and manage our employees properly, we may fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations, which could lead to adverse regulatory 
action. Moreover, the process by or speed with which our internal controls and procedures are implemented or adapted to changing regulatory or 
commercial requirements may be inadequate to ensure full and immediate compliance, leaving us vulnerable to inconsistencies and failures that may 
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. If our controls, policies, and procedures are not fully 
effective or we are not successful in identifying and mitigating all risks to which we are or may be exposed, we may suffer uninsured liability, harm 
to our reputation, or be subject to litigation or regulatory actions that could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations. You should not rely on our growth rate in the number of customers, revenue, or send volume for any prior quarterly or annual 
periods as any indication of our future revenue, revenue growth, or other metrics of our financial performance.
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We partner with third parties to support fulfillment of our service, including risk management, payment processing, customer support, cloud 
hosting, and disbursement, which exposes us to risks outside our direct control.

We partner with a variety of third parties to fulfill our services. For example, we integrate third-party technologies into our proprietary KYC and risk 
management systems and information security program, and we also partner with an extensive network of third parties to deliver payment processing 
for customers and disbursement of funds to recipients. In addition, in certain markets there is a limited number of third-party service providers 
capable of processing payments on our behalf. Any failure or disruption to the services provided by these third parties could cause disruption or delay 
the delivery of our services and negatively impact our customer experience. For example, any natural disaster that affects the ability of our payment 
processors to process funds could cause delays to our disbursement process and thereby negatively impact our customer experience and cause our 
express or economy delivery guarantees to fail. Additionally, if a payment processor experiences a service outage or service interruption that results 
in our being unable to collect funds from customers, our liquidity could be harmed and we may not meet our capital or other regulatory requirements.

Our third-party partners also support our business operations and processes, including customer support services, from their various locations around 
the world. If such third-party partners choose to cease or otherwise become unable to provide the business process support services for which they are 
contracted by us, we risk having delays in customer service or other interruptions in our business operations, which can have a detrimental effect on 
our reputation and ultimately lead to a loss of customers.

In addition, some of these third parties process personal information and customer payments subject to our security requirements. Any failure of these 
parties to implement and operate adequate privacy, cybersecurity, business continuity, fraud controls, or other internal controls, or any failure of ours 
to identify and require remediation of weaknesses in these areas, could result in significant liability or financial loss to our customers and us. We 
could face regulatory or governmental consequences for any significant failure caused by such partners as well as substantial costs associated with 
remediation of harm, either due to legal requirements or customer experience management. In many cases, we may elect to correct such errors even 
where not legally or contractually required to do so in order to retain customer loyalty and maintain our brand.

If we, our partners, or our industry generally are unable to provide a high-quality and secure customer experience in the various locales in which 
we operate, our brand could suffer reputational damage and our business results could be harmed.

Our business is largely driven by and reliant on customer trust in our handling of money remittances. The pricing and reliability of our service, the 
security of personal information (including sensitive personal information) of our customers, and a responsive and effective customer support 
function are each critical elements for the maintenance of this trust. For example, any significant interruption in either our internal or our partners’ 
risk management, payment processing, or disbursement systems could reduce customer confidence in our services. In addition, any actual or reported 
cyberattack, cybersecurity breach, service outage, or other similar incident with respect to our systems or networks, or violation of our privacy or 
cybersecurity policies, or applicable legal, regulatory, or contractual obligations that results in a compromise of customer data or causes customers to 
believe their data has been compromised could have a significant negative effect on our business. Legal claims and regulatory enforcement actions 
could also arise in response to these events, which would further exacerbate erosion of customer trust and potentially result in operating losses and 
liabilities. If we are unable to maintain affordable pricing, deliver services reliably and securely, or address customer support issues in an effective 
and timely manner, our reputation and our business and operating results could suffer material harm. In addition, any erosion in confidence in digital 
financial service providers as a means to transfer money generally could have a similar negative effect on us. 

We transfer large sums of customer funds daily, and are subject to the risk of loss due to errors or fraudulent or illegitimate activities of 
customers or third parties, any of which could result in financial losses or damage to our reputation and trust in our brand, which would harm 
our business and financial results.

Our business is subject to the risk of financial losses as a result of operational errors, fraudulent activity, employee misconduct, or other similar 
actions or errors on our platform or our partners’ platform solutions. We have been in the past, and will continue to be, subject to losses due to 
software errors in our platform, operational errors by our employees, or third-party service providers. For example, incorrect input of payments into a 
third-party processor’s systems has in the past affected the issuance rebates we received from our card services provider, which in turn negatively 
impacted revenue. In addition, we also are regularly targeted by parties who seek to commit acts of financial fraud, using a variety of techniques, 
including stolen bank accounts, compromised business email accounts, employee fraud, account takeover, false applications, and check fraud. We are 
also routinely targeted for illegitimate transactions such as money laundering. These risks are inherently greater for us because our corridors for 
remittances are generally from developed to developing economies, which have traditionally been highly targeted by bad actors perpetrating fraud or 
other unwanted activity. The methods used to perpetrate these illegal activities are continually evolving, and we expend considerable resources to 
monitor and prevent them. Our risk management efforts may not effectively prevent, and we may suffer losses from, these errors and activities and, 
in some cases, our usual risk allocation agreements and insurance coverages may not be sufficient to cover these losses. We have experienced 
transaction losses of $39.0 million, or 0.10%, $41.9 million, or 0.15%, and $29.7 million, or 0.15%, of total send volume in connection with such 
errors, fraud, and misconduct in the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. We expect that losses of similar or greater 
magnitude may occur again in the future. If any of these errors or illegitimate or fraudulent activities are significant, we may be subject to regulatory 
enforcement actions and suffer significant losses or reputational harm, and our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely 
affected.
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We have a history of operating losses and there is no assurance that our business will become profitable or that, if we achieve profitability, we will 
be able to sustain it. 

We were incorporated in 2011 and we have experienced net losses since inception. We generated net losses of $117.8 million, $114.0 million, and 
$38.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. While we have experienced significant revenue increases and 
achieved profitability on an Adjusted EBITDA basis in recent periods, if the assumptions we use to plan our business are incorrect or change, or if we 
are unable to maintain consistent revenue, it may be difficult to achieve and maintain profitability. Our revenue from any prior quarterly or annual 
periods should not be relied upon as an indication of our future revenue or revenue growth. We have historically spent, and intend to continue to 
spend, significant funds to further develop and secure our technology platform, develop new products and functionalities, invest in marketing 
programs to drive new customer acquisition, expand strategic partner integrations, and support international expansion into new payment corridors. 
These efforts may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in increasing our revenue sufficiently to offset these 
higher expenses. We will also face increased compliance and security costs associated with growth, the expansion of our customer base and 
corridors, and being a public company. Our history of net losses has also, at times, caused us to draw on our then-outstanding revolving lines of credit 
to satisfy our capital requirements and any inability to maintain or secure financing on satisfactory terms could materially and adversely impact our 
business. Our financial performance each quarter is also impacted by circumstances beyond our control, such as our ability to retain our customers, 
ability to efficiently attract new customers, corridor mix, revenue mix, and seasonality. We may incur significant losses in the future for several 
reasons, including the other risks described herein, and unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays, and other unknown events. If we 
are unable to achieve and sustain profitability, the value of our business and common stock may be adversely affected.

Our recent rapid growth, including growth in our volume of payments, may not be indicative of our future growth. Our rapid growth also makes 
it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and may increase the risk that we will not be successful.

Our revenue was $944.3 million, $653.6 million, and $458.6 million, and our send volume was $39.5 billion, $28.6 billion, and $20.4 billion, for the 
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Although a large market share for remittance services remains untapped by us, we 
have recently experienced significant growth in our revenue and send volume. However, even if our revenue continues to increase, we expect that our 
growth rate will likely decline in the future as a result of a variety of factors, including the increasing scale of our business. Overall growth of our 
revenue depends on a number of factors, including our ability to:

• maintain the rates at which customers transact on our platform;
• attract new customers;
• expand the functionality and scope of the products we offer on our platform;
• price our services competitively;
• maintain high-quality, highly available products;
• maintain trust with our customers;
• maintain send volume;
• provide our customers with high-quality customer support that meets their needs;
• introduce our services in new payment corridors and markets, including maintaining existing and obtaining new money transmitter 

licenses;
• localize our services;
• successfully identify and acquire or invest in businesses, products, or technologies that we believe could complement or expand our 

platform; and
• increase awareness of our brand and successfully compete with other companies.

We may not successfully accomplish any of these objectives, which makes it difficult for us to forecast our future operating results. If the 
assumptions that we use to plan our business are incorrect or change in reaction to changes in our market, or if we are unable to maintain consistent 
revenue or revenue growth, our stock price could be volatile, and it may be difficult to achieve and maintain profitability. Additionally if we fail to 
address the risks and difficulties that we face, including those associated with the factors listed above as well as those described elsewhere in this 
“Risk Factors” section, our growth rate will be adversely affected. You should not rely on our revenue for any prior quarterly or annual periods as 
any indication of our future revenue or revenue growth.
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Cybersecurity, Privacy, Intellectual Property, and Technology Risks

Cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, service outages, or other similar incidents could result in serious harm to our business, reputation, and 
financial condition, including by triggering regulatory action or a breach of our agreements with significant partners that we rely on to deliver 
our services. 

Cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, service outages, and other similar incidents continue to increase in frequency and severity, evolve in nature, 
and become more sophisticated (including through the increased use of AI), and may evade detection for substantial periods of time. Moreover, we 
regularly encounter attempts to create false or undesirable accounts or take other actions on our platform for purposes such as spamming, spreading 
misinformation, or other objectionable ends. Threats to our computer systems and networks and those of third parties with whom we partner come 
from a variety of sources, including organized criminal threat actors, terrorists, hacktivists, nation states, state-sponsored organizations, and other 
external threat actors with significant financial and technological resources, any of which may see the effectiveness of their efforts enhanced by the 
use of AI. In addition, the trend towards working from home and using private residential networks to access the internet may further exacerbate risks 
associated with cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, service outages, and other similar incidents as private work environments and electronic 
connections to our work environment may not have the same security measures deployed in our offices. We, like other financial technology 
organizations, have experienced from time to time, and may experience in the future, cybersecurity incidents, including, among other things, 
advanced and persisting cyberattacks, ransomware, cyber extortion, phishing, and social engineering schemes, the introduction of computer viruses 
or other malware, computer hacking, fraudulent use attempts, denial-of-service attacks, credential stuffing, and the physical destruction of all or 
portions of our IT infrastructure and those of third parties with whom we partner, due to, among other things, human error, fraud, malice, 
malfeasance, insider threats, system errors or vulnerabilities, accidental technological failure, or other irregularities on the part of employees, 
contractors, vendors, or other third parties. Because we rely on third parties in our business, we rely on the cybersecurity practices and policies 
adopted by such third parties, including our disbursement partners and downstream service providers. Our ability to monitor the cybersecurity 
practices of third parties with whom we partner is limited, and there can be no assurance that we can prevent, mitigate, or remediate the risk of any 
compromise or failure in the systems or networks owned or controlled by such third parties. Additionally, any contractual protections with such third 
parties, including our right to indemnification, if any at all, may be limited or insufficient to prevent a negative impact on our business from such 
compromise or failure. Any such compromises or failures with respect to our systems or networks, including the systems or networks owned or 
controlled by third parties with whom we partner, could, among other things: cause interruptions to our platform; compromise the privacy, 
confidentiality, availability, and integrity of the data, including personal information, in such systems and networks; degrade the user experience; 
cause users to lose confidence and trust in our platform, impair our internal systems and networks; and harm our reputation and our ability to retain 
existing customers and attract new customers.

A cyberattack, cybersecurity breach, service outage, or other similar incident could lead to, among other things, any of the following: 

• monetary and other losses for us or our customers; 
• identity theft for our customers; 
• the inability to expand our business; 
• additional oversight, assessments, audits, scrutiny, restrictions, fines, or penalties from regulatory or governmental authorities; 
• loss of customers and customer confidence in our services; 
• declines in user growth or engagement; 
• exposure to civil litigation (including civil claims, such as representative actions and other class action-type litigation); 
• orders to cease or change our processing of our data; 
• a breach of our contracts with lenders or other third parties; 
• termination of services provided to us; or
• liquidity risks or a negative impact on our relationships with our financial services providers, including payment processors or relevant 

network organizations, such as Visa or Mastercard, disbursement partners, and other third parties.

Further, we could be forced to expend significant financial and operational resources in response to such incidents, including repairing system 
damage, increasing security costs, investigating and remediating any cybersecurity vulnerabilities, complying with data breach notification 
obligations and applicable laws and regulations, and defending against and resolving legal and regulatory claims, all of which could divert resources 
and the attention of our management and key personnel away from our business operations. As a result, any cyberattack, cybersecurity breach, 
service outage, or other similar incident could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results. 

While we maintain insurance policies, our coverage may be insufficient to compensate us for all losses caused by cyberattacks, cybersecurity 
breaches, service outages, or other similar incidents, and any such incidents may result in increased costs for such insurance. We also cannot ensure 
that our existing cybersecurity insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover the successful assertion of one or more large claims against us, continue 
to be available on acceptable terms, or at all, or that the insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim.

For additional information, see “—Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fires, floods, public health crises (including epidemics or 
pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic), and other natural catastrophic events, and to interruption by man-made problems such as cyberattacks, 
cybersecurity breaches, service outages, or other similar incidents, internal or third-party system failures, political unrest, market or currency 
disruptions, and terrorism, which could result in system and process failures and interruptions which could harm our business.”
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We are subject to numerous privacy and cybersecurity laws, rules, regulations, industry standards, and other obligations across multiple 
jurisdictions which are highly complex, overlapping, frequently changing, and which create compliance challenges that may expose us to 
substantial costs, liabilities, or loss of customer trust. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with these obligations could harm our business. 

The various privacy and cybersecurity laws, rules, regulations, industry standards, and other obligations with which we must comply, including with 
respect to technologies, such as cloud computing, AI, machine learning, cryptocurrency, and blockchain technology, are complex and evolving. In 
addition, state, federal, and foreign lawmakers and regulatory authorities have increased their attention on the collection, use, storage, transmission, 
disclosure, deletion, security, and other processing of personal information, and increasing fraudulent activity and cyberattacks have encouraged 
further legislative and regulatory intervention in the financial technology industry. Moreover, many jurisdictions in which we operate have or are 
developing laws and regulations that protect the privacy and security of sensitive and personal information. Further, we have internal and publicly 
posted privacy policies regarding our collection, use, storage, transmission, disclosure, deletion, security, and other processing of personal 
information, and the publication of such privacy policies and other documentation that provide commitments about privacy and cybersecurity can 
subject us to potential enforcement actions and litigation if they are found to be deceptive, unfair, or otherwise misrepresentative of our actual 
practices. Our agreements with third parties, including significant agreements with payment processors, credit card and debit card issuers, and bank 
partners, contain contractual commitments with which we are required to adhere related to privacy and cybersecurity. 

Compliance with such laws, rules, regulations, industry standards, and other obligations requires that we expend significant resources, and we cannot 
guarantee that we will be able to successfully comply with all such privacy and cybersecurity obligations, especially where they do or may in the 
future conflict with one another, nor can we predict the extent to which such new and evolving regulatory and legal requirements will impact our 
business strategies and the cost or availability of previously useful personal information, increase our potential liability and compliance costs, require 
changes in business practices and policies, or otherwise adversely affect our business. Our failure to adequately address privacy and cybersecurity-
related concerns, even if unfounded, or to comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations, industry standards, and other obligations could result in 
regulatory or government investigations, monetary penalties, fines, sanctions, claims, litigation (including civil claims, such as representative actions 
and other class action-type litigation), orders to cease or change our processing of personal information, enforcement notices, assessment notices (for 
a compulsory audit), compensation or damages liabilities, increased cost of operations, changes to our business practices (including changes to the 
manner in which we transfer personal information between and among countries and regions in which we operate or the manner in which we provide 
our services and the geographical location or segregation of our relevant systems and operations), declines in user growth or engagement, or 
diversion of internal resources, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating 
results. 

For additional discussion about privacy and the regulatory environment that we operate in, please see the section titled “Business—Privacy and 
Cybersecurity.”

Any significant interruption or failure of our system availability, including failure to successfully implement upgrades or new technologies to our 
mobile app or website, could adversely affect our business, financial, and operating results. 

The efficient and uninterrupted operation of technologies that we use to deliver our services is essential for the customer experience. This includes 
maintaining ready customer access and acceptable load times for our services at all times. Our systems and operations and those of third-party 
partners have experienced and may experience in the future interruptions or degradation of service availability due to a variety of events including 
cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, service outages, and other similar incidents, insider threats, hardware and software defects or malfunctions, 
development delays, installation difficulties, human error, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, and other natural disasters, public health crises 
(including epidemics or pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic), power losses, disruptions in telecommunications services, fraud, military or 
political conflicts, terrorist attacks, or other events. In addition, our platform is currently vulnerable to downtime should a major physical disaster or 
other event affect the west coast of the United States, where our cloud services provider is based and our physical system architecture resides. While 
we have backups for these systems, our platform would be unavailable for some time were our normal systems to go down. Further, some of our 
systems are not fully redundant, and our disaster recovery program has not been fully tested and may not be sufficient for all eventualities. To the 
extent we cannot effectively address capacity constraints, upgrade our systems, or implement redundant systems as needed, and continually develop 
our technology platform to maintain sufficient system availability, new or existing customers may seek other services and may not return to our 
services as often in the future, or at all. If our service is unavailable when customers attempt to access it or it does not load as quickly as they expect, 
customers may lose trust in our service or determine that our services are unreliable or too slow to meet their needs. This would harm our ability to 
attract new customers and could decrease the frequency with which existing customers use our website and mobile solutions. As a result, our 
business, reputation, financial results, and operating results may be harmed. 

If we are unable to adequately obtain, maintain, protect, defend, or enforce our IP Rights, our business, prospects, financial condition, and 
operating results could be harmed. 

The Remitly brand and our proprietary technology, trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, domain names, trade dress, patents, trade 
secrets, and other IP Rights that support that brand are important to our business. We rely on, and expect to continue to rely on, a combination of 
intellectual property laws, technological restrictions, provisions in our terms of service, and contractual provisions including confidentiality, 
invention assignment, and license agreements with our employees, contractors, consultants, and other third parties with whom we partner, to establish 
and protect our brand, proprietary technology, and other IP Rights. Such contractual provisions may not be self-executing and may not otherwise 
adequately protect our IP Rights, particularly with respect to conflicts of ownership relating to work product generated by employees, contractors, 
consultants, or other third parties with whom we partner, and we cannot be certain that such contractual provisions will not be breached or that third 
parties will not gain access to our trade secrets or other confidential information.
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Effective protection of our IP Rights may not be available in every jurisdiction in which we offer our services and, where such laws are available, our 
efforts to protect such rights may not be sufficient or effective and such rights may be found invalid or unenforceable or narrowed in scope. In 
particular, the laws of some foreign countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of IP Rights to the same extent 
as U.S. laws. This could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of our IP Rights. Any failure to 
adequately obtain, maintain, protect, defend, or enforce our IP Rights, or significant costs incurred in doing so, could materially harm our business, 
prospects, financial condition, and operating results.

If we fail to comply with our obligations under license or technology agreements with third parties, or if we cannot license rights to use 
technologies on reasonable terms, we could be required to pay damages, lose license rights that are critical to our business, or be unable to 
commercialize new products and services in the future.

We license certain third-party IP Rights that are important to our business, including technologies, data, content, and software from third parties, and 
in the future, we may license additional valuable third-party IP Rights. If we fail to comply with any of the obligations under our license agreements, 
we may be required to pay damages and the licensor may have the right to terminate the license, which would cause us to lose valuable rights and 
could prevent us from selling our products and services or inhibit our ability to commercialize current or future products and services. Our business 
may suffer if any current or future licenses or other grants of rights to us terminate, if the licensors (or other applicable counterparties) fail to abide by 
the terms of the license or other applicable agreement, if the licensors fail to maintain, protect, defend, or enforce the licensed IP Rights against 
infringing third parties, or if the licensed IP Rights are found to be invalid or unenforceable. Third parties from whom we currently license IP Rights 
could refuse to renew our agreements upon their expiration or could impose additional terms and fees that we otherwise would not deem acceptable 
requiring us to obtain IP Rights from another third party, if any are available, or to pay increased licensing fees or be subject to additional restrictions 
on our use of such third-party IP Rights.

In the future, we may also identify additional third-party IP Rights that we may need to license or otherwise obtain rights to, in order to conduct our 
business, including to develop or commercialize new products and services. However, such licenses or other grants of rights may not be available on 
acceptable terms, or at all. The licensing or acquisition of third-party IP Rights is a competitive area, and several more established companies may 
pursue strategies to license or acquire third-party IP Rights that we may consider attractive or necessary. These established companies may have a 
competitive advantage over us due to their size, capital resources, and greater development or commercialization capabilities. In addition, companies 
that perceive us to be a competitor may be unwilling to assign, license, or otherwise grant rights to us. Even if such licenses or other grants of rights 
are available, we may be required to pay the licensor (or other applicable counterparty) substantial royalties, which may affect the margins on our 
products and services. In addition, such licenses or other grants of rights may be non-exclusive, which could give our competitors access to the same 
IP Rights licensed to us. Failure to obtain the necessary licenses or otherwise obtain adequate grants of rights on favorable terms, or at all, could 
prevent us from commercializing products and services or otherwise inhibit our ability to commercialize current or future products and services, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Assertions by third parties of infringement, misappropriation, or other violations by us of their IP Rights could result in significant costs and 
substantially harm our business and operating results. 

Intellectual property disputes are common in the payments and digital financial services industries. We may become involved in lawsuits to protect, 
defend, or enforce our IP Rights, and we may be subject to claims by third parties that we have infringed, misappropriated, or otherwise violated their 
IP Rights. Some companies in the digital financial services industry, including some of our competitors, own large numbers of patents, copyrights, 
trademarks, and trade secrets which they may use to assert claims against us. Third parties have asserted and may in the future assert claims of 
infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of IP Rights against us. As the number of services and competitors in our market increases and 
overlaps occur, claims of infringement, misappropriation, and other violations of IP Rights may increase. Any claim of infringement, 
misappropriation, or other violation of IP Rights by a third party, even those without merit, could cause us to incur substantial costs defending against 
the claim and could distract our management. In addition, an adverse outcome of a dispute may require us to: pay substantial damages; cease making, 
licensing, or using products or services that are alleged to infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate the IP Rights of others; expend additional 
development resources to attempt to redesign our products and services or otherwise develop non-infringing technology, which may not be 
successful; enter into potentially unfavorable royalty or license agreements to obtain the right to use necessary technologies or IP Rights; and 
indemnify our disbursement partners and other third parties with whom we partner. Royalty or license agreements, if required or desirable, may be 
unavailable on terms acceptable to us, or at all, and may require significant royalty payments and other expenditures. Any of these events could harm 
our business, financial condition, and operating results. 
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Our use of open source and third-party technology could impose limitations on our ability to offer our products and services to customers. 

We use open source software in connection with our products and services and expect to continue to use open source software in the future. Some 
open source software licenses require those who distribute open source software as part of their own software product to publicly disclose all or part 
of the source code to such software product or to make available any derivative works of the open source code on unfavorable terms or at no cost, 
and we may be subject to such terms. Although we monitor our use of open source software to avoid subjecting our products and services to 
conditions we do not intend to accept, such use could inadvertently occur, or could be claimed to have occurred, in part because open source license 
terms are often ambiguous. Additionally, we could face claims from third parties seeking to enforce the terms of the applicable open source license. 
In such an event, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties to continue offering our products and services, to make our proprietary code 
generally available in source code form, to re-engineer our products and services, or to discontinue our products and services if re-engineering could 
not be accomplished on a timely basis, any of which could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results. The terms of many open 
source licenses to which we are subject have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed 
in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to provide our products and services. In addition to risks related to 
license requirements, use of certain open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source 
licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of software. There is little legal precedent in this area and any actual or claimed 
requirement to disclose our proprietary source code or pay damages for breach of contract could harm our business and could help third parties, 
including our competitors, develop products and services that are similar to or better than ours. Any of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or 
manage, and, if not addressed, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

If we do not or cannot maintain the compatibility of our platform with the most popular mobile, desktop, and tablet device and browser platforms, 
our revenue and growth prospects may decline. 

Our customers access our product offerings increasingly through mobile phones and also through the use of various hardware devices, browser, and 
software platforms. If any of the device, browser, or software platforms that our product offerings depend upon change features of their application 
programming interfaces (“APIs”), discontinue their support of such APIs, restrict our access to their APIs, or alter the terms governing their use in a 
manner that is adverse to our business, we will not be able to provide compatible product offerings, which could significantly diminish the value of 
our product offerings and harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

The functionality and popularity of our product offerings depends, in part, on our ability to integrate our systems with the systems of our strategic 
partners. These strategic partners periodically update and change their systems, and although we have been able to adapt our systems to their 
evolving needs in the past, there can be no guarantee that we will be able to do so in the future. While we have multiple API integrations and partner 
redundancies built into our systems, if we are unable to adapt to the needs of our strategic partners’ systems, our remittance transaction process may 
be interrupted or delayed, and our strategic partners may terminate their agreements with us, leading to a loss of access to large numbers of customers 
at the same time and consequent negative impact on our growth and customer retention.

Legal and Compliance Risks

Any failure to obtain or maintain necessary licenses, permissions, approvals, or registrations (“Licenses”) across our global footprint could 
adversely affect our operations. 

The provision of money transfer services is highly regulated, and the requirements vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. As an entity Licensed by 
various governmental authorities to provide money transmission services, we are subject to extensive financial, operational, and other regulatory 
requirements to maintain our Licenses and conduct business. These may include: net worth requirements; restrictions or obligations with respect to 
customer funds, including requirements to maintain insurance or reserves in an amount equivalent to outstanding payment obligations and restrictions 
on our investment of customer funds; bonding requirements; liquidity requirements; limitations on the amount and type of receivables we may be 
owed by our affiliates or third parties; requirements for regulatory approval of controlling stockholders; reporting requirements; anti-money 
laundering and countering the finance of terrorism compliance requirements; cybersecurity requirements; and monitoring, examination, and oversight 
by local, state, federal, and international regulatory agencies. Failure by Remitly or our service providers to comply with any of these requirements or 
interpretation of them by governmental authorities could result in the suspension or revocation of a License required to provide money transfer, 
payment, or foreign exchange services; the limitation, suspension, or termination of services; changes to our business model; loss of consumer 
confidence; the seizure of our assets; and/or the imposition of civil and criminal penalties, including fines and restrictions on our ability to offer 
services. If our Licenses are not renewed or we are denied Licenses in additional jurisdictions where we choose to apply for a License, we could be 
forced to change our business practices or be required to bear substantial cost to comply with the requirements of the additional jurisdictions. Further, 
if we were found by these governmental authorities to be in violation of any applicable laws or regulations required to provide money transfer, 
payment, or foreign exchange services, we could be subject to: fines, penalties, lawsuits, and enforcement actions; additional compliance 
requirements; increased regulatory scrutiny of our business; restriction of our operations; or damage to our reputation or brand. In addition, our 
regulators could further restrict the type of instruments that qualify as permissible investments or require our regulated subsidiaries to maintain higher 
levels of eligible assets, which could have a financial and operational impact on our business. Regulatory requirements are constantly evolving, and 
we cannot predict whether we will be able to meet changes to existing regulations or the introduction of new regulations without harming our 
business, financial condition, and operating results.
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Certain jurisdictions have enacted rules that require entities Licensed to provide money transfer services to establish and maintain transaction 
monitoring and filtering programs and cybersecurity programs. Wherever we are subject to these rules, we are required to adopt additional business 
practices that could also require additional capital expenditures or impact our operating results. If any governmental authority were to take actions 
that interfered with our ability to transfer money reliably—including if they attempted to seize transaction funds or to limit or prohibit us, our 
payment processors, or our disbursement partners from transferring money in certain countries, whether by imposing sanctions or otherwise—such 
actions could harm our business. Governmental authorities could also impose other orders, monetary penalties, or other sanctions on us. Any change 
to our business practices that makes our service less attractive to customers or prohibits use of our services by residents of a particular jurisdiction 
could decrease our transaction volume and harm our business.

Our fees, profit margins, and/or our ability to offer foreign exchange spreads may be reduced or limited because of regulatory initiatives and 
changes in laws and regulations or their interpretation and industry practices and standards that are either industry wide or specifically targeted 
at our Company.

The evolving policy and regulatory environment—including increased fees or taxes, regulatory initiatives, and changes in laws and regulations or 
their interpretation, industry practices and standards imposed by state, federal, or foreign governments, and expectations regarding our compliance 
efforts—impacts the manner in which we operate our business, may change the competitive landscape, and may adversely affect our financial results. 
Existing, new, and proposed legislation relating to financial services providers and consumer protection in various jurisdictions around the world has 
affected and may continue to affect the manner in which we provide our services. Recently proposed and enacted legislation related to financial 
services providers and consumer protection in various jurisdictions around the world and at the federal and state level in the United States has 
subjected and may continue to subject us to additional regulatory oversight, mandate additional consumer disclosures and remedies, including 
refunds to consumers, or otherwise impact the manner in which we provide our services. 

In particular, the U.S. Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) has authority over Regulation E, which implements the Electronic Fund 
Transfer Act (“EFTA”) and among other things, consumer protection requirements under the Remittance Transfer Rule. The CFPB could modify the 
Remittance Transfer Rule or issue administrative guidance that may impose limitations on remittance providers, such as the type of fees charged by 
remittance companies, how remittances are advertised to consumers, how the exchange rate is applied to transactions by these companies, as well as 
the level of transparency surrounding such fees and exchange rates. Such changes may require us to assume fees and charges by third-party providers 
that are outside of our control.

In addition, the CFPB administers other regulations and may adopt new regulations governing consumer financial services, including regulations 
defining unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices, and new model disclosures. The CFPB’s authority to change regulations adopted in the past 
by other regulators, or to rescind or alter past regulatory guidance, could increase our compliance costs and litigation exposure. These regulations, 
changes to these regulations, and other potential changes under CFPB regulations could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results 
and force us to change the way we operate our business. 

There has also been an increase in the level and regulatory scrutiny of consumer protection laws, regulation, and supervisory guidance relating to 
‘treating customers fairly’. These laws apply to our international business (including in the United Kingdom and the EEA). In the United Kingdom, 
the Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”) has issued, supervises, and enforces the Consumer Duty that places an obligation on firms to act to 
deliver good outcomes for retail customers. To achieve better customer outcomes, the FCA has issued a set of rules and guidance, among others, 
providing more detailed expectations for firms’ conduct that form part of an optimal firm-customer relationship that includes the price and value 
offered. The FCA’s and other regulator’s authority to change such laws, regulations, and supervisory guidance could have an adverse impact on our 
business, financial condition, operating results, and/or change our business operations.

Governmental authorities could also regulate foreign exchange rates or tax foreign exchange purchases in countries in which we do business, and this 
could harm our business. Similarly, if governments implement new laws or regulations that limit our right to set fees and/or foreign exchange 
spreads, then our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could be adversely affected.

Furthermore, governmental agencies both in the United States and worldwide may impose new or additional rules on money transfers affecting us; 
our third-party providers, including our payment processors and disbursement partners; partner banks; or commercial counterparties, including 
regulations that:

• prohibit, restrict, and/or impose taxes or fees on remittance transactions in, to, or from certain countries or with certain governments, 
individuals, and entities;

• impose new requirements, change requirements, or re-interpret existing requirements regarding the acquisition of local currency for 
disbursement to recipients;

• impose additional customer identification and customer or third-party provider due diligence, and vendor management requirements;
• impose additional reporting or recordkeeping requirements, or require enhanced transaction monitoring;
• limit the types of entities capable of providing remittance services, impose additional licensing or registration requirements on us, our a 

third-party providers, or impose additional requirements on us with regard to selection or oversight of our third-party providers;
• impose minimum capital or other financial requirements on us or our third-party providers;
• limit or restrict the revenue which may be generated from money transfers, including transaction fees and revenue derived from foreign 

exchange;

Table of Contents

21



• require additional consumer protection rights to our customers (including enhanced disclosures and ‘treating customers fairly’ rules and 
consumer duties);

• require the principal amount of money originated in a country to be invested in that country or held in a trust until they are paid;
• limit the number or principal amount of remittances, which may be sent to or from a jurisdiction, whether by an individual, through one 

third-party provider, or in aggregate;
• impose more stringent information technology, cybersecurity, privacy, and operational security requirements on us or our third-party 

providers and their service providers, including relating to data transfers and the use of cloud infrastructure;
• impose additional risk management and related governance and oversight requirements, including relating to the outsources of services to 

other group companies or to third parties; and
• prohibit or limit exclusive arrangements with our third-party providers.

In addition, changes in regulatory expectations, interpretations, or practices could increase the risk of regulatory enforcement actions, fines, and 
penalties. If the CFPB or other similar regulatory bodies adopt, or customer advocacy groups are able to generate widespread support for, positions 
that are detrimental to our business, then our business, financial condition, and operating results could be harmed.

The enhanced supervisory and compliance environment in the financial sector increases the risk of regulatory action against us, whether formal 
or informal.

Our service is subject to a variety of laws and regulations worldwide, and a large number of regulatory and enforcement authorities in each of the 
jurisdictions in which we operate. Regulators across the globe subject financial sector institutions, including us, to intense review, supervision, and 
scrutiny. This heightened level of review and scrutiny or any changes in the existing regulatory supervision framework increases the possibility that 
we will face adverse legal or regulatory actions. Regulators regularly review our operations, and there can be no guarantee that all regulators will 
agree with our internal assessments of compliance with applicable laws, regulations, or regulatory policies.

We have been and continue to be subject to examination by the CFPB, which defines “larger participants of a market for other consumer financial 
products or services” as including companies, such as Remitly, that make at least one million aggregate annual international money transfers. The 
CFPB has the authority to examine and supervise us and our larger competitors, which will involve providing reports to the CFPB. The CFPB has 
used information gained in these examinations as the basis for enforcement actions resulting in settlements involving monetary penalties and other 
remedies. 

Regulators, including the CFPB, may take formal or informal actions against us. Such formal or informal actions might force us to adopt new 
compliance programs or policies, remove personnel including senior executives, provide remediation or refunds to customers, or undertake other 
changes to our business operations. Any weaknesses in our compliance management system or Remittance Transfer Rule program may also subject 
us to penalties or enforcement action by the CFPB.

If we fail to manage our legal and regulatory risk in the many jurisdictions in which we operate, our business could suffer, our reputation could be 
harmed, and we would be subject to additional legal and regulatory risks. This could, in turn, increase the size and number of claims and damages 
asserted against us and/or subject us to regulatory investigations, enforcement actions, or other proceedings, or lead to increased regulatory concerns. 
We may also be required to spend additional time and resources on remedial measures and conducting inquiries, beyond those already initiated and 
ongoing, which could have an adverse effect on our business. Similarly, a failure to comply with the applicable regulations in various jurisdictions by 
our employees, representatives, and third-party service providers either in or outside the course of their services, or suspected or perceived failures by 
them, may result in further inquiries or investigations by regulatory and enforcement authorities and in additional regulatory or enforcement action 
against either us, or such employees, representatives, and third-party service providers.

While we have implemented policies and procedures designed to help ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, there are a number of 
risks that cannot be completely controlled. Our international presence, especially in high-risk jurisdictions such as Nigeria and India, has led to 
increased legal and regulatory risks. Regulators in every jurisdiction in which we operate have the power to restrict our operations or bring 
administrative or judicial proceedings against us (or our employees, representatives, and third-party service providers), which could result, among 
other things, in suspension or revocation of one or more of our Licenses, cease and desist orders, fines, civil penalties, criminal penalties, or other 
disciplinary action which could materially harm our reputation, results of operations, and financial condition. Expansion into additional jurisdictions 
also increases the complexity of our risks in a number of areas including currency risks, interest rate risks, compliance risk, regulatory risk, 
reputational risk, and operational risk. We, or our employees, may from time to time, and as is common in the financial services industry, be the 
subject of inquiries, examinations, or investigations that could lead to proceedings against us or our employees.
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Use of our platform for illegal or fraudulent activities could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results. 

Our platform is susceptible to illegal, improper, or fraudulent uses, including money laundering, terrorist financing, sanctions evasion, bank fraud, 
payments involving child pornography or human trafficking, and the facilitation of other illegal, improper, or fraudulent activity. The digital financial 
services industry is under increasing scrutiny from federal, state, and international regulators in connection with the potential for such illegal, 
improper, or fraudulent activities. We offer our customers the ability to fund transactions utilizing their credit card or debit card. We also offer bank 
funding and alternative payment methods. Because these are card-not-present/online/non face-to-face transactions, they involve a greater risk of 
fraud. We also release some funded transactions for disbursement prior to our receiving funds from our customers, which exposes us to repayment 
risk in the event that these customers have insufficient funds in their bank account or their transactions are otherwise invalidated. Additionally, we 
carry chargeback liability for a large portion of disputed card payment transactions. In addition, our remittance service facilitates payments to 
jurisdictions which may in some cases have higher levels of illegal, improper payments. For example, the United States to Colombia and United 
States to Nigeria payment corridors have historically been characterized by a high volume of fraudulent payments and are thus particularly high-risk. 

Our payment system has been utilized for illegal, improper, and fraudulent uses in the past, and we cannot guarantee that our policies, procedures, 
and internal controls, or insurance, would adequately protect our business, maintain our continued ability to operate in the jurisdictions that we serve, 
or protect our reputation, especially if such illegal, improper, or fraudulent activities were discovered to have taken place on our platform in the 
future. 

Our fraud loss expenses may increase if our fraud systems lose effectiveness or if new methods or schemes are developed to defraud us. Since the 
methods and schemes utilized by perpetrators of fraud are constantly evolving or, in some cases, not immediately detectable, we cannot assure you 
that our policies, procedures, and controls for managing fraud will be effective over time or of our ability to update these measures to address 
emerging fraud risks. In addition, if illicit or fraudulent activity levels involving our services were to rise, it could lead to regulatory intervention and 
reputational and financial damage to us. This, in turn, could lead to government enforcement actions and investigations, a suspension or termination 
of our operating Licenses, a reduction in the use and acceptance of our services, or an increase in our compliance costs, any of which may harm our 
business, financial condition, and operating results.

On the other hand, if the measures we have taken to detect illegal, improper, or fraudulent activities are too restrictive and/or inadvertently prevent or 
delay proper transactions, this could result in suspension of legitimate customer activity on our payment system, deter new and existing customers, or 
otherwise diminish our customer experience, any of which could harm our business.

Governments may decide to impose restrictions or levy new taxes on money transfers or other digital financial services provided by us, which 
would harm our financial results and our business.

Our business could be harmed if a local, state, federal, or international government were to levy taxes on money transfers, as has been proposed 
periodically at the federal and state level in the United States. Budget shortfalls and anti-immigrant sentiment in the United States and many 
jurisdictions could lead other states and jurisdictions to impose similar fees and taxes, as well as increase unclaimed property obligations. Such fees 
or taxes, and any related regulatory initiatives, may be implemented in a manner that conflicts with other laws to which we are bound or in a manner 
with which we are unable to comply, and noncompliance could harm our business. It is possible that governments of one or more countries may seek 
to censor content available on our website and mobile solutions or may even attempt to completely block access to our website or mobile solutions. 
Adverse legal or regulatory developments could harm our business. In particular, in the event that we are restricted, in whole or in part, from 
operating in one or more countries, our ability to retain or increase our customer base may be harmed and we may not be able to maintain or grow our 
revenue as anticipated. 

For example, the Central Bank of Nigeria previously imposed currency controls that limit repatriation of funds with immediate effect, which required 
money transmission businesses, including us, to make substantial adjustments to payments processes that serve Nigerian consumers. While we 
believe that we are compliant with our regulatory responsibilities, the legal, political, and business environments in these areas are routinely 
changing, and subsequent legislation, regulation, litigation, court rulings, or other events could expose us to increased liability, increased operating 
and compliance costs to implement new measures to reduce our exposure to this liability, and reputational damage. The risk of non-compliance is 
exacerbated when we introduce new products or services that subject us to new laws and regulations. In addition, as we expand and localize our 
international activities, we may become increasingly obligated to comply with the laws of the countries or markets in which we operate. In addition, 
because our services are accessible worldwide and we facilitate remittances to a growing number of countries, one or more jurisdictions may claim 
that we are required to comply with their laws. Local regulators may use their power to slow or halt payments to our customers in those jurisdictions. 
Such regulatory actions or the need to obtain Licenses could impose substantial costs and involve considerable delay in the provision or development 
of our services in a given jurisdiction, or could require significant and costly operational changes or prevent us from providing any services in a given 
jurisdiction. Additionally, external factors such as economic or political instability, or natural disasters may make money transfers to, from, within, or 
between particular countries difficult or impossible. These risks could negatively impact our ability to offer our services, to make payments to or 
receive payments from disbursement partners, or to recoup funds that have been advanced to disbursement partners, and as a result could adversely 
affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. In addition, the general state of telecommunications and infrastructure 
in some developing countries, including countries where we have a large number of transactions, creates operational risks for us and our 
disbursement partners.
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Policy makers have also discussed potential legislation to add taxes to remittances from the United States to Mexico and/or other countries. Further, 
one state has passed a law imposing a fee on certain money transfer transactions, and certain other states have proposed similar legislation. Several 
foreign countries have enacted or proposed rules imposing taxes or fees on certain money transfer transactions, as well. The approach of policy 
makers and the ongoing budget shortfalls in many jurisdictions, combined with future federal action or inaction on immigration reform, may lead 
other states or localities to impose similar taxes or fees or other requirements or restrictions. Foreign countries in similar circumstances have invoked 
and could continue to invoke the imposition of sales, service, or similar taxes, or other requirements or restrictions, on money transfer services. A tax, 
fee, or other requirement or restriction exclusively on money transfer services by Remitly could put us at a competitive disadvantage to other means 
of remittance which are not subject to the same taxes, fees, requirements, or restrictions. Other examples of changes to our financial environment 
include the possibility of regulatory initiatives that focus on lowering international remittance costs. Such initiatives may have a material adverse 
impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

In addition, tax authorities at the international, federal, state, and local levels are currently reviewing the appropriate treatment of companies engaged 
in internet commerce in general and remittances in particular. New or revised international, federal, state, or local tax regulations may subject us or 
our customers to additional sales, income, and other taxes and would likely increase the cost of doing business online and decrease the attractiveness 
of using our mobile services. New taxes could also create significant increases in internal costs necessary to capture data and collect and remit taxes. 
Any of these events could harm our business and operating results.

Failure to comply with sanctions laws, anti-terrorist financing laws, anti-money laundering laws, and similar laws associated with our activities 
outside of the United States, and anti-corruption laws could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences. 

We have implemented policies and procedures designed to allow us to comply with anti-money laundering laws and economic sanctions laws and 
prevent our platform from being used to facilitate business in countries or with persons or entities designated on lists promulgated by OFAC and 
equivalent international authorities or that are otherwise the target of sanctions. We may utilize the services of vendors, such as screening tools, in 
implementing such policies and procedures. In the event that we or any of our users engage in any conduct, intentionally or not, that facilitates money 
laundering, terrorist financing, or other illicit activity, or that violates anti-money laundering or sanctions laws, or otherwise constitutes activity that 
is prohibited by such laws, including through the fault of any vendor, we may be subject to: fines, penalties, lawsuits, and enforcement actions; 
additional compliance requirements; increased regulatory scrutiny of our business; restriction of our operations; or damage to our reputation or brand.

Law enforcement and regulators continue to scrutinize compliance with these obligations, which may require us to further revise or expand our 
compliance program, including the procedures that we use to verify the identity of our customers or monitor our platform for potential illegal activity. 
In addition, any policies and procedures that we implement to comply with sanctions laws may not be effective, including in preventing customers 
from using our services for transactions with sanctioned persons or jurisdictions subject to comprehensive sanctions, including Cuba, North Korea, 
Syria, Iran, and the Crimea, Donetsk People’s Republic, and Luhansk People’s Republic regions of Ukraine. Given the technical limitations in 
developing controls to prevent, among other things, the ability of customers to publish on our platform false or deliberately misleading information or 
to develop sanctions-evasion methods, it is possible that we may inadvertently and without our knowledge provide services to individuals or entities 
that have been designated by OFAC or other relevant sanctions authorities or are located in a jurisdiction subject to comprehensive sanctions or an 
embargo by the United States or another country in which we operate or are licensed to do business, and such services may not be in compliance with 
applicable economic sanctions regulations.

Sanctions are imposed to address acute foreign policy and national security threats and may change rapidly and unpredictably in response to world 
events or domestic or international political developments. Additionally, as we expand our services into additional jurisdictions, we may become 
subject to additional sanctions requirements imposed by those jurisdictions or face increased risk of processing transactions in violation of sanctions 
requirements to which we are currently subject. We may be unable to update policies, procedures, or controls to timely and effectively address 
changes in applicable legal requirements or in our sanctions risk environment.

In addition, U.S. policy makers have sought and may continue to seek heightened customer due diligence requirements on, or restrict, remittances 
from the United States to certain jurisdictions. For example, government sanctions imposed in February 2022 with respect to Russia and Ukraine are 
impacting our ability to offer services in the region, and additional sanctions could be imposed in the future. In addition, existing laws and regulatory 
requirements may change and become more stringent, such as requiring us to maintain records on a larger number of transactions or verify the 
identity of our customers in a prescriptive way, which could result in greater costs for compliance.

Our operating companies in a number of jurisdictions, including Canada, the United Kingdom, and the EEA, are increasingly becoming or will 
become directly subject to reporting, recordkeeping, and anti-money laundering regulations, partner oversight and monitoring requirements, as well 
as broader supervision by a variety of governmental authorities. Additionally, the financial penalties associated with the failure to comply with anti-
money laundering laws have increased recently in a number of jurisdictions. Legislation that has been enacted or proposed in other jurisdictions 
could have similar effects.

We also face significant risks if we cannot comply with the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws that prohibit companies and their third-party 
providers and third-party intermediaries from authorizing, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or benefits to foreign 
government officials, political parties, or private-sector recipients for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, directing business to any person, 
or securing any advantage. We have implemented an anti-corruption compliance policy, but we cannot ensure that all of our employees, customers, 
and third-party providers, as well as those contractors to which we outsource certain of our business operations, will not take actions in violation of 
our policies or agreements and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible.
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Consequences for failing to comply with applicable rules and regulations could include fines, criminal and civil lawsuits, forfeiture of significant 
assets, or other enforcement actions. We could also be required to make changes to our business practices or compliance programs as a result of 
regulatory scrutiny. In addition, any perceived or actual breach of compliance by us, our customers, vendors, or third-party providers (including our 
payment or disbursement partners) with respect to applicable laws, rules, and regulations could have a significant impact on our reputation and could 
cause us to lose existing customers, prevent us from obtaining new customers, cause other third-party providers (including payment or disbursement 
partners) to terminate or not renew their agreements with us, require us to expend significant funds to remedy problems caused by violations and to 
avert further violations, adversely affect our relationship with our partner banks and other commercial counterparties, and expose us to legal risk and 
potential liability, all of which may adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition and may cause the price of our common 
stock to decline.

If our disbursement partners fail to comply with applicable laws, it could harm our business.

We work with disbursement partners in various receive jurisdictions whom we believe are complying with local laws and regulations. We rely on 
such disbursement partners to conduct our business and such disbursement partners could fail or be unable to satisfy their obligations to us. This 
could lead to our inability to access funds and/or credit losses for us and could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business.

Our services are regulated by state, federal, and international governments, regulators, and agencies. Many of our disbursement partners are banks 
and are heavily regulated by their home jurisdictions. Our non-bank disbursement partners are also subject to various regulations, including money 
transfer regulations. We require regulatory compliance as a condition to our continued relationship with our partners, perform due diligence on them, 
and monitor them periodically with the goal of meeting regulatory expectations. However, there are limits to the extent to which we can monitor their 
regulatory compliance. Any determination that our disbursement partners or the sub-disbursement partners of our aggregator disbursement partners 
have violated laws and regulations could damage our reputation and customer trust in our brand and services, and may ultimately lead to regulatory 
action against us by our regulators. It is possible that in some cases we could be liable for the failure of our disbursement partners to comply with 
laws or regulations or to operate with sufficient oversight over their disbursement networks, which also could harm our business, financial condition, 
and operating results.

Failure to comply with global and evolving marketing laws could subject us to claims or otherwise harm our business.

Our marketing practices rely upon a wide range of referral programs, exchange rate and fee-based promotions, e-mail, and social media marketing 
and direct marketing practices, among other tactics. These marketing practices are subject to a variety of advertising and consumer protection laws 
and regulatory oversight in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and the EEA, and the other jurisdictions in which we do business. In the 
United States, some examples of applicable legislation include, among others, the CAN-SPAM Act of 2003; the U.S. Federal Trade Commission 
guidelines with respect to misleading or deceptive advertising or marketing practices; the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, state banking 
laws that prohibit non-banks, including licensed money transmitters, from holding themselves out as banks or providing banking services; and the 
CCPA and other comprehensive state privacy and cybersecurity laws.

These laws are continuously evolving and developing in light of technological change and regulatory objectives. These laws are overseen by 
regulators at the national, provincial, and state level and, in some cases, carry private rights of action that may expose us to class-action and private 
litigation risk. We are, and, from time to time, we may become subject to, various legal proceedings and regulatory investigation matters and 
enforcement activities in connection with these laws and regulations. We intend to cooperate fully with such investigations. We are not presently a 
party to any legal or regulatory proceedings that in the opinion of our management, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken 
together have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition, or cash flows. We believe that our policies and 
practices comply with applicable marketing and consumer protection laws and regulations. However, if our belief proves incorrect, if there are 
changes to the guidelines, laws, regulations, or their interpretation, or if new regulations are enacted that are inconsistent with our current marketing 
practices or customer experience, our business could be harmed or our relationship with our partner banks and other commercial counterparties, 
could be adversely affected.

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings, disciplinary actions, regulatory disputes, and governmental investigations that could 
cause us to incur significant expenses, divert our management’s attention, and materially harm our business, financial condition, and operating 
results.

We may be involved in various legal proceedings, claims, investigations, or similar matters from time to time. Such matters can be time-consuming, 
divert management’s attention and resources, and cause us to incur significant expenses. Our insurance or indemnities may not cover all claims that 
may be asserted against us, and any claims asserted against us, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, may harm our reputation. If we are 
unsuccessful in our defense in these litigation matters, or any other legal proceeding, we may be forced to pay damages or fines, enter into consent 
decrees, or change our business practices, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
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Operational Risks

We are exposed to the risk of loss or insolvency if our disbursement partners fail to disburse funds according to our instructions or were to 
become insolvent unexpectedly, or funds are disbursed before customer funds are guaranteed to be sufficient. 

We are exposed to the risk of loss in the event our disbursement partners fail to disburse funds to recipients according to our instructions. Such 
reasons could include mistakes by our disbursement partners in processing payment instructions or failing to correctly classify and process error 
categories, or negligence, insolvency, or fraud by our disbursement partners. One or more of our disbursement partners could elect to temporarily 
withhold money from customers, which would cause delays in any transfers reaching their ultimate destination. Were such delays to occur, this 
would cause a loss of trust in the ability of our service to meet the timeline that we set for ourselves and provide our customers. Were customers to 
lose trust in our ability to deliver our services in a timely and professional manner, our business and financial results could be harmed. We are also 
subject to risk of loss if funds are disbursed before customer funds are guaranteed to be sufficient, which could also harm our business and financial 
results. 

If there is any material change of service terms or loss of coverage in our payment processors and disbursement network, our business could be 
harmed. 

Our third-party payment processors and disbursement partners are critical components of our business. We partner with payment processors in our 
send jurisdictions to provide clearing, processing, and settlement functions for the funding of all of our transactions. We also partner with 
disbursement partners in our receiving jurisdictions to disburse funds to recipients via cash pick-up or delivery, bank deposit, or mobile wallet. For 
payments processing, the terms of service are governed under applicable payment network rules that are determined by the processor and generally 
are not subject to negotiation. We may be forced to cease doing business with a payment processor if its rules and certification requirements 
governing electronic funds transfers change or are reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to comply. If we fail to comply with these 
rules or requirements, we may be subject to fines and higher transaction fees and lose our ability to accept credit card and debit card payments from 
customers or facilitate other types of online payments, and our business and operating results would be harmed.

In addition, if we are unable to renew existing agreements or sign new payment processing and disbursement partners under terms consistent with, or 
better than, those currently in place, our growth, revenue, and overall business may be harmed. Our payment processors and disbursement partners 
could choose to terminate or not renew their agreements with us. Payment processors and disbursement partners could reduce the services provided, 
cease to do business with us, or cease doing business altogether. If these events occur and we are unable to secure alternative providers willing to 
provide services on more preferable terms, this could lead to our inability to clear our payment instruments or move funds on a global and timely 
basis as required to settle our obligations. This would negatively impact our revenue as well as our reputation and brand.

If our disbursement partners do not provide a positive recipient experience, our business would be harmed.

We partner with our disbursement partners to disburse funds to our customers’ recipients. If the experience delivered by our disbursement partners to 
a recipient is deemed unsatisfactory for any reason, including because our disbursement partners are not properly trained to disburse money or deliver 
poor customer service, our disbursement partners’ compliance processes and approvals take longer than expected, the wait times at our disbursement 
partners’ pick-up locations are too long, or cash pick-up locations are not located in convenient and safe locations and open for business at 
convenient times, customers may choose to not use our services in the future and our business would be harmed.

Increases in various types of fees, such as interchange fees, payment scheme fees, and disbursement fees, could increase our costs, affect our 
profitability, cause us to lose customers, or otherwise limit our operations. 

Our payment processors and disbursement partners charge us fees, which may increase from time to time. Payment processors may pass through 
payment scheme mandated costs, such as interchange fees, and changes to these payment scheme fees, or decreases in negotiated rebates could 
increase our costs. Banks currently determine the fees charged for bank-originated transactions and may increase the fees with little prior notice. Our 
card processors have in the past and may in the future increase the fees charged for each transaction using credit cards and debit cards, which may be 
passed on to us. Our disbursement partners charge us disbursement fees, which they have in the past and may in the future increase. U.S. federal, 
state, or international governments could also mandate a payment processing or remittance tax, require additional taxes or fees to be imposed upon 
our customers, or otherwise impact the manner in which we provide our services. If our transaction processing fees increase, it may require us to 
change our disbursement options, modify payment methods, or take other measures that would impact our costs and profitability or cause us to lose 
customers or otherwise limit our operations.
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The loss of one or more key members of our management team, or our failure to attract, integrate, and retain other highly qualified personnel in 
the future, could harm our business. 

We believe our success has depended, and continues to depend, on the efforts and talents of our employees and senior management team, including 
our CEO and co-founder Matthew Oppenheimer. Our future success depends on our continuing ability to attract, develop, motivate, and retain highly 
qualified and skilled employees. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may be unable to find the number of technically talented 
employees we need to continue our growth, or we may incur significant costs—costs which we expect to increase generally, to attract and keep such 
employees. In addition, any future loss of any of our senior management, key employees, or key technical personnel could harm our ability to execute 
our business plan, and we may not be able to find adequate replacements. All of our officers and other U.S. employees are at-will employees, which 
means they may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, and their knowledge of our business and industry would be extremely 
difficult to replace. We cannot ensure that we will be able to retain the services of any of our senior management or other senior employees. If we do 
not succeed in attracting well-qualified employees or retaining and motivating existing employees, our business could be harmed. 

If we cannot maintain our company culture as we grow, our success and our business may be harmed.

We believe our culture has been a key contributor to our success to date and that the critical nature of the platform that we provide promotes a sense 
of greater purpose and fulfillment in our employees. Inorganic growth through mergers and acquisitions may pose significant challenges to 
assimilating the company cultures of acquired companies. Any failure to preserve our culture could negatively affect our ability to retain and recruit 
personnel, which is critical to our growth, and to effectively focus on and pursue our corporate objectives. As we grow and develop the infrastructure 
of a public company, we may find it difficult to maintain these important aspects of our culture. If we fail to maintain our company culture, our 
business and competitive position may be adversely affected.

Interruptions or delays in the services provided by critical data centers or internet service providers could impair the delivery of our platform and 
our business could suffer.

We host our platform using third-party cloud infrastructure services that we do not control. We depend on their ability to protect their data centers 
against damage or interruption from natural disasters, power or telecommunications failures, cyberattacks or other criminal acts, and similar events. 
We also depend on their ability to meet our capacity requirements as increasing numbers of customers access our platform. In addition, our 
operations depend on protecting the cloud infrastructure hosted by such providers by maintaining their respective configuration, architecture, and 
interconnection specifications, as well as the information stored in these data centers and which third-party internet service providers transmit. In the 
event that any third-party provider’s systems or service abilities are hindered by any of the events discussed above, our ability to operate our platform 
may be impaired and data may be compromised. All of the aforementioned risks may be augmented if our or our partners’ business continuity and 
disaster recovery plans prove to be inadequate. Any prolonged service disruption affecting our platform for any of the foregoing reasons could 
damage our reputation with current and potential customers, expose us to liability, cause us to lose customers, or otherwise harm our business. Also, 
in the event of damage or interruption, our insurance policies may not adequately compensate us for any losses that we may incur. We have from 
time to time in the past experienced service disruptions due to such issues, and we cannot assure you that we will not experience interruptions or 
delays in our service in the future.

Moreover, we are heavily reliant on the cloud services provided by Amazon Web Services (“AWS”). We may not be able to easily switch our AWS 
operations to another cloud or other data center provider if there are disruptions or interference with our use of or relationship with AWS, and, even if 
we do switch our operations, other cloud and data center providers are subject to the same risks. If AWS unexpectedly terminates our cloud services 
agreement, we would be forced to incur additional expenses to locate an alternative provider and may experience outages or disruptions to our 
service. Any service disruption affecting our platform during such migration or while operating on the AWS cloud infrastructure could damage our 
reputation with current and potential customers, expose us to liability, cause us to lose customers, or otherwise harm our business.

Sustained financial market illiquidity, or illiquidity at our partner financial institutions, could harm our business, financial condition, and 
operating results. 

We face risks in the event of a sustained deterioration of financial market liquidity, as well as in the event of sustained deterioration in the liquidity or 
failure of financial institutions where we deposit money, including financial institutions that hold prefunding accounts for our disbursement partners. 
In particular: 

• We may be unable to access funds in our investment portfolio, deposit accounts, and clearing accounts on a timely basis to pay transactions 
and receive settlement funds. Any resulting need to access other sources of liquidity or short-term borrowing would increase our costs. Any 
delay or inability to pay transactions could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results;

• Our funds are held by us and our disbursement partners, which includes banks, non-bank financial institutions, and aggregators, both in the 
United States and abroad. For instance, a substantial portion of our send volume is derived from remittances being sent to India, Mexico, 
and the Philippines. During high volume sending periods, a significant portion of our available cash may be held in an account or accounts 
outside of the United States. Our payment processors, the commercial banks that hold our funds, our disbursement partners, and the 
financial institutions that hold prefunding accounts for our disbursement partners or our disbursement collateral could fail or experience 
sustained deterioration in liquidity. This could lead to our inability to move funds on a global and timely basis as required to pay 
transactions and receive settlement funds; loss of prefunded balances; or a breach in our capital or other regulatory requirements if we are 
unable to recover our funds; and

Table of Contents

27



• We maintain cash at commercial banks in the United States in amounts in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit of 
$250,000. In the event of a failure at a commercial bank where we maintain our deposits, we may incur a loss to the extent such loss 
exceeds the insurance limitation.

If financial liquidity deteriorates, our ability to access capital may be harmed and we could become insolvent. 

Acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships, collaborations, or alliances could be difficult to identify and integrate, divert the attention of 
management, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value, and adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

We have in the past, and we may in the future, seek to acquire or invest in businesses, products, or technologies that we believe could complement or 
expand our platform, address additional customer needs, enhance our technical capabilities, or otherwise offer growth opportunities. For example, in 
January 2023, we completed the acquisition of Rewire. The pursuit of potentially material acquisitions may divert the attention of management and 
cause us to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating, and pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not such acquisitions are completed. In 
addition, we have limited experience in acquiring other businesses, and we may not successfully identify desirable acquisition targets, identify key 
risks during the due diligence phase, or integrate them effectively following the acquisition. Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of 
equity securities or the incurrence of debt, as well as unfavorable accounting treatment and exposure to claims and disputes by third parties, including 
intellectual property claims. We also may not generate sufficient financial returns to offset the costs and expenses related to any acquisitions. In 
addition, if an acquired business fails to meet our expectations, our business, operating results, and financial condition may suffer.

We may also make significant investments in new products, marketing campaigns, technologies, or services developed solely by us or in conjunction 
with strategic partners we identify. It is possible that our strategic investments may not become profitable and fail to return our initial investment, and 
this may have a harmful effect on our business and financial results.

Remitly Global is a holding company with no operations of its own and manages a network of local subsidiaries, each of which is subject to 
different local regulations. In the future, we may depend on our subsidiaries to fund our operations and expenses.

We are a holding company and rely on our operating subsidiaries for distributions or payments for cash flow. Therefore, our ability to fund and 
conduct our business, service our debt, and pay dividends, if any, in the future may depend on the ability of our subsidiaries and intermediate holding 
companies to make upstream cash distributions or payments to us, which may be impacted, for example, by their ability to generate sufficient cash 
flow or limitations on the ability to repatriate funds, whether as a result of currency liquidity restrictions, monetary or exchange controls, regulatory 
restrictions, or otherwise. For example, certain of our subsidiaries are subject to minimum capital and liquidity requirements as U.S.-regulated 
entities and/or the jurisdictions where they do business. Such requirements may limit the ability of these regulated subsidiaries to dividend or 
distribute funds to Remitly Global. Our operating subsidiaries and intermediate holding companies are separate legal entities, and although they are 
directly or indirectly wholly owned and controlled by us, they have no obligation to make any funds available to us, whether in the form of loans, 
dividends, or otherwise. To the extent the ability of any of our subsidiaries to distribute dividends or other payments to us is limited in any way, our 
ability to fund and conduct our business, service our debt, and pay dividends, if any, could be harmed.

Expansion into new international markets and payment corridors will expose us to risks associated with handling of additional currencies and 
compliance with local regulations and law.

As our international operations increase, or more of our expenses are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, our operating results may 
be more greatly affected by fluctuations in local markets or the exchange rates of the currencies in which we do business. 

There are significant costs and risks inherent in conducting business in international markets, including: 

• establishing and maintaining effective controls at international locations and the associated costs; 
• increased competition from local providers; 
• compliance with international laws and regulations, including privacy and cybersecurity frameworks similar to the GDPR;
• adapting to doing business in other languages or cultures; 
• compliance with local tax regimes, including potential double taxation of our international earnings, and potentially adverse tax 

consequences due to U.S. and international tax laws as they relate to our international operations; 
• compliance with anti-bribery laws, such as the FCPA, the CFPOA, and the U.K. Bribery Act; 
• currency exchange rate fluctuations and related effects on our operating results; 
• economic and political instability in some countries; 
• the uncertainty of protection for IP Rights in some countries and practical difficulties of obtaining, maintaining, protecting, defending, and 

enforcing IP Rights abroad; and 
• other costs of doing business internationally. 

As we expand into more international markets, we are faced with greater complexities around having to comply with various sets of local regulations, 
policies, and laws, which could change in ways that are adverse to our business. In particular, central banks or other regulatory agencies or 
institutions in the countries we operate could enact policies that may negatively affect our business, and we may incur increased costs and resources 
to deal with such unfavorable laws and policies.
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These factors and other factors could harm our international operations and, consequently, materially impact our business, operating results, and 
financial condition.

Further, we may incur significant operating expenses as a result of our international expansion, and it may not be successful. We have limited 
experience with regulatory environments and market practices internationally, and we may not be able to penetrate or successfully operate in new 
markets. We also have more limited brand recognition in certain parts of the world, leading to delayed acceptance of our platform by international 
customers. If we cannot continue to expand internationally and manage the complexity of our global operations successfully, our financial condition 
and operating results could be adversely affected.

Risks associated with operations outside the United States and foreign currencies could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results 
of operations, and cash flows.

Since a substantial portion of our send volume is exposed to the U.S. dollar, any deterioration in the value of the U.S. dollar, including as a result of 
macroeconomic factors, including inflation, could have a material impact on our business. In addition, a substantial portion of our revenue is 
generated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, a significant portion of which occurs in Canada and Europe. As a result, we are subject to risks 
associated with changes in the value of our revenues and net monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies. For example, a considerable portion 
of our revenue is generated in the euro. In an environment of a rising U.S. dollar relative to the euro, the value of our euro-denominated revenue, 
operating income and net monetary assets would be reduced when translated into U.S. dollars for inclusion in our financial statements. Some of these 
adverse financial effects may be partially mitigated by our efforts to offset these financial impacts through natural hedging of our assets and liabilities 
held in foreign currencies. In an environment of a declining U.S. dollar relative to the euro, some of the translation benefits on our reported financial 
results could be limited by the impact of foreign currency hedging activities. 

We are also subject to changes in the value of other foreign currencies. For instance, we have seen increased money transfer volume if the U.S. dollar 
strengthens against certain currencies, especially the Indian rupee, the Mexican peso, or the Philippine peso. Conversely, we have seen decreased 
money transfer volume if the U.S. dollar weakens against those currencies. We are also exposed to risks relating to fluctuations in currency exchange 
rates between the date on which a customer initiates a cross-border remittance payment and the date that the remittance recipient receives the funds 
through our disbursement partners because the foreign exchange rate quoted to the customer is not adjusted for changes between the initiation date 
and the settlement date. In addition, our international subsidiary financial statements are denominated in and operated in currencies outside of the 
U.S. dollar. Our financial results are also subject to changes in exchange rates that impact the settlement of transactions in non-local currencies. As a 
result, it could be more difficult to detect underlying trends in our business and operating results.

A substantial portion of our revenue is generated outside the United States. We utilize a variety of planning and financial strategies to help ensure that 
our worldwide cash is available where needed, including decisions related to the amounts, timing, and manner by which cash is repatriated or 
otherwise made available from our international subsidiaries. Changes in the amounts, timing, and manner by which cash is repatriated (or deemed 
repatriated) or otherwise made available from our international subsidiaries, including changes arising from new legal or tax rules, disagreements 
with legal or tax authorities concerning existing rules that are ultimately resolved in their favor, or changes in our operations or business, could result 
in material adverse effects on our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows including our ability to pay future dividends or make share 
repurchases.

To date, we have not engaged in currency hedging activities to limit the risk of exchange fluctuations; however, to limit our risk exposure associated 
with exchange rate fluctuations we may choose to engage in currency hedging activities in the future. Even if we use derivative instruments to hedge 
exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, the use of such hedging activities may not offset the adverse financial effects of 
unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates over the limited time the hedges are in place, and may introduce additional risks if we are unable to 
structure effective hedges with such instruments.

Money transfers and payments to, from, within, or between countries may be limited or prohibited by law. Additionally, economic or political 
instability or natural disasters may make money transfers to, from, within, or between particular countries difficult or impossible, such as when banks 
are closed, when currency devaluation makes exchange rates difficult to manage or when natural disasters or civil unrest makes access to agent 
locations unsafe. These risks could negatively impact our ability to offer our services, to make payments to or receive payments from international 
agents or our subsidiaries or to recoup funds that have been advanced to international agents or are held by our subsidiaries, and as a result could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. In addition, the general state of telecommunications and 
infrastructure in some lesser developed countries, including countries where we have a large number of transactions, creates operational risks for us 
and our third-party providers that generally are not present in our operations in the United States and other more developed countries.

A substantial amount of our revenue is derived from remittances to Mexico, India, and the Philippines, and our business could be significantly 
affected by any adverse changes in these regions.

Historically, our revenue has been substantially derived from remittances to Mexico, India, and the Philippines. Remittances sent to these three 
countries represented approximately 55%, 65%, and 70% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. 
Because these countries account for a substantial portion of our revenue, our business is exposed to adverse regulatory and competitive changes, 
economic conditions, and changes in political conditions in each of these countries. Moreover, due to the concentration of our revenue in these 
geographies, our business is less diversified and, accordingly, is subject to greater regional risks than some of our competitors.
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Financial Risks

If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may be 
adversely affected.

As a public company, we are required, among other things, to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and 
procedures. The process of designing and implementing effective internal controls and disclosure controls is a continuous effort that requires us to 
anticipate and react to changes in our business and the economic and regulatory environment and to expend significant resources to maintain a 
system of internal controls that is adequate to satisfy our reporting obligations as a public company. 

We cannot assure you that the measures that we have taken, and that we will take, will be sufficient to prevent future material weaknesses from 
occurring. We also cannot assure you that we have identified all of our existing material weaknesses. If we fail to remediate any material weaknesses 
or otherwise fail to establish and maintain effective internal controls, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial results could be 
adversely affected and may result in a restatement of our annual or interim financial statements, which could cause us to fail to meet our reporting 
obligations, any of which could diminish investor confidence in us and cause a decline in the price of our common stock.

If one or more of our counterparties, including financial institutions, aggregators, and local cash pick-up institutions where we have cash on 
deposit, or our lenders and potential hedging counterparties, default on their financial or performance obligations to us or fail, we may incur 
significant losses.

We have significant amounts of cash, cash equivalents, and receivables outstanding on deposit or in accounts with banks or other counterparties in 
the United States and international jurisdictions. While we do not currently enter into derivative financial instrument transactions as part of currency 
hedging activities, we may in the future enter into such transactions with various financial institutions. Certain banks and financial institutions are 
also lenders under our credit facilities. We may be exposed to the risk of default by, or deteriorating operating results or financial condition or failure 
of, these counterparties. If one of our counterparties were to become insolvent or file for bankruptcy, our ability to recover losses incurred as a result 
of default or to access or recover our assets that are deposited, held in accounts with, or otherwise due from, such counterparty may be limited by the 
counterparty’s liquidity or the applicable laws governing the insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings. In the event of default or failure of one or more 
of our counterparties, we could incur significant losses, which could negatively impact our operating results and financial condition.

We have built proprietary financial systems as part of our technology platform. Such systems could become unstable, include defects, experience 
outages, and include undetected errors, each of which could adversely affect our business and financial results.

Our proprietary financial systems are an integral part of our technology and business platform, which is a complex system composed of many 
interoperating components and which incorporates other third-party software. We have from time to time found defects or errors in our system and 
may discover additional defects in the future that could result in financial information unavailability or system disruption. In addition, we have 
experienced outages on our proprietary financial systems due to circumstances within our control, such as outages due to software bugs or human 
error. If sustained or repeated, any of these outages could impact the accuracy and completeness of our financial information over several reporting 
periods. In addition, our release of new software functionality may result in future interruptions in the availability of our financial information. Our 
financial systems may now, or in the future, contain undetected errors, defects, and vulnerabilities. Errors, defects, outages, vulnerabilities, and other 
unintended systems issues could result in an interruption in the availability of our financial information, failure to accurately or timely comply with 
domestic and international regulatory financial reporting obligations, or inaccurate and incomplete financial information, any of which could 
adversely affect our business and financial results.

We expect fluctuations in our financial results, making it difficult to project future results, and if we fail to meet the expectations of securities 
analysts or investors with respect to our operating results, our stock price and the value of your investment could decline.

Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and are expected to fluctuate in the future due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of 
our control. In particular, we expect our revenue mix to vary from period to period, especially if our newly introduced products grow to represent a 
larger portion of our revenue. Shifts in our business mix from quarter to quarter could produce substantial variation in revenue recognized. Further, 
our results of operations could be affected by changes in revenue mix and costs, together with numerous other factors, including:

• fluctuations in demand for our services or pricing of our fees associated with our services;
• our ability to attract new customers;
• our ability to retain and grow trust and engagement with our existing customers;
• our ability to expand our relationships with our marketing, payment processing, disbursement, and banking partners, or identify and attract 

new strategic partners;
• customer growth rates and the revenue derived from and quantity of existing customers retained;
• changes in customer preference for mobile-first services as a result of cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, service outages, or other similar 

incidents in the industry or privacy concerns, or other security or reliability concerns regarding our services;
• changes in customers’ budgets and in the timing of their budget cycles and money transfer decisions;
• potential and existing strategic partners choosing our competitors’ products or developing their own solutions in-house;
• the development or introduction of new platforms or services by our competitors that are easier to use or more advanced than our current 

suite of services, especially in respect of the application of AI-based services;
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• our failure to adapt to new forms of payment that become widely accepted, including cryptocurrency;
• cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, service outages, or other similar incidents with respect to the delivery and use of our platform which 

may result in data theft and/or misappropriation;
• the adoption or retention of more entrenched or rival services in the international markets where we compete;
• our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses;
• the amount and timing of payment for operating expenses, particularly technology and development and marketing expenses;
• the amount and timing of noncash expenses, including stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, and other 

noncash charges;
• the amount and timing of costs associated with recruiting, training, and integrating new employees and retaining and motivating existing 

employees;
• fluctuation in market interest rates, which impacts interest earned on funds held for customers;
• fluctuation in currency exchange rates;
• the effects of acquisitions and their integration;
• general economic conditions, both domestically and internationally, as well as economic conditions specifically affecting industries in 

which our customers participate;
• epidemics, pandemics, or other public health crises, such as the COVID-19 pandemic;
• the impact of new accounting pronouncements;
• changes in the competitive dynamics of our market;
• awareness of our brand and our reputation in our target markets; and
• our ability to introduce our services in new payment corridors and markets, including maintaining existing and obtaining new money 

transmitter licenses.

Any of these and other factors, or the cumulative effect of some of these factors, may cause our operating results to vary significantly. As a result, our 
past results may not be indicative of our future performance. In addition, if our quarterly operating results fall below the expectations of investors and 
securities analysts who follow our stock, the price of our common stock could decline substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits, including 
securities class action suits.

Furthermore, our cash flows may be affected by the day of the week on which each quarter ends which may affect our quarterly operating results. 
There can be a delay between when we release funds for disbursement and when we receive customer funds from our payment processors. For 
example, if a quarter closes on a Saturday, our cash flow statements will show a decreased cash balance because we will have wired out funds on 
Friday which will be available for disbursement on Saturday, Sunday, and Monday, but we may not receive customer funds from our payment 
processors until Monday. In addition, due to time zone differences, an additional day’s worth of funding is required for disbursements to certain 
markets. As a result, period-to-period comparisons of our statements of cash flows may not be meaningful, and you should not rely on them as an 
indication of our liquidity or capital resources.

Inaccurate forecasts of our customer growth and retention could result in higher operating expenses relative to actual revenue and ultimately 
harm our business. 

Our customer growth forecast is a key driver in our business plan which affects our ability to accurately forecast revenue and expenses. In addition, 
we plan a portion of our operating expenses, specifically related to our marketing expenses and customer service and operations headcount needs, in 
part on our forecasts of customer growth, retention, and future revenue. Seasonality and foreign exchange rate movements create volatility to these 
assessments which may adversely impact their accuracy. We also analyze revenue contributions from customer cohorts acquired during a particular 
year ended December 31 and revenue associated with those cohorts for each year thereafter. While we believe these cohorts are fair representations 
of our overall customer base, there is no assurance that they will be representative of any future group of customers or periods. Revenue for a 
particular customer cohort may fluctuate from one period to another depending on, among other factors, our ability to retain and increase revenue 
from our customers within a given cohort and changes to the products and services we offer to our customers. If we overestimate customer growth or 
retention and customer spend rates, our revenue will not grow as we forecast, our operating expenses may be too high relative to actual revenue 
levels of our business, and our financial condition and operating results may be harmed. 

If the revenue generated by new customers differs significantly from our expectations, or if our customer acquisition costs or costs associated 
with servicing our customers increase, we may not be able to recover our customer acquisition costs or generate profits from this investment.

We invest significant resources in marketing with the aim to acquire new customers and expect to continue to spend significant amounts to acquire 
additional customers, primarily through online advertising and marketing promotions. When making decisions regarding investments in customer 
acquisition, we analyze the transaction profit we have historically generated per customer over the expected lifetime value of the customer, and, 
where relevant, look to the estimated future transaction profit on a long-term basis. Our analysis of the transaction profit that we expect a new 
customer to generate over their lifetime depends upon several estimates and assumptions, including whether a customer will send a second 
transaction, whether a customer will send multiple transactions in a month, the amount of money that a customer sends in a transaction, and the 
predictability of a customer’s sending pattern. The accuracy of our predictions with respect to transaction profits may be subject to greater variance in 
new or recently added corridors, as compared to our more established corridors.
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Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations which could harm our operating 
and financial results.

Our net operating losses (“NOLs”) could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities because of their limited duration or 
because of restrictions under U.S. or international tax law. NOLs generated in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2018 are permitted to be 
carried forward for only 20 taxable years under applicable U.S. federal income tax law. Under the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”), as 
modified by the CARES Act, NOLs arising in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, and before January 1, 2021 may be carried back to 
each of the five taxable years preceding the taxable year of such loss, and NOLs arising in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020 may not 
be carried back. Moreover, under the Tax Act as modified by the CARES Act, NOLs generated in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 
may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such NOLs generally will be limited in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020 
to 80% of current year taxable income. For these reasons, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of the NOLs reflected on our balance 
sheets, even if we attain profitability, which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us and could adversely affect our operating and 
financial results.

Changes and evolving requirements in tax laws or their interpretation, including as applied to us and our customers, could adversely affect our 
business.

As a multinational organization, operating in multiple jurisdictions we may be subject to increasingly complex tax laws and taxation in several 
jurisdictions, the application of which can be uncertain. The amount of taxes we are required to pay in these jurisdictions could increase substantially 
as a result of changes in the applicable tax principles, including increased tax rates, new tax laws, or revised interpretations of existing tax laws, 
potential disputes around transfer prices implemented and precedents, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Such material 
adverse effect may include the value of any tax loss carryforwards, tax credits recorded on our balance sheet, indirect tax accrual estimates, the 
amount of our cash flow, our liquidity, financial condition, and results of operations.

Many of the jurisdictions in which we conduct business have detailed transfer pricing rules or may comply with the Organization for Economic 
Cooperation and Development guidelines, which require contemporaneous documentation establishing that all transactions with non-resident related 
parties be priced using arm’s-length pricing principles. Tax authorities in these jurisdictions could challenge our related party transfer pricing policies 
and, consequently, the tax treatment of corresponding expenses and income. If any tax authority were to be successful in challenging our transfer 
pricing policies, we may be liable for additional corporate income tax, withholding tax, indirect tax and penalties, and interest related thereto, which 
may have a significant impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to regular review and audit by the relevant tax authorities in the jurisdictions we operate and as a result, the authorities in these 
jurisdictions could review our tax returns and impose additional significant taxes, interest, and penalties, challenge the transfer pricing policies 
adopted by us, claim that our operation constitutes a taxable presence in different jurisdiction and/or that various withholding requirements apply to 
us or our subsidiaries, or assert that benefits of tax treaties are not available to us or our subsidiaries, any of which could materially affect our income 
tax provision, net income, or cash flows in the period or periods for which such determination is made.

In addition, tax benefits we currently receive in certain jurisdictions require us to meet several conditions and may be challenged or terminated or 
reduced in the future, which would increase our taxes, possibly with a retroactive effect.

The determination of our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires estimation and significant judgment, and there are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Any adverse outcome of potential future audits, reviews, or 
investigations by tax authorities in U.S. or foreign tax jurisdictions could result in unforeseen tax-related liabilities that differ from the amounts 
recorded in our financial statements, which may, individually or in the aggregate, materially affect our financial results in the periods for which such 
determination is made. While we have established reserves based on assumptions and estimates that we believe are reasonable to cover such 
eventualities, these reserves may prove to be insufficient.

A number of U.S. states, the U.S. federal government, and foreign jurisdictions have implemented and may impose reporting or recordkeeping 
obligations on companies that engage in or facilitate e-commerce. A number of jurisdictions are also reviewing whether payment service providers 
and other intermediaries could be deemed to be the legal agent of merchants for certain tax purposes. Any failure by us to comply with these and 
similar reporting and record-keeping obligations could result in substantial monetary penalties and other sanctions, adversely impact our ability to do 
business in certain jurisdictions, and harm our business.

In addition, the failure by our customers to comply with reporting obligations in connection with transactions on our platform could result in 
regulatory inquiry, reputational damage, and potential enforcement actions and additional reporting and withholding requirements.
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We may not be able to secure additional financing in a timely manner, on satisfactory terms, or at all, to meet our future capital needs, which 
could impair our ability to execute on our business plan. 

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents, and funds available under our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to meet our operating and 
capital requirements for at least the next twelve months. However, since inception through December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company 
has incurred losses from operations, negative cash flows from operations, and had an accumulated deficit of $491.3 million and of $373.5 million, 
respectively, and has been dependent on equity and debt financing to fund operations. As such, we may require additional capital to respond to 
business opportunities (including increasing the number of customers acquired or acquisitions), capital needed during high volume sending periods, 
new capital or liquidity requirements introduced or required by our regulators and payment processors, challenges, or unforeseen circumstances and 
may determine to engage in equity or debt financings for other reasons. 

We have a revolving credit facility with certain lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acting as administrative agent and collateral agent (the 
“2021 Revolving Credit Facility,” as defined in Note 9. Debt in the notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 
8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K) under that certain Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement dated as of September 13, 2021 (as amended by 
Amendment No. 1 dated as of June 26, 2023 and as further amended by Amendment No. 2 and Joinder Agreement dated as of December 20, 2023 
(“Amendment No. 2”)). Pursuant to Amendment No. 2, the aggregate amount of the revolving commitments under the 2021 Revolving Credit 
Facility were increased from $250.0 million to $325.0 million. We may incur additional indebtedness in the future. We expect to rely on the 2021 
Revolving Credit Facility to finance a substantial portion of the capital and liquidity requirements and obligations we are subject to in connection 
with our remittance business. Additionally, certain borrowings under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility are subject to variable interest rates. If the 
interest rate on 2021 Revolving Credit Facility or any alternative financing were to increase, our operating results could be harmed, particularly 
because we rely on drawings under our line of credit to satisfy regulatory compliance requirements with respect to maintaining sufficient capital and 
liquidity. The credit agreement governing our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility contains conditions to borrowing and significant restrictive covenants; 
any failure to satisfy these conditions to borrowing or covenants could result in us being unable to borrow additional amounts under the 2021 
Revolving Credit Facility or having to repay outstanding amounts, and could limit our ability to execute on our business or growth strategies. If we 
were unable to refinance the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility or enter into an alternative facility on similar terms, we may be unable to meet regulatory 
compliance requirements with respect to maintaining sufficient capital and liquidity. Additionally, the restrictive covenants impose significant 
operating and financial restrictions that may impact our ability to engage in certain transactions or make investments that could be in our long-term 
best interests. The restrictive covenants also require us to comply with financial maintenance covenants in certain circumstances; our ability to satisfy 
these covenants can be affected by events beyond our control and we cannot assure you that we will be able to comply. Any debt financing secured 
by us in the future could involve additional restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, 
which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. We may 
not be able to secure additional debt or equity financing in a timely manner, or at all, which could require us to scale back our business plans and 
operations.

Failure to maintain sufficient capital could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results. 

We have significant working capital requirements driven by: 

• the delay between when we release funds for disbursement and when we receive customer funds from our payment processors, which can 
be exacerbated by time zone differences, bank holidays, national or governmental holidays, and weekends; 

• regulatory capital requirements pertaining to net worth;
• regulatory requirements pertaining to permissible investments and safeguarding of customer funds; 
• requirements contained in the credit agreement governing our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility;
• collateral requirements imposed on us by our payment processors; and 
• collateral requirements imposed on us by our disbursement partners. 

This requires us to have access to significant amounts of capital, particularly at high volume sending times, which we may not be able to forecast 
accurately. Our need to access capital will increase as our number of customers, transactions processed, and total sending volume increases. 

Increases in our send volume processed, even if short-term in nature, can cause increases in our capital requirements. Our ability to meet our capital 
requirements could be affected by various factors, including any inability to collect funds from customers, inability to maintain fraud losses at 
acceptable rates, or incurring unanticipated losses. If we do not have sufficient capital and are unable to access or raise additional capital, we may not 
be able to pursue our growth strategy, fund key strategic initiatives, such as geographic expansion or product development efforts, or continue to 
transfer money to recipients before funds are actually received from our customers. 

In addition, we may not be able to meet new capital or liquidity requirements introduced or required by our regulators and payment processors. We 
currently have the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility to mitigate capital fluctuations, but there can be no assurance that the 2021 Revolving Credit 
Facility will be sufficient or renewed at favorable rates or that we will have access to additional capital as needed, or at all. 
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Changes in our effective tax rate or tax liability may adversely affect our operating results.

Our effective tax rate could increase due to several factors, including: 

• changes in the relative amounts of income before taxes in the various U.S. and international jurisdictions in which we operate due to 
differing statutory tax rates in various jurisdictions; 

• changes in tax laws, tax treaties, and regulations or the interpretations of them, including the 2017 Tax Act as modified by the CARES Act;
• changes to our assessment about our ability to realize our deferred tax assets that are based on estimates of our future results, the prudence 

and feasibility of possible tax planning strategies, and the economic and political environment in which we do business; and
• the outcome of current and future tax audits, examinations, or administrative appeals. 

Any of these developments could adversely affect our operating results.

If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our operating results could be adversely affected.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other 
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as provided in Part II, Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Operating Results, in the section titled “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.” The results of these estimates form the 
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities, and equity, and the amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Significant estimates and judgments involve the identification of performance obligations in revenue recognition, share-
based compensation, among others. Our operating results may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from 
those in our assumptions, which could cause our operating results to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a 
decline in the trading price of our common stock.

We track certain business metrics with internal tools and do not independently verify such metrics. Certain of our business metrics may not 
accurately reflect certain details of our business, are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in such 
metrics may harm our reputation and negatively affect our business.

We track certain business metrics, including active customers, send volume, and Adjusted EBITDA, which are not independently verified by any 
third party and are not measured according to GAAP. Our internal tools have a number of limitations and our methodologies for tracking these 
metrics may change over time, which could result in unexpected changes to our metrics, including the metrics we report. If the internal tools we use 
to track these metrics under count or over count performance or contain algorithmic or other technical errors, the data we report may not be accurate. 
In addition, limitations or errors with respect to how we measure data (or the data that we measure) may affect our understanding of certain details of 
our business, which could affect our longer-term strategies. If our business metrics are not accurate representations of our business performance or 
customer base; if we discover material inaccuracies in our metrics; or if the metrics we rely on to track our performance do not provide an accurate 
measurement of our business, our reputation may be harmed, we may be subject to legal or regulatory actions, and our operating and financial results 
could be adversely affected. In addition, from time to time we may change the business metrics that we track, including metrics that we report, and 
any new business metrics will also be subject to the foregoing limitations and risks.

General Risks

Our customers and business operations are exposed to macroeconomic conditions and geopolitical forces in developing regions and regions that 
account for a significant amount of our send volume, which exposes us to risk of loss.

The majority of our total revenue is currently derived from remittances being sent from the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and other 
countries in Europe to India, Mexico, and the Philippines. As a result, any macroeconomic trends and conditions (including a continued rise in 
inflation) or geopolitical trends that disrupt these regions or alter their immigration patterns, economic conditions, or cultural norms could have an 
impact on the demand for our services or our ability to provide such services. Any economic or political instability, regional and global conflicts, 
natural disasters, public health crises, or other similar circumstances affecting these regions also could have a disproportionately harmful impact on 
our business, financial position, and operating results. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic and stay at home protocols imposed operational 
challenges on our business, and future pandemics or other public health crises could result in similar challenges that may negatively impact our 
business. In addition, although our operations in Ukraine and the Middle East do not currently represent a significant portion of our business, the 
continuation or further escalation of the conflicts in these regions could negatively impact our broader European operations, affect the ability of our 
development teams in Israel to operate effectively, or otherwise disrupt the development or availability of our products in the market on a timely 
basis. 

Global trade policy or international relations between larger developed countries could also impact the market for our services or our ability to serve 
those markets effectively. For example, Chinese technologies are critical components of many of our disbursement partners, payment processors, and 
overall distribution network. If there were a disruption of trade relations between the United States and China, we, and our disbursements partners 
that rely on these technologies, could lose access to these critical Chinese technologies, which would disrupt our business and could have a material 
adverse effect on our operations. In addition, the Chinese government could take action that would create significant competitive advantage to 
Chinese companies and create obstacles for us. 

Table of Contents

34



Changes in U.S. or other immigration laws that discourage international migration, as well as other events that impact global migration to the US or 
other key remittance markets, could adversely affect our gross send volume or growth rate in the future. Sustained weakness in the United States or 
global economic conditions could reduce economic opportunities for immigrant workers and result in reduced or disrupted international migration 
patterns. Reduced or disrupted international migration patterns are likely to reduce money transfer volumes and harm our operating results. 

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fires, floods, public health crises (including epidemics or pandemics such as the COVID-19 
pandemic), and other natural catastrophic events, and to interruption by man-made problems such as cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, 
service outages, or other similar incidents, internal or third-party system failures, political unrest, market or currency disruptions, and terrorism, 
which could result in system and process failures and interruptions which could harm our business. 

Our corporate headquarters is located in Seattle, Washington, and our cloud services providers and data centers are also largely located in the western 
United States. The west coast of the United States contains active earthquake zones. Although our systems have been designed around industry-
standard architectures to reduce downtime in the event of outages or catastrophic occurrences, they remain vulnerable to damage or interruption from 
earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunication failures, terrorist attacks, public health crises, cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, service 
outages, or other similar incidents, human error, hardware or software defects or malfunctions (including defects or malfunctions of components of 
our systems and networks that are supplied by third-party vendors and service providers), and similar events or disruptions. As we rely heavily on our 
servers, computer and communications systems, and the internet to conduct our business and provide high-quality customer service, disruptions in 
these systems and networks could harm our ability to operate our business, impede our employees’ ability to conduct business activities whether at 
our facilities or from a remote location, and cause lengthy delays, which could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results. An 
outage at any one facility could result in our system being unavailable for a significant period of time. We have disaster recovery programs in place, 
but these may also fail, prolonging the period of time during which our system and products may not be available.

Additionally, some of the countries to which our disbursement partners deliver the funds we transfer regularly experience serious political unrest or 
upheaval. Such political unrest may lead to temporary or long-term disruptions to our disbursement network in the affected countries. If such 
disruption were ongoing, our customers may look to other methods of transferring funds, or we may be unable to resume our services in such 
countries, and our business and financial results may be harmed.

The insurance we maintain may be insufficient to cover our losses resulting from any such incidents or events, and any such incidents or events may 
result in loss of, or increased costs of, such insurance.

For additional information regarding risks associated with cyberattacks, cybersecurity breaches, and other similar incidents, see “—Cyberattacks, 
cybersecurity breaches, service outages, or other similar incidents could result in serious harm to our business, reputation, and financial condition, 
including by triggering regulatory action or a breach of our agreements with significant partners that we rely on to deliver our services.”

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The stock price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be, volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance, and you 
may lose part or all of your investment.

The market prices of the securities of newly public companies, including ours, have historically been highly volatile and will likely continue to be 
volatile. In addition to the factors discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly 
in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including: 

• overall performance of the equity markets;
• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our revenue and other operating results;
• changes in the financial projections we may provide to the public or our failure to meet these projections;
• failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow us, 

or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;
• recruitment or departure of key personnel;
• the economy as a whole and market conditions in our industry;
• negative publicity related to the real or perceived quality of our platform, as well as the failure to timely launch new products and services 

that gain market acceptance;
• rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry or newly public companies;
• announcement by us or our competitors of new products or services (including with respect to cryptocurrency or blockchain technology), 

commercial relationships, or significant technical innovations;
• acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments;
• new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;
• lawsuits threatened or filed against us, litigation involving our industry, or both;
• developments or disputes concerning our or other parties’ products, services, or IP Rights;
• changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations, or principles;
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• interpretations of any of the above or other factors by trading algorithms, including those that employ natural language processing and 
related methods to evaluate our public disclosures;

• other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, natural disasters, pandemics, or responses to those 
events; and

• sales of shares of our common stock by us, our directors and executive officers, or our stockholders.

In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of 
equity securities of many companies. Stock prices of many companies, and technology companies in particular, have fluctuated in a manner unrelated 
or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation 
following periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources 
and the attention of management from our business, and adversely affect our business. 

Concentration of ownership of our common stock among our existing executive officers, directors, and principal stockholders may prevent new 
investors from influencing significant corporate decisions.

Based upon the information available to us about our shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023, our executive officers, directors, and current 
beneficial owners of 5% or more of our common stock, in the aggregate, beneficially own a substantial percentage of our outstanding common stock. 
These persons, acting together, will be able to significantly influence all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election and removal 
of directors and any merger or other significant corporate transactions. The interests of this group of stockholders may not coincide with the interests 
of other stockholders.

Future sales of our common stock in the public market could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress the 
market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to 
predict the effect that such sales may have on the prevailing market price of our common stock.

In addition, we have a substantial number of shares of our common stock that are subject to future issuance in connection with unexercised equity 
awards and are subject to registration rights. Any future issuance or registration of such shares of our common stock may make it more difficult for 
us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate. These sales also could cause the trading price of our 
common stock to fall and make it more difficult for you to sell shares of our common stock.

We may issue our shares of common stock or securities convertible into our common stock from time to time in connection with financings, 
acquisitions, investments, or otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders and cause the trading price 
of our common stock to decline.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware or other state law could make an acquisition of our company more 
difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management, and affect the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of 
control or changes in our management. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws include provisions that:

• authorize our board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, shares of undesignated preferred stock with terms, 
rights, and preferences determined by our board of directors that may be senior to our common stock;

• require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by written consent;
• specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, the chairperson of our board of directors, or 

our Chief Executive Officer;
• establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including proposed nominations of 

persons for election to our board of directors;
• establish that our board of directors is divided into three classes, with each class serving three-year staggered terms;
• prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors;
• provide that our directors may be removed for cause only upon the vote of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of our outstanding 

shares of common stock;
• provide that vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by a majority vote of directors then in office, even though less than a 

quorum; and
• require the approval of our board of directors or the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of our outstanding shares 

of common stock to amend our bylaws and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation.
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These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult 
for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, 
because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which 
generally, subject to certain exceptions, prohibit a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any 
“interested” stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder. Furthermore, 
while state statutes governing our money transmitter licenses vary, most require investors to receive the approval of, or provide notice to, the relevant 
licensing authority before exceeding a certain ownership threshold, including indirect ownership, in a licensed money transmitter. Accordingly, 
current or prospective investors seeking to acquire ownership of securities above certain thresholds in the aggregate may need to first obtain such 
regulatory approvals and provide such notices to the relevant regulators. Any of the foregoing provisions could limit the price that investors might be 
willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, and they could deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the likelihood 
that you would receive a premium for your shares of our common stock in an acquisition.

Increased scrutiny from regulators, investors, and other stakeholders regarding our environmental, social, governance or sustainability 
responsibilities, strategy, and related disclosures could result in additional costs or risks and adversely impact our reputation, employee retention, 
and willingness of consumers and merchants to do business with us.

Regulators, investor advocacy groups, certain institutional investors, investment funds, stockholders, consumers and other market participants have 
focused increasingly on the environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) or “sustainability” practices of companies. These parties have placed 
increased importance on the implications of the social cost of their investments. We may incur additional costs and require additional resources as we 
evolve our ESG strategy, practices, and related disclosures. If our ESG strategy, practices, and related disclosures, including the impact of our 
business on climate change, do not meet (or are viewed as not meeting) regulator, investor, or other industry stakeholder expectations and standards, 
which continue to evolve and may emphasize different priorities than the ones we choose to focus on, our brand, reputation, and employee retention 
may be negatively impacted. We could also incur additional costs and require additional resources to monitor, report, and comply with various ESG 
practices and regulations. Also, our failure, or perceived failure, to manage reputational threats and meet expectations with respect to socially 
responsible activities and sustainability commitments could negatively impact our brand, reputation, employee retention, and the willingness of our 
customers to do business with us.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on 
appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictions on our 
ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors. 
Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any 
future gains on their investments.

If securities or industry analysts publish unfavorable or inaccurate research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could 
decline.

Our stock price and trading volume is heavily influenced by the way analysts and investors interpret our financial information and other disclosures. 
If industry analysts cease coverage of us, our stock price would likely be negatively affected. If securities or industry analysts do not publish research 
or reports about our business, downgrade our common stock, or publish negative reports about our business, our stock price would likely decline. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains exclusive forum provisions for certain claims, which could limit our stockholders’ 
ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, to the fullest extent permitted by law, provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of 
Delaware will be the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; 
any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of 
incorporation, or our restated bylaws; or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

Moreover, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all claims brought to enforce any duty or 
liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that 
the U.S. federal district courts will, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of 
action arising under the Securities Act (a “Federal Forum Provision”). Our decision to adopt a Federal Forum Provision followed a decision by the 
Supreme Court of the State of Delaware holding that such provisions are facially valid under Delaware law. While there can be no assurance that 
federal or state courts will follow the holding of the Delaware Supreme Court or determine that the Federal Forum Provision should be enforced in a 
particular case, application of the Federal Forum Provision means that suits brought by our stockholders to enforce any duty or liability created by the 
Securities Act must be brought in federal court and cannot be brought in state court. Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal 
jurisdiction over all claims brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, and the 
Federal Forum Provision will apply, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange 
Act. Accordingly, actions by our stockholders to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder 
must be brought in federal court, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the 
federal securities laws and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
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Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in any of our securities will be deemed to have notice of and 
consented to our exclusive forum provisions, including the Federal Forum Provision. These provisions may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a 
claim in a judicial forum they find favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits 
against us and our directors, officers, and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our 
amended and restated certificate of incorporation or restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs 
associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management

Cybersecurity risk management is an integral part of our overall enterprise risk management program. Our cybersecurity risk management program is 
designed to follow our industry’s best practices and provides a framework for identifying, monitoring, assessing, and responding to cybersecurity 
threats and incidents, including threats and incidents associated with the use of third-party vendors and service providers, and facilitating 
coordination across different departments of the Company. This framework includes steps for identifying the source of a cybersecurity threat or 
incident, including whether such cybersecurity threat or incident is associated with a third-party vendor or service provider; assessing the severity and 
risk of a cybersecurity threat or incident; implementing cybersecurity countermeasures and mitigation strategies and informing management, our 
audit and risk committee, and our board of directors of potentially material cybersecurity threats and incidents or other significant changes in the 
evolving cybersecurity threat landscape.

Our information security team is responsible for assessing and maintaining our cybersecurity risk management program. In addition, our information 
security team engages third-party security experts on an as-needed basis for risk assessment and system enhancements. Our information security team 
also facilitates training to all employees during the onboarding process and annually, with additional training as we deem appropriate. We review or 
update our cybersecurity policies annually, or more frequently on an as-needed basis, to account for changes in the evolving cybersecurity threat 
landscape as well as legal and regulatory developments. Although we have continued to invest in our due diligence, onboarding, and monitoring 
capabilities over critical third parties with whom we do business, including our third-party vendors and service providers, our control over the 
security posture of, and ability to monitor the cybersecurity practices of, such third parties remains limited, and there can be no assurance that we can 
prevent, mitigate, or remediate the risk of any compromise or failure in the cybersecurity infrastructure owned or controlled by such third parties. 
When we do become aware that a third-party vendor or service provider has experienced such compromise or failure, we attempt to mitigate our risk, 
including by terminating such third party’s connection to our information systems and networks where appropriate.

In 2023, we did not identify any cybersecurity threats or incidents that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our 
business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. However, despite our efforts, we cannot eliminate all risks from cybersecurity threats 
or incidents, or provide assurances that we have not experienced an undetected cybersecurity incident. For more information about these risks, please 
see “Risk Factors–Cybersecurity, Privacy, Intellectual Property, and Technology Risks” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Cybersecurity Governance

Our management, Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”), information security team, and legal team are responsible for identifying and 
assessing cybersecurity risks on an ongoing basis, establishing processes designed to ensure that such potential cybersecurity risk exposures are 
monitored, putting in place appropriate mitigation and remediation measures, and maintaining cybersecurity programs. Our cybersecurity programs 
are managed under the direction of our CISO, who receives reports from our information security team and monitors the prevention, detection, 
mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity risks. Our CISO and dedicated information security personnel maintain certain cybersecurity-related 
certifications and are experienced information systems security professionals and information security managers with many years of experience. In 
particular, our CISO maintains the following certifications: Certified Information Systems Auditor from the Information System Audit and Control 
Association and Certified Information Systems Security Professional from ISC2. Our management, CISO, and information security team provide 
updates on at least a quarterly basis to our audit and risk committee on the Company’s cybersecurity programs, material cybersecurity risks and 
mitigation strategies, and provide cybersecurity reports on at least a quarterly basis that cover, among other topics, third-party assessments of the 
Company’s cybersecurity programs, updates to the Company’s cybersecurity programs and mitigation strategies, and other cybersecurity 
developments. In addition to such regular updates, and as part of our incident response processes, our CISO also provides updates on certain 
cybersecurity threats and incidents to the audit and risk committee and, as necessary, to the full board of directors, based on the assessment of risk by 
our management, CISO, information security team, and legal team.

Our board of directors has oversight responsibility for our overall enterprise risk management, and delegates cybersecurity risk management 
oversight to our audit and risk committee. As part of its enterprise risk management efforts, our board of directors also meets with management, 
including our CISO, to assess and respond to critical business risks, including those that may arise from cybersecurity threats and incidents. Our audit 
and risk committee is responsible for ensuring that management has policies and processes in place designed to identify, monitor, assess, and respond 
to cybersecurity, data privacy, and other information technology risks to which the Company is exposed. Further, our audit and risk committee 
reports material cybersecurity risks to our full board of directors, based on the assessment of risk by our management, CISO, information security 
team, and legal team.

Item 2. Properties

As of December 31, 2023, we occupied facilities in various countries. Substantially all these facilities were leased. Our corporate headquarters are 
located in Seattle, Washington, where we occupy facilities totaling approximately 48,412 square feet under a lease that expires in June 2025. Other 
significant leased properties include facilities in Israel, Nicaragua, the United Kingdom, the Philippines, Poland, Ireland, and Singapore. We use 
these facilities for administration, finance, legal, human resources, IT, marketing, software engineering, and customer service. 
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We maintain other leased facilities throughout the world. We intend to procure additional space as we add employees and expand geographically. We 
believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future, and that, should it be needed, suitable additional space will be 
available to accommodate any such expansion of our operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subject to legal or regulatory proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including intellectual 
property, privacy, cybersecurity, commercial, product liability, employment, class action, whistleblower, and other litigation and claims, as well as 
governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. In addition, third parties may from time to time assert claims against us in the 
form of letters and other communications. We are not currently a party to any legal or regulatory proceedings that we believe to be material to our 
business or financial condition. The results of any future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can 
have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors. 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ under the symbol “RELY” on September 23, 2021. Prior to that date, there was no public trading 
market for our common stock. 

Holders

As of February 21, 2024, there were 24 stockholders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is significantly greater than 
this number of record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other 
nominees.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use 
in the operation of our business and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. 

Stock Performance

The information in this “Stock Performance” section shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC for purposes of 
Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into 
any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

The following data and graph show a comparison of the cumulative total shareholder return for our common stock, the Russell 2000 Growth Index 
and the KBW NASDAQ Financial Technology Index from September 23, 2021 through December 31, 2023. This data assumes simultaneous 
investments of $100 on September 23, 2021 and reinvestment of any dividends. The stockholder return shown in the graph below is not necessarily 
indicative of future performance, and we do not make or endorse any predictions as to future stockholder returns.

Common Stock Performance Graph

Remitly Global, Inc. Russell 2000 Growth Index KBW Financial Technology Index
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

For information on securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans see “Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial 
Owners and Management and Related Stockholders Matters” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
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Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds

In September 2021, we completed the IPO, in which we issued and sold 7,000,000 shares of our common stock at $43.00 per share. Concurrently, 
5,162,777 shares were sold by certain of our existing stockholders. In addition, the Company concurrently issued 581,395 shares of common stock in 
a private placement at the same offering price as the IPO. The Company received net proceeds of $305.2 million for the IPO and private placement, 
after deducting underwriting discounts and other fees of $20.8 million. In connection with the IPO, 127,410,631 shares of outstanding redeemable 
convertible preferred stock automatically converted into an equivalent number of shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis. All of the shares 
issued and sold in our IPO were registered under the Securities Act pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-259167), which 
was declared effective by the SEC on September 22, 2021. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO as 
described in our final prospectus filed with the SEC on September 24, 2021 pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act.
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 Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial 
statements and the related notes, appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our audited consolidated financial statements and 
the related notes. You should read the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for a discussion of 
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements 
contained in the following discussion and analysis. The forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K represent our views as of the date of this Form 
10-K. Except as may be required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements or the reasons that results could differ 
from these forward-looking statements. You should, therefore, not rely on these forward-looking statements as representing our views as of any date 
subsequent to the date of this Form 10-K.

Overview

Remitly is a leading digital financial services provider for immigrants, their families, and other global citizens in over 170 countries around the 
world. The combination of our differentiated approach and our relentless focus on meeting the financial services needs of our immigrant communities 
has resulted in significant customer growth, high customer engagement, rapid send volume and transaction growth, and attractive customer 
economics built on top of an expansive global network. 

Acquisition of Rewire

On January 5, 2023, we acquired 100% of the outstanding equity interests of Rewire (O.S.G.) Research and Development Ltd., a company organized 
under the laws of the State of Israel (“Rewire”), for approximately $77.9 million of aggregate consideration, the majority of which was or will be 
settled in cash, with the remaining consideration settled or to be settled in Remitly equity. The acquisition of Rewire allows us to accelerate our 
opportunity to differentiate the remittance experience with complementary products and expands our remittance businesses in new geographies all 
with a strong team that is culturally aligned with Remitly.

Our Revenue Model 

For our remittance business, which represents substantially all of our revenue today, we generate revenue from transaction fees charged to customers 
and foreign exchange spreads applied to the amount the customer is sending. 

Transaction fees vary based on the corridor, the currency in which funds are delivered to the recipient, the funding method a customer chooses (e.g., 
ACH, credit card, debit card, etc.), the disbursement method a customer chooses (e.g., bank deposit, mobile wallet, cash pick-up, etc.), and the 
amount the customer is sending.

Foreign exchange spreads represent the difference between the foreign exchange rate offered to customers and the foreign exchange rate on our 
currency purchases. They are an output of proprietary and dynamic models that are designed to provide fair and competitive rates to our customers, 
while generating a spread based on our ability to buy foreign currency at generally advantageous rates. 

Revenue from transaction fees and foreign exchange spreads is reduced by customer promotions. For example, we may, from time to time, waive 
transaction fees for first-time customers, or provide customers with better foreign exchange rates on their first transaction. These incentives are 
accounted for as reductions to revenue, up to the point where net historical cumulative revenue, at the customer level, is reduced to zero. We consider 
these incentives to be an investment in our long-term relationship with customers.

Key Business Metrics

We regularly review the following key business metrics to evaluate our performance, identify trends affecting our business, prepare financial 
projections, and make strategic decisions. We believe that these key business metrics provide meaningful supplemental information for management 
and investors in assessing our historical and future operating performance. The calculation of these key business metrics discussed below may differ 
from other similarly titled metrics used by other companies, analysts, or investors.

Active Customers

Active customers, measured as of the quarterly periods ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Active customers    ..........................................................................................................  5,911  4,188  2,836 

We believe that the number of our active customers is an important indicator of customer engagement, customer retention, and the overall growth of 
our business.
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Active customers increased to approximately 5.9 million, or 41% growth, for the three months ended December 31, 2023, compared to the three 
months ended December 31, 2022. Active customers increased to approximately 4.2 million, or 48% growth, for the three months ended December 
31, 2022, compared to the three months ended December 31, 2021. This increase was primarily due to an increase in the number of new customers, 
driven by investments in our mobile platform and efficient marketing spend, our focus on customer experience and how we serve our customers, 
expansion of our global disbursement network, and the continued diversification across both send and receive countries. While we continue to see 
strong results in our largest existing receive countries, our successful diversification of our corridor portfolio across both send and receive countries 
has contributed to new customer growth. 

Send Volume 

Years Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Send volume ................................................................................................................. $ 39,459 $ 28,631 $ 20,448 

We measure send volume to assess the scale of remittances sent using our platform. Our customers mostly send from the United States, Canada, the 
United Kingdom, and other countries in Europe. Our customers and their recipients are located in over 170 countries and territories across the globe; 
the largest receive countries by send volume include India, Mexico, and the Philippines. 

Send volume increased 38%, to $39.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $28.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 
2022, driven by the increase in active customers. Send volume increased 40%, to $28.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to 
$20.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021, driven by the increase in active customers.

Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

Customer Retention and High Customer Engagement 

Our send volume is primarily driven by existing customers who regularly use our remittance product to send money home. We believe our mobile-
first products and superior customer experience encourage high retention and repeat usage, which are significant though not the only drivers of our 
performance. 

We measure active customers to monitor the growth and performance of our customer base. The majority of our active customers send money for 
recurring, non-discretionary needs multiple times per month, providing a recurring revenue stream with high visibility and predictability. 

Attracting New Customers

Our continued ability to attract new customers to our platform is a key driver for our long-term growth. We continue to expand our customer base by 
launching new send and receive corridors, by continuing to innovate on existing and new products, and by providing the most trusted financial 
services for global citizens with cross-border financial needs. We plan to continue to acquire new customers through digital marketing channels and 
word-of-mouth referrals from existing customers, and by exploring new customer acquisition channels. Given the nature of our business, new 
customer acquisition marketing investments may negatively impact net loss and Adjusted EBITDA in the quarter they are acquired, but are expected 
to favorably impact net loss and Adjusted EBITDA in subsequent periods.

Customer Acquisition

Efficiently acquiring customers is critical to our growth and maintaining of attractive customer economics, which are impacted by online marketing 
competition, our ability to effectively target the right demographic, and competitive environment. We have a history of successfully monitoring 
customer acquisition costs and will continue to be strategic and disciplined toward customer acquisition. For example, for performance marketing, we 
set rigorous customer acquisition targets that we continuously monitor to ensure a high return on investment over the long term, and we can increase 
or decrease this investment as desired. Customer acquisition costs which are deployed to acquire new customers or retain existing customers in 
certain circumstances, are a component of advertising expenses as defined in Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Corridor Mix

Our business is global and certain attributes of our business vary by corridor, such as send amount, customer funding sources, and transaction 
frequency. For example, a period of high growth in receive corridors with large average send amounts, such as India, could disproportionately impact 
send volume while impacting active customers to a lesser extent. While shifts in our corridor mix could impact the trends in our global business, 
including send volume and customer economics, we have the ability to optimize these corridors over the long term based on their specific dynamics. 
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Seasonality

Our operating results and metrics are subject to seasonality, which may result in fluctuations in our quarterly revenues and operating results. For 
example, active customers and send volume generally peak as customers send gifts for regional and global holidays including, most notably, in the 
fourth quarter around the Christmas holiday. This seasonality typically drives higher fourth quarter customer acquisition, which generally results in 
higher fourth quarter marketing costs and transaction losses. It also results in higher transactions and transaction expenses, along with higher working 
capital needs. Other periods of favorable seasonality include Ramadan/Eid, Lunar New Year/Tết, and Mother’s Day, although the impact is generally 
lower than the seasonality we see in the fourth quarter. Conversely, we typically observe lower customer acquisition and existing customer activity 
through most of the first quarter, especially in regions that experience favorable seasonality in the fourth quarter. The number of business days in a 
quarter and the day of week that the last day of the quarter falls on may also introduce variability in our results, working capital balances, or cash 
flows period over period.

Our Technology Platform

We will continue to invest significant resources in our technology platform. These investments will allow us to introduce new and innovative 
products, add features to current products, enhance the customer and recipient experience, grow our payment and disbursement network, invest in our 
risk and security infrastructure, and continue to secure data in accordance with evolving best practices and legal requirements. While we expect our 
expenses related to technology and development to increase, which may impact short-term profitability, we believe these investments will ultimately 
contribute to our long-term growth. 

Management of Risk and Fraud

We manage fraud (e.g., through identity theft) and other illegitimate activity (e.g., money laundering) by utilizing our proprietary risk models, which 
include machine learning processes, early warning systems, bespoke rules, and manual investigation processes. Our models and processes enable us 
to identify and address complex and evolving risks in these unwanted activities, while maintaining a differentiated customer experience. In addition, 
we integrate historical fraud loss data and other transaction data into our risk models, which helps us identify emerging patterns and quantify fraud 
and compliance risks across all aspects of our customer interactions. These models and processes allow us to achieve and maintain fraud loss rates 
within desired guardrails, as well as tune our risk models to target other illegitimate activity.

Macroeconomic and Geopolitical Changes 

Global macroeconomic and geopolitical factors, including inflation, currency fluctuations, immigration, trade and regulatory policies, regional and 
global conflicts, global crises and natural disasters, unemployment, potential recession, and the rate of digital remittance adoption impact demand for 
our services, and the options that we can offer. These factors evolve over time, and periods of significant currency appreciation or depreciation, 
whether in send or receive currencies, changes to global migration patterns, and changes to digital adoption trends may shift the timing and volume of 
transactions, or the number of customers using our service. In addition, foreign currency movements impact our business in numerous ways. For 
example, as the U.S. dollar strengthens, we see customers in certain markets taking advantage of the ability to get more local currency to their 
families and friends. We also believe the strength of the U.S. dollar and the strength of other developed market currencies versus emerging market 
currencies make it easier to acquire new customers in certain markets. Conversely, expansion of our international business can negatively impact our 
consolidated results when these currencies weaken against the U.S. dollar. As we grow, we are becoming more diversified across geographies and 
currencies, which can help mitigate some localized geopolitical risks and macroeconomic trends. As foreign currency can have a significant impact 
on our business, we strive to maintain a diversified cash balance portfolio and frequently assess for foreign currency cash concentrations. See Note 2. 
Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a more comprehensive description of current business concentrations. 

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

Our revenue is generated on transaction fees charged to customers and foreign exchange spreads between the foreign exchange rate offered to 
customers and the foreign exchange rate on our currency purchases. Revenue is recognized when control of these services is transferred to our 
customers, which is the time the funds have been delivered to the intended recipient in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be 
entitled to in exchange for services provided.

Costs and expenses

Transaction Expenses 

Transaction expenses include fees paid to disbursement partners for paying funds to the recipient, provisions for transaction losses, and fees paid to 
payment processors for funding transactions. Transaction expenses also include credit losses, chargebacks, fraud prevention, fraud management tools, 
and compliance tools. Over the long term we expect to continue to benefit from increasing scale and improvements in our proprietary fraud models, 
although we expect some variability in transaction expense from quarter to quarter.
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Provisions for Transaction Losses 

We are exposed to transaction losses, including chargebacks, unauthorized credit card use, fraud associated with customer transactions, and other 
non-fraud-related losses. We establish reserves for such losses based on historical trends and any specific risks identified in processing customer 
transactions. This reserve is included in ‘Accrued expenses and other current liabilities’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The provision for 
transaction losses is included as a component of ‘Transaction expenses’ within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Customer Support and Operations

Customer support and operations expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses associated with our customer support and operations 
organization, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense, as well as third-party costs for customer support services, and 
travel and related office expenses. This includes our customer service teams which directly support our customers, consisting of online support and 
call centers, and other costs incurred to support our customers, including related telephony costs to support these teams, customer protection and risk 
teams, investments in tools to effectively service our customers, and increased customer self-service capabilities. Customer support and operations 
expenses also include corporate communication costs and professional services fees.

Marketing

Marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising costs used to attract new customers, including branding-related expenses. Marketing expenses 
also include personnel-related expenses associated with marketing organization staff, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation 
expense, promotions, costs for software subscription services dedicated for use by marketing functions, and outside services contracted for marketing 
purposes.

Technology and Development

Technology and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses for employees involved in the research, design, development, 
and maintenance of both new and existing products and services, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense. Technology 
and development expenses also include professional services fees and costs for software subscription services dedicated for use by our technology 
and development teams, as well as other company-wide technology tools. Technology and development expenses also include product and 
engineering teams used to support the development of both internal infrastructure and internal-use software, to the extent such costs do not qualify for 
capitalization. Technology and development costs are generally expensed as incurred and do not include software development costs which qualify 
for capitalization as internal-use software. The amortization of internal-use software costs which were capitalized in accordance with ASC 350-40, 
Intangibles - Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software, are separately presented under the caption ‘Depreciation and amortization’ within the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

We believe delivering new functionality and improving existing technology is critical to attract new customers and expand our relationship with 
existing customers. We expect to continue to make investments to expand our solutions in order to enhance our customers’ experience and 
satisfaction, and to attract new customers. 

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses for our finance, legal, corporate development, human resources, 
facilities, administrative personnel, and other leadership functions, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense. General and 
administrative expenses also include professional services fees, software subscriptions, facilities, indirect taxes, and other corporate expenses, 
including acquisition and integration expenses. Such expenses primarily include external legal, accounting, valuation, and due diligence costs, 
advisory and other professional services fees necessary to integrate acquired businesses. See Note 6. Business Combinations in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further details.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense includes depreciation on property and equipment and leasehold improvements, as well as the amortization of 
internal-use software costs and amortization of intangible assets.

Interest Income

Interest income consists primarily of interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents.

Interest Expense

Interest expense consists primarily of the interest expense on our borrowings.

Other Income (Expense), net

Other income (expense), net, primarily includes foreign currency exchange gains and losses due to remeasurement of certain foreign currency 
denominated monetary assets and liabilities.
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Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes consists primarily of income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business and state income taxes in 
the United States. We maintain a full valuation allowance for U.S. deferred tax assets, which includes net operating loss carryforwards. We expect to 
maintain this full valuation allowance in the U.S. for the foreseeable future as it is more likely than not that the assets will not be realized based on 
our history of losses.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table sets forth our results of operations together with the dollar and percentage change for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022, as well as the components of our consolidated statements of operations for the periods presented as a percentage of revenue:

Years Ended December 31, Change
Percentage of Total 

Revenue(1)

(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 Amount Percent 2023 2022
Revenue    .................................................................. $ 944,285 $ 653,560 $ 290,725  44 % NM NM
Costs and expenses
Transaction expenses     ..............................................  329,113  258,827  70,286  27 %  35 %  40 %
Customer support and operations  ............................  82,521  68,106  14,415  21 %  9 %  10 %
Marketing    ................................................................  234,417  170,970  63,447  37 %  25 %  26 %
Technology and development    .................................  219,939  138,719  81,220  59 %  23 %  21 %
General and administrative      .....................................  179,372  131,250  48,122  37 %  19 %  20 %
Depreciation and amortization    ................................  13,118  6,724  6,394  95 %  1 %  1 %

Total costs and expenses   ..........................  1,058,480  774,596  283,884  37 %  112 %  119 %
Loss from operations   ...............................  (114,195)  (121,036)  6,841  (6) %  (12) %  (19) %

Interest income     ........................................................  7,447  4,149  3,298  79 % NM NM
Interest expense     .......................................................  (2,352)  (1,302)  (1,050)  81 % NM NM
Other (expense) income, net  ...................................  (2,838)  5,213  (8,051)  (154) % NM NM

Loss before provision for income taxes   ...  (111,938)  (112,976)  1,038  (1) % NM NM
Provision for income taxes  ......................................  5,902  1,043  4,859  466 % NM NM

Net loss      .................................................... $ (117,840) $ (114,019) $ (3,821)  3 % NM NM

(1)An ‘NM’ reference indicates the percentage is not meaningful.

The following discussion and analysis is for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the same period in 2022, unless otherwise stated.

Revenue

Revenue increased $290.7 million, or 44%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase 
was primarily driven by an increase in active customers year over year, inclusive of a 41% increase in active customers for the three months ended 
December 31, 2023, compared to the three months ended December 31, 2022, and continued strength in the retention of existing customers. Revenue 
derived from each transaction varies based on a number of attributes, including the funding method chosen by the customer, the size of the 
transaction, the currency to be ultimately disbursed, the rate at which the currency was disbursed, the disbursement method chosen by the customer, 
and the countries to which the funds are transferred. Rewire contributed approximately 2% to the year over year revenue growth rate.

As a reflection of the growth in active customers year over year, send volume increased 38% to $39.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2023, 
as compared to $28.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

Transaction Expenses

Transaction expenses increased $70.3 million, or 27%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The 
increase was primarily due to a $70.1 million increase in direct costs associated with processing a higher volume of our customers’ remittance 
transactions and the disbursement of our customers’ funds to their recipients.

As a percentage of revenue, transaction expenses decreased to 35% for the year ended December 31, 2023, from 40% for the year ended December 
31, 2022. The decrease was primarily due to better economics with partners as we are able to secure better terms with our payment and disbursement 
partners as a result of increasing scale, and also due to improvements in our ability to prevent fraud and other losses.
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Customer Support and Operations Expenses

Customer support and operations expenses increased $14.4 million, or 21%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily driven by a $10.2 million increase in third-party and internal personnel costs to support customer 
operations, a $3.8 million increase in telephony costs as we supported an increased volume of active customers, and a $0.7 million increase due to 
restructuring costs primarily related to severance (refer to Note 14. Restructuring Initiatives in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information on the restructuring costs).

As a percentage of revenue, customer support and operations expenses decreased to 9% for the year ended December 31, 2023, from 10% for the 
year ended December 31, 2022, due to process improvements and automation driving scale across customer support headcount at internal and third-
party customer support sites. 

Marketing Expenses

Marketing expenses increased $63.4 million, or 37%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, 
primarily due to an increase of $47.2 million in advertising expense and other targeted marketing expense, including online and offline marketing 
spend and promotion costs to acquire new customers. Personnel-related costs increased by $14.9 million, driven by a 60% increase in marketing 
headcount compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, inclusive of a $5.7 million increase in stock-based compensation expense. Contributing to 
the increase in our marketing headcount expense and advertising expense is the acquisition of Rewire. 

As a percentage of revenue, marketing expenses decreased to 25% for the year ended December 31, 2023, from 26% for the year ended December 
31, 2022.

Technology and Development Expenses

Technology and development expenses increased $81.2 million, or 59%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2022. The increase was driven by $68.3 million in personnel-related expenses, inclusive of a $28.5 million increase in stock-based 
compensation expense, resulting from a 53% increase in headcount compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, as part of our continued 
investment in our technology platform. The increase in technology and development expense was also driven by a $7.9 million increase in software 
costs for cloud services to support incremental transaction volume and a $3.1 million increase in professional services fees. Contributing to the 
increase in our technology and development headcount expense is the acquisition of Rewire.

As a percentage of revenue, technology and development expenses increased to 23% for the year ended December 31, 2023, from 21% for the year 
ended December 31, 2022, driven by an increase in headcount and stock-based compensation expense due to hiring additional personnel and 
contractors who are directly engaged in developing and enhancing our platform and complementary new products, enabling increasing automation, 
and providing technology support and security. Contributing to the increase as a percentage of revenue is the acquisition of Rewire.

General and Administrative Expenses

Included in the year ended December 31, 2022 results is approximately $5.2 million of stock-based compensation expense related to prior periods 
that was identified and corrected in the three months ended June 30, 2022. The discussion below excludes this amount from the year ended December 
31, 2022 results in all places, for comparative purposes. Excluding the aforementioned amount, general and administrative expenses would have 
increased $53.3 million, or 42% for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. 

General and administrative expenses increased $53.3 million, or 42%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 
31, 2022, exclusive of the aforementioned stock-based compensation adjustment. This increase was primarily driven by a $28.3 million increase in 
personnel-related expenses due to a 41% increase in general and administrative headcount compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 and 
includes a $12.1 million increase in stock-based compensation expense. The increase in general and administrative expenses was also driven by a 
$6.5 million increase in indirect taxes, a $6.1 million increase in professional fees, a $4.4 million increase in other employee-related costs, a $2.9 
million increase in charitable contributions primarily related to our annual Pledge 1% donation, $2.7 million increase in facilities costs, and a $1.1 
million increase in the fair value of the holdback liability associated with the Rewire acquisition. Contributing to the increase in our general and 
administrative headcount expense, facilities costs, professional fees, other employee-related costs, and indirect taxes is the acquisition of Rewire.

As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expenses remained flat at 19% for the year ended December 31, 2023 from the year ended 
December 31, 2022. 

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased $6.4 million, or 95%, for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to the year ended December 31, 
2022. This increase is primarily driven by a $5.2 million increase in the amortization of acquired intangible assets, primarily related to the acquisition 
of Rewire in the first quarter of 2023, and a $1.2 million increase in the amortization of internally developed software.

Interest Income

Interest income increased by $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase is 
primarily due to an increase in interest rates and an increase in average invested balances throughout the year.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense increased by $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due 
to higher draws on the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility.

Other (Expense) Income, Net

Other (expense) income, net is primarily driven by unrealized losses and gains on foreign exchange remeasurements of certain foreign currency 
denominated monetary assets and liabilities.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes increased $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, 
primarily due to uncertain tax positions recorded related to intercompany transactions not anticipated to recur, and taxable income in foreign 
jurisdictions in the year ended December 31, 2023.

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

The following table sets forth our results of operations together with the dollar and percentage change for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2021, as well as the components of our consolidated statements of operations for the periods presented as a percentage of revenue:

Years Ended December 31, Change
Percentage of Total 

Revenue(1)

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 Amount Percent 2022 2021
Revenue ................................................................... $ 653,560 $ 458,605 $ 194,955  43 % NM NM
Costs and expenses
Transaction expenses     ..............................................  258,827  191,606  67,221  35 %  40 %  42 %
Customer support and operations  ............................  68,106  45,525  22,581  50 %  10 %  10 %
Marketing    ................................................................  170,970  120,906  50,064  41 %  26 %  26 %
Technology and development    .................................  138,719  64,093  74,626  116 %  21 %  14 %
General and administrative      .....................................  131,250  70,941  60,309  85 %  20 %  15 %
Depreciation and amortization    ................................  6,724  5,256  1,468  28 %  1 %  1 %

Total costs and expenses   ..........................  774,596  498,327  276,269  55 %  119 %  109 %
Loss from operations   ...............................  (121,036)  (39,722)  (81,314)  205 %  (19) %  (9) %

Interest income     ........................................................  4,149  140  4,009  2864 % NM NM
Interest expense     .......................................................  (1,302)  (1,256)  (46)  4 % NM NM
Other income, net     ....................................................  5,213  3,125  2,088  67 % NM NM

Loss before provision for income taxes   ...  (112,976)  (37,713)  (75,263)  200 % NM NM
Provision for income taxes  ......................................  1,043  1,043  —  — % NM NM

Net loss      .................................................... $ (114,019) $ (38,756) $ (75,263)  194 % NM NM

(1)An ‘NM’ reference indicates the percentage is not meaningful.

The following discussion and analysis is for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the same period in 2021, unless otherwise stated.

Revenue

Revenue increased $195.0 million, or 43%, for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the year ended December 31, 2021. This increase 
was primarily driven by growth in send volume, which increased $8.2 billion, or 40%, to over $28.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2022, 
compared to $20.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021, reflecting a 48% increase in active customers year over year and continued strength 
in the retention of existing customers.

While not a primary driver of results, foreign currency movements, particularly the recent strength in the U.S. dollar, impacted our business in the 
year ended December 31, 2022. For example, we saw customers taking advantage of the ability to get more local currency to their families and 
friends. The strength in our primary send currencies relative to receive market currencies was also a benefit to new customer acquisition and retention 
in certain markets. We also saw strong revenue growth in international send countries outside of North America as our business continues to scale, 
contributing to greater diversification of our revenue globally. This increase in global revenue growth was partially offset by foreign currency 
translation related to our international revenue, and currencies such as the British Pound and Euro weakened against the U.S. dollar. For further 
information about our revenue by major geography, see Note 3. Revenue in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II Item 
8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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Transaction Expenses

Transaction expenses increased $67.2 million, or 35%, for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the year ended December 31, 2021. The 
increase was primarily due to a $49.4 million increase in direct costs associated with processing a higher volume of our customers’ remittance 
transactions and the disbursement of our customers’ funds to their recipients, a $13.9 million increase in fraud and other losses largely driven by 
growth in new customers and send volume, and a $3.9 million increase in other transaction expenses, primarily related to software and tools that 
support our compliance and risk operations. 

As a percentage of revenue, transaction expenses decreased to 40% for the year ended December 31, 2022, from 42% for the year ended December 
31, 2021, primarily due to better economics with partners as we are able to drive better terms with our payment and disbursement partners as a result 
of increasing scale.

Customer Support and Operations Expenses

Customer support and operations expenses increased $22.6 million, or 50%, for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily driven by an $8.7 million increase in internal personnel costs at our sites in the Philippines, 
Nicaragua, and Ireland that support customer operations, an $8.7 million increase in third-party customer support costs, a $3.9 million increase in 
software and telephony costs as we supported more active customers, and $1.3 million increase in other operating expenses.

As a percentage of revenue, customer support and operations expenses remained flat at 10% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to 
the year ended December 31, 2021.

Marketing Expenses

Marketing expenses increased $50.1 million, or 41%, for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the year ended December 31, 2021, due 
primarily to an increase of $34.2 million in advertising expense, including online and offline marketing spend and promotion costs to acquire new 
customers. Personnel-related costs increased by $12.4 million, driven by a 29% increase in marketing headcount compared to the same period in 
2021, and inclusive of an $8.2 million increase in stock-based compensation expense. The increase in marketing expenses was also driven by a $2.2 
million increase in other indirect marketing, a $0.5 million increase in professional fees, a $0.5 million increase in software costs, and a $0.4 million 
increase in employee-related expenses, partially offset by a $0.1 million decrease in other operating expenses.

As a percentage of revenue, marketing expenses remained flat at 26% for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Technology and Development Expenses

Technology and development expenses increased $74.6 million, or 116%, for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2021. The increase was driven by $64.4 million in personnel-related expenses resulting from a 45% increase in headcount compared to 
the same period in 2021 undertaken as part of our continued investment in our technology platform and included a $39.5 million increase in stock-
based compensation expense. The increase in technology and development expense was also driven by a $6.7 million increase in software costs for 
cloud services to support incremental transaction volume, a $1.4 million increase in employee-related expenses, a $1.4 million increase in 
professional fees, and a $0.7 million increase in facilities costs.

As a percentage of revenue, technology and development expenses increased to 21% for the year ended December 31, 2022, from 14% for the year 
ended December 31, 2021, driven by an increase in stock-based compensation expense and headcount due to hiring additional personnel and 
contractors who are directly engaged in developing our platform and providing technology support and security.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased $60.3 million, or 85%, for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the year ended December 
31, 2021. This increase was primarily driven by a $46.8 million increase in personnel-related costs due to a 61% increase in general and 
administrative headcount compared to the same period in 2021 and inclusive of a $29.9 million increase in stock-based compensation expense. 
Contributing to the increase in general and administrative expenses were $3.5 million of legal, accounting, and diligence acquisition and integration 
expenses, primarily driven by the acquisition of Rewire, $7.6 million in professional fees, $3.8 million in corporate costs, $2.6 million in employee-
related costs, $2.6 million in facilities costs, and $1.0 million in software, partially offset by a $4.7 million decrease in charitable contributions, a $2.7 
million decrease in indirect taxes, and a $0.2 million decrease in other operating expenses. The increase in headcount and professional, regulatory, 
and corporate fees has been to support the growth of the business and ongoing public company costs, including incremental D&O insurance required 
as a public company.

As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expenses increased to 20% for the year ended December 31, 2022, from 15% for the year 
ended December 31, 2021, due to an increase in headcount, stock-based compensation, and ongoing public company costs.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased $1.5 million, or 28%, for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the year ended December 31, 
2021. This increase is primarily due to an increase in depreciation for computers and leasehold improvements and the amortization of internally 
developed software and intangible assets.
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Interest Income

Interest income increased by $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021, due to an 
increase in yield on interest bearing accounts driven by the increase in the U.S. Federal interest rate.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased by an immaterial amount for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net, increased $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to 
unrealized gains on foreign exchange remeasurements related to transactions associated with high-volume balance sheet amounts.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes was flat for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We regularly review the following non-GAAP measure to evaluate our performance, identify trends affecting our business, prepare financial 
projections, and make strategic decisions. We believe that this non-GAAP measure provides meaningful supplemental information for management 
and investors in assessing our historical and future operating performance. The calculation of this non-GAAP measure discussed below may differ 
from other similarly titled metrics used by other companies, analysts, or investors.

We use Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure to supplement net loss. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as net loss adjusted by (i) interest 
(income) expense, net; (ii) provision for income taxes; (iii) noncash charge of depreciation and amortization; (iv) gains and losses from the 
remeasurement of foreign currency assets and liabilities into their functional currency; (v) noncash charges associated with our donation of common 
stock in connection with our Pledge 1% commitment; (vi) noncash stock-based compensation expense, net; and (vii) certain acquisition, integration, 
restructuring, and related costs.

Adjusted EBITDA is a key output measure used by our management to evaluate our operating performance, inform future operating plans, and make 
strategic long-term decisions, including those relating to operating expenses and the allocation of internal resources. 

Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as a financial measure, should be considered as supplemental in nature, and is not meant as a substitute for the 
related financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP. These limitations include the following:

• although depreciation and amortization are noncash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the 
future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditures 
or other capital commitments;

• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the effect of income taxes that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;
• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the effect of gains and losses from the remeasurement of foreign currency assets and liabilities into their 

functional currency;
• Adjusted EBITDA excludes noncash charges associated with the donation of our common stock in connection with our Pledge 1% 

commitment, which is recorded in general and administrative expenses;
• Adjusted EBITDA excludes stock-based compensation expense, which has recently been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, 

a significant recurring expense for our business and an important part of our compensation strategy; 
• Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain transaction costs, related to acquisition, integration, restructuring, and related costs. The acquisition and 

integration costs are primarily related to the Rewire acquisition and primarily include external legal, accounting, valuation, and due 
diligence costs, advisory and other professional services fees necessary to integrate acquired businesses, and the change in the fair value of 
the holdback liability as part of the acquisition of Rewire. The restructuring costs are primarily related to severance and other associated 
costs; and 

• other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently from how we calculate this measure or 
not at all, which reduces its usefulness as a comparative measure.
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The following table sets forth a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA, the most directly comparable financial measure prepared in 
accordance with GAAP, for each of the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Net loss .......................................................................................................................... $ (117,840) $ (114,019) $ (38,756) 
Add:

Interest (income) expense, net  ....................................................................................  (5,095)  (2,847)  1,116 
Provision for income taxes   .........................................................................................  5,902  1,043  1,043 
Depreciation and amortization  ...................................................................................  13,118  6,724  5,256 
Foreign exchange loss (gain) ......................................................................................  2,603  (5,261)  (3,125) 
Donation of common stock(1)

    .....................................................................................  4,600  1,972  6,933 
Stock-based compensation expense, net     ....................................................................  136,967  95,293  17,016 
Acquisition, integration, restructuring, and related costs(2)

    ........................................  4,197  3,462  — 
Adjusted EBITDA     ........................................................................................................ $ 44,452 $ (13,633) $ (10,517) 

__________________
(1) Refer to Note 11. Common Stock within the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further 
detail on the donation of common stock.
(2) Acquisition, integration, restructuring, and related costs for the year ended December 31, 2023 consists of expenses related to the acquisition and integration of 
Rewire (O.S.G.) Research and Development Ltd., as well as restructuring charges incurred. Acquisition and integration expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 
were $2.8 million. These acquisition and integration expenses included the fair value of the holdback liability of $1.1 million and fees incurred for acquisition and 
integration costs of $1.7 million. Restructuring charges incurred for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $1.4 million. Refer to Note 6. Business Combinations and 
Note 14. Restructuring Initiatives within the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more 
information on the acquisition and integration costs and restructuring costs, respectively. Acquisition, integration, restructuring, and related costs for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 primarily represent expenses related to the acquisition of Rewire.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity and Material Future Cash Requirements

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents of $323.7 million and $300.6 million, 
respectively, as well as funds available under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility, which we entered into in September 2021. The 2021 Revolving 
Credit Facility was amended on December 20, 2023 to increase the revolving commitments from $250.0 million (including a $60.0 million letter of 
credit sub-facility) to $325.0 million. We have historically financed our operations and capital expenditures primarily through cash generated from 
operations including transaction fees and foreign exchange spreads. In recent periods, we have supplemented those cash flows with borrowings on 
our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility, primarily to support customer transaction volumes during peak periods, which we expect to continue to do in the 
future. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we cumulatively borrowed $764.0 million against this credit facility, of which we repaid 
$634.0 million. The outstanding balance of $130.0 million as of December 31, 2023 was subsequently repaid the following business day on January 
2, 2024. Operations continue to be substantially funded by the existing cash we have on hand and ongoing utilization of the 2021 Revolving Credit 
Facility (including the letter of credit sub-facility), which has included active borrowings and repayments during 2023. As of December 31, 2023, we 
had unused borrowing capacity of $146.8 million.

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents, and funds available under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to meet our working 
capital requirements for at least the next twelve months. Our material cash requirements include funds to support current and potential operating 
activities, capital expenditures, and other commitments, and could include other uses of cash, such as strategic investments. In addition, on January 5, 
2023, we acquired 100% of the outstanding equity interests of Rewire (as defined herein) for approximately $77.9 million, which includes the fair 
value of cash and equity issued, or to be issued, to selling shareholders. A portion of these proceeds were held back at closing for any potential 
indemnity claims, which will be released after a 15-month holdback period, subject to any deductions, the majority of which will be settled in cash, 
with a portion in Company common stock. As of December 31, 2023, the fair value of the liability held back that will be settled in cash and Company 
common stock was $13.0 million and is expected to be settled in the next 12 months. 

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the expansion of our sales and marketing 
activities, the timing and extent of expansion into new corridors, and the timing of introductions of new products and enhancements of existing 
products, and other strategic investments. Furthermore, certain jurisdictions where we operate require us to hold eligible liquid assets, based on 
regulatory or legal requirements, equal to the aggregate amount of all customer balances. In addition, as discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, we expect that our operating expenses may continue to increase to support the continued growth of our business, including increased 
investments in our technology to support product improvements, new product development, and geographic expansion. We also routinely enter into 
marketing and advertising contracts, software subscriptions and other service arrangements, including cloud infrastructure arrangements, which are 
generally entered into in the ordinary course of business, and that can include minimum purchase quantities, requiring us to utilize cash on hand to 
fulfill these amounts. Refer to “Contractual Obligations and Commitments” discussed further below. 
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In the future, we may also attempt to raise additional capital through the sale of equity securities or through equity-linked securities, and the 
ownership of our existing stockholders would be diluted. In addition, if we raise additional financing by incurring additional indebtedness, we may be 
subject to increased fixed payment obligations and could also be subject to additional restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur 
additional debt, and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. Any future indebtedness we incur 
may result in terms that are unfavorable to equity investors. There can be no assurances that we will be able to raise additional capital. The inability 
to raise capital would adversely affect our ability to achieve our business objectives.

The following table shows a summary of our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Net cash (used in) provided by:

Operating activities(1)
    ............................................................................................... $ (53,590) $ (108,656) $ (18,391) 

Investing activities     ...................................................................................................  (50,037)  (7,309)  (4,534) 
Financing activities(1)

   ...............................................................................................  126,650  14,587  238,203 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted 
cash  1,272  (1,201)  (40) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 24,295 $ (102,579) $ 215,238 

_________________
(1) Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. Refer to Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The year over year change in our cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash balances is primarily driven by timing of customer transaction-related 
balances as well as activity related to our acquisition of Rewire, further discussed below.

Cash Flows

Operating Activities

Our main sources of operating cash are transaction fees charged to customers and foreign exchange spreads on transactions. Our primary uses of cash 
from operating activities have been for advertising expenses used to attract new customers, transaction expenses that include fees paid to payment 
processors and disbursement partners, personnel-related expenses, technology, and other general corporate expenditures. Our changes in operating 
cash flows are heavily impacted by the timing of customer transactions and, in particular, the day of the week that the year end falls on, including 
holidays and long weekends. For example, we generally have higher prefunding amounts if the year closes on a weekend or in advance of a long 
weekend, such as a holiday, which creates variability in customer transaction related balances period over period and can reduce our cash position at 
a particular point in time. These balances within our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows include disbursement prefunding, customer funds 
receivable, customer liabilities, and disbursement postfunding liabilities and book overdrafts, both of which are included within the line item 
‘Accrued expenses and other liabilities.’

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in operating activities was $53.6 million, which was primarily driven by an increase in overall 
growth in our global network of funding and disbursement partnerships, and an increase in volume of customer transactions. Specifically, as a result 
of both growth and timing, we saw an increase in disbursement prefunding of $31.8 million and customer funds receivable of $183.4 million, offset 
by an increase in customer liabilities of $61.7 million and accrued expenses and other liabilities, which are inclusive of disbursement postfunding 
liabilities and book overdrafts, of $47.4 million, which were the key drivers for the unfavorable changes in our operating assets and liabilities of 
$91.2 million. This change in our operating assets and liabilities was also partially offset by cash generated from our operations, when excluding the 
$155.4 million of noncash charges included within the $117.8 million net loss for the period.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was $108.7 million, which was primarily driven by the timing of funding 
customer transactions year over year including impact of weekend and holiday timing, compared to the prior year, which ended on a Friday. 
Contributing to the changes was an overall growth in our business, increasing our volume of customer related balances as compared to the prior 
period. Specifically, as a result of both growth and timing, we saw an increase in customer funds receivable of $126.9 million, which was the key 
driver for the unfavorable changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $99.0 million at the end of 2022. Also affecting the net cash used in 
operating activities was a net loss of $114.0 million, substantially offset by $104.3 million of noncash charges included within net loss for the period.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in operating activities was $18.4 million, which primarily consisted of a net loss of $38.8 
million, substantially offset by excluding approximately $29.7 million of noncash charges included within net loss for the period, as well as 
unfavorable changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $9.3 million. The main drivers for the unfavorable change in operating assets and 
liabilities were an increase in disbursement prefunding of $18.1 million, in line with the growth in our business and related to funding disbursement 
partners for expected send volume over a long holiday weekend, as well as an increase of $17.3 million in customer funds receivable, partially offset 
by an increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities of $26.1 million due to the timing of cash payments to vendors.
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Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities consists primarily of purchases of property and equipment, capitalization of internal-use software, and cash paid for 
acquisitions of businesses, net of acquired cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash.

Net cash used in investing activities was $50.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $42.7 million, compared to net cash 
used in investing activities of $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This increase was primarily driven by the acquisition of Rewire in 
the first quarter of 2023. 

Net cash used in investing activities was $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, an increase of $2.8 million, compared to net cash used 
in investing activities of $4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. This increase was due to purchases of property and equipment to 
support the increase in headcount and higher capitalization of internal-use software costs.

Financing Activities

Cash flows from financing activities consists primarily of borrowings on our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility and proceeds from the exercise of stock 
options, offset by repayments of our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility borrowings, and other long-term debt. Cash provided by financing activities also 
historically consisted of proceeds from our IPO and concurrent private placement, previous issuances of redeemable convertible preferred stock, 
offset by the payment of debt issuances costs.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $126.7 million, a increase of $112.1 million, compared to net 
cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 of $14.6 million. This increase was primarily driven by net borrowings 
on our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility of $130.0 million, offset by the repayment of assumed indebtedness of $17.1 million that occurred in the year 
ended December 31, 2023.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $14.6 million, a decrease of $223.6 million, compared to the net 
cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021. This decrease was primarily driven by the proceeds from the issuance of 
common stock upon our IPO and concurrent private placement, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering costs of $305.2 
million. This was offset by the net repayments on our 2021 Revolving Credit Facility of $80.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our principal commitments consist of standby letters of credit, long-term leases, and other purchase commitments entered into in the normal course 
of business. In addition, we routinely enter into marketing and advertising contracts, software subscriptions or other service arrangements, including 
cloud infrastructure arrangements, and compliance-application related arrangements that contractually obligate us to purchase services, including 
minimum service quantities, unless we give notice of cancellation based on the applicable terms of the agreements. Most contracts are typically 
cancellable within a period of less than one year, although some of our larger software or cloud service subscriptions require multi-year 
commitments. As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately $43.9 million in total purchase commitments under these arrangements, of which 
$18.5 million are expected to be paid within the next year. Changes in our business needs, contractual cancellation provisions, fluctuating interest 
rates, and other factors may result in actual payments differing from the estimates. We cannot provide certainty regarding the timing and amounts of 
these payments.

For further discussion of commitments and contingencies, also refer to Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies and Note 20. Leases in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2023, we had no material off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material 
effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources. From time to time we do 
enter into short-term leases that have lease terms of less than 12 months, and are typically month-to-month in nature. As described in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, we elected not to record leases on our Consolidated Balance Sheets if the lease term is 12 months or less. For 
further information on our lease arrangements refer to Note 20. Leases in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are prepared in accordance with GAAP. 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue, expenses, and related disclosures. Our estimates are based on historical experience and on 
various other factors that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ significantly from the estimates made by 
management. To the extent that there are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial 
condition, results of operations, and cash flows will be affected.

While our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the following critical accounting policies involve a greater degree of judgment and complexity. Accordingly, 
these are the policies we believe are the most important to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results.
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Revenue Recognition

Our primary source of revenue is generated from our remittance business. Revenue is earned from transaction fees charged to customers and the 
foreign exchange spreads earned between the foreign exchange rate offered to customers and the foreign exchange rate on our currency purchases. 
Revenue is recognized when control of these services is transferred to our customers, which is the time the funds have been delivered to the intended 
recipient in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for services provided. We account for revenue in 
accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which includes the following 
steps:

(i) identification of the contract with a customer; 
(ii) identification of the performance obligations in the contract; 
(iii) determination of the transaction price;
(iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and 
(v) recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation. 

Customers engage us to perform one integrated service —collect the customer’s money and deliver funds to the intended recipient in the currency 
requested. Payment is generally due from the customer upfront upon initiation of a transaction, when the customer simultaneously agrees to our terms 
and conditions. 

Revenue is derived from each transaction and varies based on the funding method chosen by the customer, the size of the transaction, the currency to 
be ultimately disbursed, the rate at which the currency was purchased, the disbursement method chosen by the customer, and the countries to which 
the funds are transferred. Our contract with customers can be terminated by the customer without a termination penalty up until the time the funds 
have been delivered to the intended recipient. Therefore, our contracts are defined at the transaction level and do not extend beyond the service 
already provided. 

Our service comprises a single performance obligation to complete transactions for our customers. Using compliance and risk assessment tools, we 
perform a transaction risk assessment on individual transactions to determine whether a transaction should be accepted. When we accept a transaction 
and process the designated payment method of the customer, we become obligated to our customer to complete the payment transaction, at which 
time a receivable is recorded, along with a corresponding customer liability. None of our contracts contain a significant financing component. 

We recognize transaction revenue on a gross basis as we are the principal for fulfilling payment transactions. As the principal to the transaction, we 
control the service of completing payments on our payment platform. We bear primary responsibility for the fulfillment of the payment service, are 
the merchant of record, contract directly with our customers, control the product specifications, and define the value proposition of our services. We 
are also responsible for providing customer support. Further, we have full discretion over determining the fee charged to our customers, which is 
independent of the cost we incur in instances where we may utilize payment processors or other financial institutions to perform services on our 
behalf. These fees paid to payment processors and other financial institutions are recognized as ‘Transaction expenses’ within the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. We do not have any capitalized contract acquisition costs.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation expense by calculating the estimated fair value of each employee and nonemployee award at the grant date 
or modification date. Stock-based compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is 
typically the vesting period of the respective award. Forfeitures are recognized in the period in which they occur. 

For restricted stock units that are granted under our equity incentive plans, we estimate the fair value of the award based on the fair market value of 
our common stock on the date of grant. For stock options granted under our equity incentive plans, and purchase rights issued under our employee 
stock purchase plan, we use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of the award at the grant date. The model utilizes the 
fair market value of our common stock at the measurement date and also incorporates the following assumptions to determine the fair value of the 
award: 

Expected term. We calculate the expected term based on the average period the options are expected to remain outstanding using the simplified 
method, generally calculated as the midpoint of the requisite service period and the contractual term of the award. 

Expected volatility. We base our estimate of expected volatility on the historical volatility of our common stock as well as the historical volatility of 
comparable companies from a representative peer group selected based on industry, financial, and market capitalization data. 

Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate used in the model is based on the implied yield currently available for the U.S. Treasury securities at 
maturity with an equivalent term. 

Expected dividend yield. Our expected dividend yield is zero as we have never declared nor paid any dividends and do not currently expect to do so 
in the future. 
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Common Stock Valuation

Prior to the completion of our IPO, the fair values of the shares of common stock underlying our stock-based awards were determined by our board 
of directors, with input from management, considering numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair value of the Company’s 
common stock at each meeting in which awards were approved. The values of stock-based awards granted were determined in accordance with the 
guidelines outlined in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities 
Issued as Compensation. The assumptions we used in the valuation model were based on future expectations combined with management judgment.

Application of these approaches and methodologies involved the use of estimates, judgments, and assumptions that are highly complex and 
subjective, such as those regarding our expected future revenue, expenses, future cash flows, discount rates, market multiples, the selection of 
comparable public companies, and the probability of and timing associated with possible future events, at the time of such historical grants prior to 
our IPO. After the completion of the IPO, the fair value of our common stock is determined by the closing price, on the date of grant, of its common 
stock, which is traded on the NASDAQ. 

For further disclosure of the assumptions used in determining the grant date fair value of stock-based awards, refer to Note 13. Stock-Based 
Compensation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are subject to an impairment assessment annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be fully recoverable. Long-lived assets, other than goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, are 
tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the carrying value of the asset 
cannot be recovered from estimated future cash flows, undiscounted and without interest, the fair value of the asset is calculated using the present 
value of estimated net future cash flows. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment is recorded.

The assessment of impairment involves the use of accounting estimates and assumptions, changes in which could materially impact our financial 
condition or operating performance if actual results differ from such estimates and assumptions. In performing the impairment assessment of 
goodwill, we have an option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether events or circumstances indicate it is more likely than not that the 
fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount. We consider factors in performing a qualitative assessment, including, but not 
limited to, general macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, company financial performance, changes in strategy, and other 
relevant entity-specific events. If we elect to bypass the qualitative assessment or do not pass the qualitative assessment, a quantitative assessment is 
then performed. The quantitative assessment compares the carrying value to the fair value of goodwill, with the difference representing an 
impairment loss.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in 
Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk is the potential for economic losses to be incurred on market risk-sensitive instruments arising from adverse changes in market factors 
such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, and equity investment risk. Management establishes and oversees the implementation of 
policies governing our investing, funding, and foreign currency activities in order to mitigate market risks. We monitor risk exposures on an ongoing 
basis.

Credit Risk

We have a limited number of pay-in payment processors and therefore we are exposed to credit risk relating to those pay-in payment providers if, in 
the course of a transaction, we were to disburse funds to the recipient but the pay-in payment provider did not deliver our customer’s funds to us (for 
example, due to their illiquidity). We mitigate this credit risk by engaging with reputable pay-in payment providers and entering into written 
agreements with pay-in payment providers allowing for legal recourse. We are also exposed to credit risk relating to many of our disbursement 
partners when we prefund or remit funds in advance of having collected funds from our customers through our pay-in payment processors, if our 
disbursement partners fail to disburse funds according to our instructions (for example, due to their insufficient capital). We mitigate these credit 
exposures by engaging with reputable disbursement partners and performing a credit review before onboarding each disbursement partner and by 
negotiating for post-funding arrangements where circumstances permit. We also periodically review credit ratings, or, if unavailable, other financial 
documentation, of both our pay-in payment providers and disbursement partners. We have not experienced significant losses during the periods 
presented.

Table of Contents

56



Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Given the nature of our business, we are exposed to foreign exchange rate risk in a number of ways. Our principal exposure to foreign exchange rate 
risk includes: 

• Exposure to foreign currency exchange risk on our cross-border payments if exchange rates fluctuate between initiation of the transaction 
and transaction disbursement to the recipient. We disburse transactions in multiple foreign currencies, including most notably the Indian 
rupee, the Mexican peso, and the Philippine peso. In the vast majority of cases, the recipient disbursement occurs within a day of sending, 
which mitigates foreign currency exchange risk. To enable disbursement in the receive currency, we prefund many disbursement partners 
one to two business days in advance based on expected send volume. Foreign exchange rate risk due to differences between the timing of 
transaction initiation and payment varies based on the day of the week and the bank holiday schedule; for example, disbursement 
prefunding is typically largest before long weekends.

• While the majority of our revenue and expenses are denominated in the U.S. dollar, certain of our international operations are conducted in 
foreign currencies, a significant portion of which occur in Canada and Europe. Changes in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to other 
currencies may affect revenue and other operating results as expressed in U.S. dollars. In addition, certain of our international subsidiary 
financial statements are denominated in and operated in currencies outside of the U.S. dollar. As such, the consolidated financial statements 
will continue to remain subject to the impact of foreign currency translation, as our international business continues to grow. In periods 
where other currencies weaken against the U.S. dollar, this can negatively impact our consolidated results which are reported in U.S. 
dollars.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, a hypothetical uniform 10% strengthening or weakening in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to other 
currencies in which our net loss was generated, would have resulted in a decrease or increase to the fair value of our customer transaction-related 
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the subsidiaries’ functional currencies of approximately $19.3 million and $10.2 million, 
respectively, based on our unhedged exposure to foreign currency at that date. There are inherent limitations in this sensitivity analysis, primarily due 
to the following assumptions: (1) foreign exchange rate movements are linear and instantaneous, (2) exposure is static, and (3) customer transaction 
behavior due to currency rate changes is static. As a result, the analysis is unable to reflect the potential effects of more complex market changes that 
could arise, which may positively or negatively affect our results from operations. For example, both the disbursement prefunding balance and the 
customer funds liability balance (and resulting net impact to our net currency position) may be highly variable day to day. In addition, changes in 
foreign exchange rates may impact customer behavior by altering the timing or volume of transactions sent through our platform. For example, an 
increase in the value of a send currency against a receive currency may accelerate the timing or amount of remittances.

To the extent practicable, we minimize our foreign currency exposures by maintaining natural hedges between our current assets and current 
liabilities in similarly denominated foreign currencies. At this time, we do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments in an attempt to 
hedge our foreign currency exchange risk. We may do so in the future, but it is difficult to predict the impact hedging activities would have on our 
operating results. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Remitly Global, Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Remitly Global, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 
2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive loss, of redeemable convertible preferred stock and 
stockholders' equity (deficit) and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, including the related notes 
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as 
of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all 
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - 
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk.

Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinions.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Rewire (O.S.G.) Research and 
Development Ltd. (“Rewire”) from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, because it was acquired by 
the Company in a purchase business combination during 2023. We have also excluded Rewire from our audit of internal control over financial 
reporting. Rewire is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues excluded from management’s assessment and our audit of 
internal control over financial reporting represent less than 2% and 2%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of 
and for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have 
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were 
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the 
consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit 
matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the 
critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Revenue Recognition

As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company's consolidated revenue was $944.3 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023. The Company's primary source of revenue is generated from its remittance business. Revenue is earned from transaction fees 
charged to customers and the foreign exchange spreads earned between the foreign exchange rate offered to customers and the foreign exchange rate 
on the Company's currency purchases. Revenue is recognized when control of these services is transferred to the Company's customers, which is the 
time the funds have been delivered to the intended recipient in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in 
exchange for services provided. The Company's service comprises a single performance obligation to complete transactions for the Company's 
customers.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition is a critical audit matter are a high 
degree of auditor effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to the Company's revenue recognition.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls related to the revenue recognition process, 
including controls over the completeness, accuracy and occurrence of revenue recognized. These procedures also included, among others, testing the 
completeness, accuracy and occurrence of revenue recognized for a sample of revenue transactions by (i) obtaining and inspecting source documents, 
which included customer transaction records, incoming cash receipts, and cash disbursement statements, and (ii) evaluating the appropriateness of 
revenue recognized based on the terms of the related customer transaction record.

Acquisition of Rewire – Valuation of Developed Technology

As described in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 5, 2023, the Company completed its acquisition of Rewire for total 
consideration transferred of $77.9 million. Of the identifiable assets acquired, $12 million of the purchase consideration was allocated to developed 
technology. The fair values of intangible assets were estimated by management using inputs classified as Level 3 under the income and cost 
approaches, including the multi-period excess earnings method for developed technology. The key assumptions in applying the income approach 
used in valuing the identified intangible assets include revenue growth rates for a hypothetical market participant, selected discount rate, as well as 
migration curves for developed technology.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation of developed technology acquired in the 
acquisition of Rewire is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the fair value estimate of the 
developed technology acquired; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating 
management’s significant assumptions related to revenue growth rates for a hypothetical market participant, selected discount rate, and migration 
curves; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the acquisition accounting, including 
controls over management’s valuation of the developed technology acquired. These procedures also included, among others (i) reading the purchase 
agreement; (ii) testing management’s process for developing the fair value estimate of the developed technology acquired; (iii) evaluating the 
appropriateness of the multi-period excess earnings method used by management; (iv) testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data 
used in the multi-period excess earnings method; and (v) evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management related to 
revenue growth rates for a hypothetical market participant, selected discount rate, and migration curves. Evaluating management’s assumptions 
related to revenue growth rates for a hypothetical market participant involved considering (i) the current and past performance of the Rewire 
business; (ii) the consistency with peer market and industry data; and (iii) whether the assumptions were consistent with evidence obtained in other 
areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating (i) the appropriateness of the multi-period 
excess earnings method and (ii) the reasonableness of the selected discount rate and migration curves assumptions.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Seattle, Washington
February 23, 2024

 We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,
2023 2022

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 323,710 $ 300,635 
Disbursement prefunding  195,848  158,055 
Customer funds receivable, net  379,417  191,402 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  33,143  19,327 

Total current assets  932,118  669,419 
Property and equipment, net  16,010  11,546 
Operating lease right-of-use assets  9,525  8,675 
Goodwill  54,940  — 
Intangible assets, net  16,642  — 
Other noncurrent assets, net  7,071  6,313 

Total assets $ 1,036,306 $ 695,953 
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 35,051 $ 6,794 
Customer liabilities  177,473  111,075 
Short-term debt  2,481  — 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  145,802  87,752 
Operating lease liabilities  6,032  3,521 

Total current liabilities  366,839  209,142 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent  4,477  5,674 
Long-term debt  130,000  — 
Other noncurrent liabilities  5,653  1,050 

Total liabilities  506,969  215,866 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)
Stockholders’ equity

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 725,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 
both; 188,435,952 and 173,250,865 shares issued and outstanding, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively  19  17 

Additional paid-in capital  1,020,286  854,276 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  335  (743) 
Accumulated deficit  (491,303)  (373,463) 

Total stockholders’ equity  529,337  480,087 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,036,306 $ 695,953 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Revenue    ........................................................................................................................ $ 944,285 $ 653,560 $ 458,605 
Costs and expenses
Transaction expenses(1)

   .................................................................................................  329,113  258,827  191,606 
Customer support and operations(1)

 ...............................................................................  82,521  68,106  45,525 
Marketing(1)

  ...................................................................................................................  234,417  170,970  120,906 
Technology and development(1)

    ....................................................................................  219,939  138,719  64,093 
General and administrative(1)

    ........................................................................................  179,372  131,250  70,941 
Depreciation and amortization    ......................................................................................  13,118  6,724  5,256 

Total costs and expenses   ................................................................................  1,058,480  774,596  498,327 
Loss from operations   .....................................................................................  (114,195)  (121,036)  (39,722) 

Interest income     ..............................................................................................................  7,447  4,149  140 
Interest expense     .............................................................................................................  (2,352)  (1,302)  (1,256) 
Other (expense) income, net  .........................................................................................  (2,838)  5,213  3,125 

Loss before provision for income taxes   .........................................................  (111,938)  (112,976)  (37,713) 
Provision for income taxes  ............................................................................................  5,902  1,043  1,043 

Net loss .......................................................................................................... $ (117,840) $ (114,019) $ (38,756) 
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:

Basic and diluted ............................................................................................ $ (0.65) $ (0.68) $ (0.64) 
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to 
common stockholders:

Basic and diluted ............................................................................................  180,818,399  167,774,123  60,728,748 
__________________
(1) Exclusive of depreciation and amortization, shown separately, above.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net loss $ (117,840) $ (114,019) $ (38,756) 
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustments  1,078  (996)  (338) 
Comprehensive loss $ (116,762) $ (115,015) $ (39,094) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) and Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

(In thousands, except share data)
Year Ended December 31, 2023

Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated 
Deficit

Total 
Stockholders' 

EquityShares Amount Shares Amount
Balance as of January 1, 2023    .............................................................  — $ —  173,250,865 $ 17 $ 854,276 $ (743) $ (373,463) $ 480,087 
Issuance of common stock in connection with ESPP   .........................  —  —  631,574  —  6,132  —  —  6,132 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options, 
including early exercised options, and vesting of restricted stock 
units  —  —  14,009,751  2  14,665  —  —  14,667 
Donation of common stock      .................................................................  —  —  181,961  —  4,600  —  —  4,600 
Issuance of common stock for acquisition consideration    ...................  —  —  590,838  —  6,635  —  —  6,635 
Issuance of common stock, subject to service-based vesting 
conditions, in connection with acquisition  —  —  104,080  —  581  —  —  581 
Taxes paid related to net shares settlement of equity awards     .............  —  —  (333,117)  —  (6,702)  —  —  (6,702) 
Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  —  —  140,099  —  —  140,099 
Other comprehensive income  ..............................................................  —  —  —  —  —  1,078  —  1,078 
Net loss   ................................................................................................  —  —  —  —  —  —  (117,840)  (117,840) 
Balance as of December 31, 2023 .......................................................  — $ —  188,435,952 $ 19 $ 1,020,286 $ 335 $ (491,303) $ 529,337 

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders' 

EquityShares Amount Shares Amount
Balance as of January 1, 2022    .............................................................  — $ —  164,239,555 $ 16 $ 739,503 $ 253 $ (259,444) $ 480,328 
Issuance of common stock in connection with ESPP   .........................  —  —  379,674  —  3,516  —  —  3,516 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options, 
including early exercised options, and vesting of restricted stock 
units  —  —  8,458,814  1  12,270  —  —  12,271 
Donation of common stock      .................................................................  —  —  181,961  —  1,972  —  —  1,972 
Taxes paid related to net shares settlement of equity awards     .............  —  —  (9,139)  —  (99)  —  —  (99) 
Stock-based compensation expense   ....................................................  —  —  —  —  97,114  —  —  97,114 
Other comprehensive loss      ...................................................................  —  —  —  —  —  (996)  —  (996) 
Net loss   ................................................................................................  —  —  —  —  —  —  (114,019)  (114,019) 
Balance as of December 31, 2022 .......................................................  — $ —  173,250,865 $ 17 $ 854,276 $ (743) $ (373,463) $ 480,087 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) and Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

(In thousands, except share data)
Year Ended December 31, 2021

Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income 

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders'

EquityShares Amount Shares Amount
Balance as of January 1, 2021    .............................................................  127,082,605 $ 387,707  24,289,906 $ 2 $ 8,766 $ 591 $ (220,688) $ (211,329) 
Issuance of Series F redeemable convertible preferred stock, net of 
issuance costs  328,026  2,980  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Repayment of non-recourse promissory note     .....................................  —  —  —  —  3,060  —  —  3,060 
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to common 
stock in connection with initial public offering  (127,410,631)  (390,687)  127,410,631  13  390,674  —  —  390,687 
Issuance of common stock upon initial public offering and private 
placements, net of offering costs, underwriting discounts and 
commissions  —  —  7,581,395  —  305,191  —  —  305,191 
Donation of common stock      .................................................................  —  —  181,961  —  6,933  —  —  6,933 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants   ........................  —  —  254,014  —  —  —  —  — 
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options, 
including early exercised options, and vesting of restricted stock 
units  —  —  4,495,889  1  7,420  —  —  7,421 
Issuance of common stock     ..................................................................  —  —  25,759  —  169  —  —  169 
Stock-based compensation expense   ....................................................  —  —  —  —  17,290  —  —  17,290 
Other comprehensive loss      ...................................................................  —  —  —  —  —  (338)  —  (338) 
Net loss   ................................................................................................  —  —  —  —  —  —  (38,756)  (38,756) 
Balance as of December 31, 2021 .......................................................  — $ —  164,239,555 $ 16 $ 739,503 $ 253 $ (259,444) $ 480,328 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (117,840) $ (114,019) $ (38,756) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization  13,118  6,724  5,256 
Stock-based compensation expense, net  136,967  95,293  17,016 
Donation of common stock  4,600  1,972  6,933 
Other  713  356  452 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Disbursement prefunding  (31,778)  (38,428)  (18,069) 
Customer funds receivable  (183,422)  (126,942)  (17,282) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets  (13,035)  (4,598)  (12,559) 
Operating lease right-of-use assets  5,186  3,763  2,780 
Accounts payable  27,559  5,535  (3,035) 
Customer liabilities  61,718  42,979  16,097 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities  47,357  22,782  26,071 
Operating lease liabilities  (4,733)  (4,073)  (3,295) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (53,590)  (108,656)  (18,391) 
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment  (2,857)  (3,679)  (1,956) 
Capitalized internal-use software costs  (6,247)  (3,382)  (2,578) 
Cash paid for acquisition, net of acquired cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash  (40,933)  (248)  — 

Net cash used in investing activities  (50,037)  (7,309)  (4,534) 
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options  14,288  11,554  8,345 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in connection with ESPP  6,132  3,516  — 
Proceeds from revolving credit facility borrowings  764,000  —  — 
Repayments of revolving credit facility borrowings  (634,000)  —  (80,000) 
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards  (6,702)  (99)  — 
Repayment of assumed indebtedness  (17,068)  (384)  — 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon initial public offering and private 
placements, net of offering costs, underwriting discounts and commissions  —  —  305,191 
Repayment of non-recourse promissory note  —  —  3,060 
Proceeds from issuance of Series E and F convertible preferred stock, net of issuance  —  —  2,980 
Payment of debt issuance costs  —  —  (1,373) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  126,650  14,587  238,203 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash  1,272  (1,201)  (40) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash  24,295  (102,579)  215,238 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period  300,734  403,313  188,075 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 325,029 $ 300,734 $ 403,313 
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents $ 323,710 $ 300,635 $ 403,262 
Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assets  774  —  — 
Restricted cash included in other noncurrent assets, net  545  99  51 
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 325,029 $ 300,734 $ 403,313 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Description of Business

Description of Business

Remitly Global, Inc. (the “Company” or “Remitly”) was incorporated in the State of Delaware in October 2018 and is headquartered in Seattle, 
Washington, with various other global office locations. Remitly, Inc. was founded and incorporated in the State of Delaware in 2011, which is now a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Remitly Global, Inc.

Remitly is a leading digital financial services provider for immigrants, their families, and other global citizens in over 170 countries, helping 
customers send money internationally in a quick, reliable, and more cost-effective manner, by leveraging digital channels and supporting cross-
border transmissions across the globe.

Unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, the terms “Remitly” and the “Company” within these notes to the consolidated 
financial statements refer to Remitly Global, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries.

Initial Public Offering and Private Placement

In September 2021, the Company completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”), in which the Company issued and sold 7,000,000 shares of its 
common stock at $43.00 per share. Concurrently, 5,162,777 shares were sold by certain of the Company’s existing stockholders. In addition, the 
Company issued 581,395 shares of common stock to an existing stockholder in a private placement at the same offering price as the IPO. The 
Company received net proceeds of $305.2 million for the IPO and private placement, after deducting underwriting discounts and other fees of 
$20.8 million. In connection with the IPO, 127,410,631 shares of outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically converted into an 
equivalent number of shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis.

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America (“GAAP”) and applicable rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) regarding financial 
reporting. 

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Remitly Global, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions 
and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassification

These consolidated financial statements and notes have been prepared consistently, with the exception of the reclassification of certain prior year 
amounts within the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Beginning in the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company changed the 
presentation of shares purchased under the ESPP to reflect an operating cash outflow for compensation paid to employees and a financing cash 
inflow for cash paid by employees in exchange for shares. Previously such activity was treated and disclosed as noncash activity in the amount of 
$3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. There were no shares purchased under the ESPP for the year ended December 31, 2021. The 
Company has conformed the prior period statement of cash flows to the current period presentation to enhance transparency and provide 
comparability.

Out-of-Period Adjustment

The consolidated financial statements include an adjustment of $4.4 million to stock-based compensation expense and additional paid-in capital, to 
correct for an error identified by management during the preparation of the financial statements for the three months ended June 30, 2022. This 
adjustment is to reflect the straight-lining of expense over the full service period for graded-vested stock-based compensation awards under 
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation, and relates to annual fiscal periods prior to 2022. 
Management has determined that this error was not material to the historical financial statements in any individual period or in the aggregate and did 
not result in the previously issued financial statements being materially misstated. Additionally, although the impact to the three months ended June 
30, 2022 was considered material, the impact to full year 2022 results was not material. As such, management recorded the correction as an out-of-
period adjustment in the three months ended June 30, 2022. Substantially all of the cumulative adjustment was related to stock-based compensation 
for personnel who support the Company’s general and administrative functions and was recorded to ‘General and administrative expenses’ within the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
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Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed within the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. These estimates 
and assumptions include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition including the treatment of sales incentive programs, reserves for transaction 
losses, stock-based compensation expense, the carrying value of operating lease right-of-use assets, the recoverability of deferred tax assets, 
capitalization of software development costs, goodwill, and the recoverability of intangible assets. The key assumptions applied for value of the 
intangible assets include revenue growth rates for a hypothetical market participant, selected discount rates, as well as migration curves for developed 
technology. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on assumptions that management considers reasonable. Actual results 
could differ from these estimates and assumptions, and these differences could be material to the consolidated financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company holds its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions throughout the world, which management assesses to be of high credit 
quality. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash 
equivalents, so long as the Company has legal title to such amounts held in these accounts. Amounts that are held in accounts for which the Company 
does not have legal title to are recorded separately on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, typically as disbursement prefunding balances. Cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash on hand and various deposit accounts.

Restricted Cash

The Company has relationships with certain payment processors that are responsible for processing the Company’s incoming customer payments. 
These processors require the Company to maintain certain restricted cash balances as collateral throughout the term of the processor arrangement. In 
addition, the Company may be required to maintain restricted cash as a result of other contractual arrangements with vendors and partners. Restricted 
cash is classified within ‘Prepaid expenses and other current assets’ and ‘Other noncurrent assets, net’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, based on 
its contractual terms. Prior year amounts have been reclassified on the Consolidated Balance Sheets to conform to the current year presentation.

Disbursement Prefunding 

The Company maintains relationships with disbursement partners in various countries. These partners are responsible for disbursing funds to 
recipients. The Company may maintain prefunding balances with these disbursement partners so that they are able to fulfill customer requests. The 
Company is exposed to the risk of loss in the event the Company’s disbursement partners fail, for any reason, to disburse funds to recipients 
according to the Company’s instructions. However, historical losses for the disbursement funding accounts have been immaterial.

The Company does not earn interest on these balances. The balances are not compensating balances and are not legally restricted. 

Customer Funds Receivable 

When customers fund their transactions using credit cards or debit cards, there is a clearing period before the cash is received by the Company from 
the payment processors of usually one business day. Similarly, when customers provide bank information and authorization for the Company to 
receive funds via electronic funds transfer, the transactions are submitted via batch and received in cash usually in one to three business days. These 
card and electronic funds are treated as a receivable from the bank until the cash is received by the Company. Included in customer funds receivable 
are amounts due from customers from the Company’s business-to-business remittance services. The Company evaluates the collectability of its 
customer funds receivable on a number of factors, including historical losses, aging, payment processor risks, and forecasted losses. At December 31, 
2023 and 2022, the Company’s reserve recorded for uncollectible customer funds receivable was immaterial. The Reserve for Transaction Losses, 
which includes fraud losses, is further discussed in Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies.

Foreign Currency Translation 

The functional currencies of the Company’s international subsidiaries include, but are not limited to, the Canadian dollar, Euro, and British pound. 
The functional currency of the Company’s international subsidiaries including, but not limited to, Poland, Nicaragua, and Israel is the U.S. dollar. 
The results of operations for the Company’s international subsidiaries, with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar, are translated from the 
local currency into U.S. dollars using the average exchange rates during each period. All assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates at 
the end of each period. All equity transactions and certain assets are translated using historical rates. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in U.S. dollars.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the acquisition date fair value of net assets, including the amount assigned to identifiable 
intangible assets, acquired in a business combination. The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually on October 31 and whenever events 
or circumstances make it more likely than not that impairment may have occurred. The Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to 
determine whether events or circumstances indicate it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount. 
The Company considers factors in performing a qualitative assessment, including, but not limited to, general macroeconomic conditions, industry and 
market conditions, company financial performance, changes in strategy, and other relevant entity-specific events. If the Company elects to bypass the 
qualitative assessment or does not pass the qualitative assessment, a quantitative assessment is performed. The quantitative assessment compares the 
carrying value to the fair value of goodwill, with the difference representing an impairment loss. Based on the results of qualitative assessment 
performed, the Company did not recognize any impairment losses on its goodwill during the periods presented herein.

Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets with finite lives primarily consist of developed technology, customer relationships, and trade names acquired through business 
combinations or asset acquisitions. Intangible assets acquired through business combinations are recorded at their respective estimated acquisition 
date fair value and amortized over their estimated useful lives. Other intangible assets acquired through asset acquisitions are recorded at their 
respective cost. Intangible assets are amortized using a method that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible asset are 
expected to be realized over their estimated useful lives, or straight lined if not materially different.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses potential impairments to its long-lived assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the 
asset may not be recoverable. If any indicators of impairment are present, the Company tests recoverability. The carrying value of a long-lived asset 
or asset group is not recoverable if the carrying value exceeds the sum of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated from 
the use and eventual disposition of the asset or asset group. If the estimated undiscounted future cash flows do not exceed the asset or asset group’s 
carrying amount, then an impairment loss is recorded, measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of a long-lived asset or asset group 
exceeds its estimated fair value. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, no material impairment of long-lived assets was 
recorded. 

Customer Liabilities 

The Company recognizes transactions processed from customers but not yet disbursed to recipients as ‘Customer liabilities’ on the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Customer liabilities are typically funds in-transit and the duration is typically one to two days. The Reserve for 
Transaction Losses, which includes disbursement losses, is further discussed in Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Company establishes the fair value of its certain assets and liabilities using the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and 
liabilities that are required to be recorded at fair value, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market in which to transact and the 
market-based risk. The Company applies fair value accounting for all financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value 
within the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis. The carrying values of cash equivalents, disbursement prefunding, customer funds 
receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities, and customer liabilities 
approximate their respective fair values due to their relative short maturities.

Fair value principles require disclosures regarding the manner in which fair value is determined for assets and liabilities and establishes a three-tiered 
fair value hierarchy into which these assets and liabilities must be grouped, based upon significant levels of inputs as follows: 

Level 1 Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the assets or liabilities, 
either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instruments. 

Level 3 Inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Company’s own assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities at fair value. The 
inputs require significant management judgment or estimation. 
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Concentration of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, 
disbursement prefunding, restricted cash, and customer funds receivable. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 
balances that may exceed the insured limits by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. In addition, the Company funds its international 
operations using accounts with institutions in the major countries where its subsidiaries operate. The Company also prefunds amounts which are held 
by its disbursement partners, which are typically located in India, Mexico, and the Philippines. The Company has not experienced any significant 
losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents, disbursement prefunding, restricted cash, or customer funds receivable in the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, no individual customer represented 10% or more of the Company’s total revenues or the 
Company’s customer funds receivable.

Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. 

Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Estimated Useful Lives

Capitalized internal-use software     ....................................................................................................... 3 years
Computer and office equipment     ......................................................................................................... 3 years
Furniture and fixtures     ......................................................................................................................... 5 years
Leasehold improvements   .................................................................................................................... Lesser of useful life or remaining lease term

When assets are retired or disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gains or losses are 
included within the Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period of disposition. Maintenance and repairs that do not improve or extend the 
lives of the respective assets are charged to expense in the period incurred. 

Leases

A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant or equipment for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02 “Leases - Topic 842” (“ASC 842”) and all subsequent ASUs that 
modified ASC 842 on January 1, 2020 and elected to apply the guidance to the comparative period. The Company’s lease commitments consist 
primarily of real estate property under various noncancellable operating leases that expire between 2024 and 2027. The majority of the leases contain 
renewal options and provisions for increases in rental rates based on a predetermined schedule or an agreed upon index. If, at lease inception, the 
Company considers the exercise of a renewal option to be reasonably certain, the Company will include the extended term in the calculation of the 
right-of-use asset and lease liability.

The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception by evaluating various factors, including if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration and other facts and circumstances. Lease classification 
is determined at the lease commencement date. 

ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to 
make lease payments arising from the lease. The lease liability is recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments 
over the lease term. The ROU asset is initially measured at cost, which is based on the lease liability adjusted for lease prepayments, plus any initial 
direct costs incurred less any lease incentives received. As the rate implicit in most of its leases is not readily determinable, the Company generally 
uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at the 
commencement date. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the 
Company will exercise that option. The Company utilized certain practical expedients and policy elections available under the lease accounting 
standard. The Company has elected to combine lease and non-lease components as a single lease component for its real estate leases. The Company 
also elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities on its Consolidated Balance Sheets for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or 
less. The Company recognizes lease payments associated with its short-term leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, which is the noncancellable term adjusted for any 
renewal and termination options that are considered reasonably certain. Operating leases are included in ‘Operating lease right-of-use assets,’ 
‘Operating lease liabilities,’ and ‘Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company did not have any material finance leases.
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Business Combinations and Asset Acquisitions

The Company evaluates acquisitions to determine if they meet the definition of a business. If the acquisition does meet the definition of a business, it 
is accounted for as a business combination. For a business combination, assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally recorded at their fair 
value at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the fair value of consideration transferred for the business, over the fair values of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed, is recognized as goodwill. 

Acquisitions that do not meet the criteria to be accounted for as a business combination are accounted for as an asset acquisition. In an asset 
acquisition, the cost of the acquisition, including transaction costs, is allocated to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities based upon their relative 
fair values as of the acquisition date, and no goodwill is recognized. 

Transaction costs related to business combinations are expensed as incurred and are included in ‘General and administrative expenses’ within the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Transaction costs primarily include external legal, accounting, valuation, and due diligence costs, as well as 
advisory and other professional services fees necessary to integrate acquired businesses. Refer to Note 6. Business Combinations for detail on 
transaction costs for the year. 

Trade Settlement Liabilities 

The Company’s trade settlement liability represents the total of disbursement postfunding liabilities and book overdrafts owed to its disbursement 
partners. Disbursement postfunding liabilities are created when the sum of customer transactions related to a specific account held with a 
disbursement partner are in excess of funds on deposit for the respective account. Book overdrafts are created when the sum of outstanding 
disbursements related to a bank account or series of accounts to which the Company has legal title are in excess of funds on deposit. Disbursement 
postfunding liabilities and book overdrafts are included within ‘Accrued expenses and other current liabilities’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
See Note 19. Accrued Expenses & Other Current Liabilities for the disbursement postfunding liabilities and book overdrafts balances. The 
Company’s policy is to report the change in disbursement postfunding liabilities and book overdrafts as an operating activity in the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows based on the underlying nature of the transactions. 

Revenue Recognition 

See Note 3. Revenue for information related to the Company’s revenue recognition policy.

Sales Incentives 

The Company provides sales incentives to customers in a variety of forms, including promotions, discounts, and other sales incentives. Evaluating 
whether a sales incentive is a payment to a customer requires judgment. Sales incentives determined to be consideration payable to a customer or 
paid on behalf of a customer are accounted for as reductions to revenue, up to the point where net historical cumulative revenue, at the customer 
level, is reduced to zero. Those additional incentive costs that would have caused the customer level revenue to be negative are classified as 
advertising expenses and are included as a component of ‘Marketing expenses’ within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. In addition, 
referral credits given to a referrer are classified as ‘Marketing expenses,’ as these incentives are paid in exchange of a distinct service.

Transaction Expenses 

Transaction expenses include fees paid to disbursement partners for paying funds to the recipient, provisions for transaction losses and fees paid to 
payment processors for funding transactions. Transaction expenses also include credit losses, chargebacks, fraud prevention, fraud management tools 
and compliance tools. See Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies for a rollforward of the Company’s reserve for transaction losses for the years 
ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.

Provisions for Transaction Losses 

The Company is exposed to transaction losses including chargebacks, unauthorized credit card use, fraud associated with customer transactions, and 
other non-fraud related losses. The Company establishes reserves for such losses based on historical trends and any specific risks identified in 
processing customer transactions. This reserve is included in ‘Accrued expenses and other current liabilities’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
The provision for transaction losses is included as a component of ‘Transaction expenses’ within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Customer Support and Operations

Customer support and operations expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses associated with the Company’s customer support and 
operations organization, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation, as well as third-party costs for customer support services, and 
travel and related office expenses. This includes the Company’s customer service teams which directly support the Company’s customers, consisting 
of online support and call centers, and other costs incurred to support the Company’s customers, including related telephony costs to support these 
teams, customer protection and risk teams, and investments in tools to effectively service the Company’s customers, and increased customer self-
service capabilities. Customer support and operations expenses also include corporate communication costs and professional services fees.
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Marketing

Marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising costs used to attract new customers, including branding-related expenses. Marketing expenses 
also include personnel-related expenses associated with the Company’s marketing organization, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based 
compensation, promotions, costs for software subscription services dedicated for use by the Company’s marketing organization, and outside services 
contracted for marketing purposes.

Advertising

Advertising expenses are charged to operations as incurred and are included as a component of ‘Marketing expenses’ within the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. Advertising expenses are used primarily to attract new customers. Advertising expenses totaled $181.3 million, $139.3 
million and $102.9 million during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Technology and Development

Technology and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses for employees involved in the research, design, development 
and maintenance of both new and existing products and services, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation. Technology and 
development expenses also include professional services fees and costs for software subscription services dedicated for use by the Company’s 
technology and development teams, as well as other company wide technology tools. Technology and development expenses also include product 
and engineering teams used to support the development of both internal infrastructure and internal-use software, to the extent such costs do not 
qualify for capitalization. Technology and development costs are generally expensed as incurred and do not include software development costs 
which qualify for capitalization as internal-use software. The amortization of internal-use software costs which were capitalized in accordance with 
ASC 350-40, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software, are separately presented under the caption ‘Depreciation and amortization’ 
within the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses for the Company’s finance, legal, corporate development, 
human resources, facilities, administrative personnel, and other leadership functions, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation 
expense. General and administrative expenses also include professional services fees, software subscriptions, facilities, indirect taxes, and other 
corporate expenses, including acquisition and integration expenses. Such expenses primarily include external legal, accounting, valuation, and due 
diligence costs, advisory and other professional services fees necessary to integrate acquired businesses. 

Capitalized Internal-Use Software Costs 

The Company accounts for software development costs incurred in connection with its internal-use software in accordance with ASC 350-40, 
Intangibles - Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software. Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred. Once an 
app has reached the development stage, internal and external costs, if direct and incremental, are capitalized until the software is substantially 
complete and ready for its intended use. 

Internal-use software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life, generally three years. Management evaluates the useful lives 
of these assets on an annual basis and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of 
these assets. 

Capitalized Cloud Computing Arrangements

The Company incurs costs to implement cloud computing arrangements that are hosted by a third-party vendor. The Company adopted this new 
standard prospectively during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. For cloud computing arrangements that meet the definition of a service 
contract, the Company capitalizes implementation costs incurred during the application development stage as a prepaid expense or other noncurrent 
asset and amortizes the costs on a straight-line basis over the term of the associated hosting arrangement and recognized as an operating expense 
within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The classification of the expense is determined based on the nature of the hosting arrangement to 
which the implementation costs relate. Costs related to data conversion, training and other maintenance activities are expensed as incurred. 
Implementation costs for cloud computing arrangements that meet the definition of a software license are accounted for consistent with software 
developed or obtained for internal use as detailed further above.

Segment and Geographic Information

The Company determines operating segments based on how its chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) manages the business, makes operating 
decisions around the allocation of resources, and evaluates operating performance. The Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive Officer, who 
reviews the Company’s operating results on a consolidated basis. The Company operates as one segment. Based on the information provided to and 
reviewed by the Company’s CODM, the Company believes that the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of its revenue and how it is affected by 
economic factors are most appropriately depicted through the Company’s primary geographical locations. Revenues recorded by the Company are 
substantially all from the Company’s single performance obligation which are earned from similar services for which the nature of associated fees 
and the related revenue recognition models are substantially the same. See Note 3. Revenue and Note 5. Property and Equipment for information 
related to the Company’s geographic information for revenue and long-lived assets, respectively.
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Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed using the two-class method required for participating securities. 
Prior to the automatic conversion of all of its redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding into common stock upon the completion of the IPO, 
the Company considered all series of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock and early exercised stock options to be participating 
securities, as the holders of such stock have the right to receive dividends on a pari passu basis in the event that a dividend is declared on the common 
stock. Upon completion of the IPO, all of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock was converted to common stock. After the IPO, the 
Company’s early exercised stock options continue to be participating in nature.

Under the two-class method, basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss adjusted to include deemed dividends on redeemable 
convertible preferred stock by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed 
by dividing net income attributable to common shares by the weighted-average number of common shares determined for the basic earnings per share 
plus the dilutive effect of stock options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), warrants and redeemable convertible preferred stock. As the Company had 
losses for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 all potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive, and accordingly, basic net loss per 
share equaled diluted net loss per share.

Stock-Based Compensation 

Equity Incentive Plans and Employee Stock Purchase Plans

The Company grants equity awards under its equity incentive plans, as well as its employee stock purchase plan. 

Equity Plans

In 2011, the Company adopted the Equity Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2011 Plan”), which provided for the issuance of up to 43,899,677 
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted common stock, RSUs and stock appreciation rights to employees, directors, officers, 
and consultants of the Company. 

In September 2021, the Company adopted the Remitly Global, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2021 Plan,” and together with the 
2011 Plan, the “Plan”) as a successor to the 2011 Plan. The 2021 Plan authorizes the issuance of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, 
restricted common stock, stock appreciation rights, RSUs, and performance and stock bonus awards. Pursuant to the 2021 Plan, incentive stock 
options may be granted only to Company employees. The Company may grant all other types of awards to its employees, directors, and consultants. 
The 2021 Plan is administered by the Company’s board of directors, which determines the terms of the grants, including exercise price, number of 
equity awards granted, and vesting schedule. The 2021 Plan provided for the initial issuance of up to 25,000,000 shares of common stock, plus any 
reserved shares not issued or subject to outstanding grants under the 2011 Plan, which was 552,736 on the effective date of the 2021 Plan, for a total 
of 25,552,736 shares initially reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan. Beginning in January 2022, the number of shares reserved for issuance 
under the 2021 Plan will increase automatically on January 1 of each year through 2031 by the number of shares equal to 5% of the aggregate 
number of outstanding shares of all classes of common stock as of the immediately preceding December 31, or a lesser number as may be determined 
by the Company’s talent and compensation committee, or by the Company’s board of directors acting in place of the talent and compensation 
committee.

In addition, in September 2021, the Company adopted the Remitly Global, Inc. 2021 ESPP (the “ESPP”) to enable eligible employees to purchase 
shares of common stock with accumulated payroll deductions at a discount. The ESPP provided for the initial issuance of up to 3,500,000 shares of 
common stock. Beginning in January 2022, the number of shares reserved for issuance and sale under the ESPP will increase automatically on 
January 1 of each year through 2031 by the number of shares equal to 1% of the aggregate number of outstanding shares of all classes of common 
stock as of the immediately preceding December 31, or a lesser number as may be determined by the Company’s talent and compensation committee, 
or by the Company’s board of directors acting in place of the talent and compensation committee. Subject to stock splits, recapitalizations, or similar 
events, no more than 35,000,000 shares of common stock may be issued over the term of the ESPP. The ESPP is intended to qualify under Section 
423 of the Code, provided that the administrator may adopt sub-plans under the ESPP designed to be outside of the scope of Section 423 for 
participants who are non-U.S. residents.

Fair Value Assumptions

The Company measures stock-based compensation expense for both stock options granted under its equity incentive plans, and purchase rights issued 
under its ESPP, by calculating the estimated fair value of each employee and nonemployee award at the grant date or modification date by applying 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model (the “model”). The model utilizes the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the measurement 
date, the expected or contractual term of the option, the expected stock price volatility, risk-free interest rate, and expected dividend yield of the 
common stock. Stock-based compensation for restricted stock units are measured based on the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on 
the date of grant. 
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Prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company’s board of directors considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair 
value of the Company’s common stock at each meeting in which awards were approved. The factors considered included, but were not limited to: (i) 
the results of contemporaneous independent third-party valuations of the Company’s common stock; (ii) the prices, rights, preferences, and privileges 
of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock relative to those of its common stock; (iii) the lack of marketability of the Company’s 
common stock; (iv) actual operating and financial results; (v) current business conditions and projections; (vi) the likelihood of achieving a liquidity 
event, such as an initial public offering or sale of the Company, given prevailing market conditions; and (vii) precedent transactions involving the 
Company’s shares. After the completion of the IPO, the fair value of the Company’s common stock is determined by the closing price, on the date of 
grant, of its common stock, which is traded on the NASDAQ.

Expected term. The Company calculates the expected term based on the average period the options are expected to remain outstanding using the 
simplified method, generally calculated as the midpoint of the requisite service period and the contractual term of the award. 

Expected volatility. The Company bases its estimate of expected volatility on the historical volatility of our common stock as well as the historical 
volatility of comparable companies from a representative peer group selected based on industry, financial, and market capitalization data. 

Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate used in the model is based on the implied yield currently available in the U.S. Treasury securities at 
maturity with an equivalent term. 

Expected dividend yield. The Company’s expected dividend yield is zero as it has not declared nor paid any dividends during the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 and does not currently expect to do so in the future.

Stock-based Compensation Expense Recognition

Stock-based compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is typically the vesting 
period of the respective award; however, in some instances, the vesting percentages differ throughout the service period. In all instances, the amount 
of compensation cost recognized at any date is at least equal to the portion of the grant-date value of the award that is legally vested (i.e., the “floor” 
pursuant to ASC 718). Forfeitures are recognized in the period in which they occur. 

Stock Options

Stock options granted under the Plan generally vest over a period from two years to four years from the vesting commencement date on a monthly 
basis with or without a one-year cliff or, for nonemployees, ratably on a monthly basis over a shorter period, depending upon anticipated duration of 
services. Other vesting terms are determined by the Company’s board of directors. All options granted under the Plan are exercisable for up to ten 
years from the grant date, subject to vesting. In the event of termination of service, options will generally remain exercisable, to the extent vested, for 
three months following the termination of service.

The Company’s 2011 and 2021 equity plans allow for early exercise of employee stock options whereby the option holder is allowed to exercise prior 
to vesting. The consideration received for an early exercise of an option is considered to be a deposit of the exercise price, and the related dollar 
amount is recorded as a liability and reflected in ‘Accrued expenses and other current liabilities’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. This liability is 
reclassified to additional paid-in capital as the awards vest. Any unvested shares are subject to repurchase by the Company at their original exercise 
price.

Restricted Stock Units

Prior to the IPO, the Company granted performance-based RSUs (“PRSUs”) to employees and directors that contained both service-based and 
performance-based vesting conditions. The service-based vesting condition for these awards is typically satisfied over four years with a cliff vesting 
period of one year and continued vesting quarterly thereafter. The performance-based vesting condition is satisfied on the earlier of (i) the effective 
date of a registration statement of the Company filed under the Securities Act for the sale of the Company’s common stock or (ii) immediately prior 
to the closing of a change in control of the Company. Both events were not deemed probable until consummated, and therefore, stock-based 
compensation expense related to these PRSUs remained unrecognized prior to the effectiveness of the IPO. Upon the effectiveness of the IPO, the 
performance-based vesting condition was satisfied, and therefore, the Company recognized cumulative stock-based compensation expense of 
$1.1 million, using the accelerated attribution method for the portion of the awards for which the service-based vesting condition has been fully or 
partially satisfied. The remaining grant-date fair value of these PRSUs is being recognized over the remaining requisite service period.

Beginning in August 2021, the Company began granting RSUs to employees and directors with service-based vesting conditions. The service-based 
vesting condition for these awards is typically satisfied over four years with a cliff vesting period of one year and continued vesting quarterly 
thereafter. The grant-date fair value of these RSUs will be recognized over the requisite service period.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as amended, the“ESPP”)

The ESPP provides for offering periods during which eligible employees can participate in the ESPP and be granted the right to purchase shares. 
Except for the first offering period, which commenced on September 22, 2021, offering periods shall commence on each subsequent March 1 and 
September 1, with each offering period consisting of four six-month purchase periods, for a total of a 24-month offering period. No offering periods 
may last longer than 27 months. The grant date for accounting purposes is generally the first date of each offering period and expense is recognized 
over the requisite service period, which is considered to be the 24-month offering period.

Eligible employees can contribute up to 15% of their eligible compensation, subject to limitation as provided for in the ESPP, and purchase the 
common stock at a purchase price per share equal to 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the common stock on (i) the offering date, which is 
defined as the first business day of the offering period, or (ii) the purchase date, which is the final business day of the purchase period.

Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for 
the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included within the consolidated financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the differences between the consolidated financial statements and tax bases of assets and liabilities 
by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax 
assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets to the extent that these assets are believed more likely than not to be realized. In making such a 
determination, all available positive and negative evidence is considered, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, 
projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies, and results of recent operations. 

Tax benefits for uncertain tax positions are based upon management’s evaluation of the information available at the reporting date. The Company 
recognizes and measures uncertain tax positions in accordance with GAAP, pursuant to which it only recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax 
position if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of 
the position. The benefit for positions meeting the recognition threshold is measured as the largest benefit more likely than not of being realized upon 
settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties 
related to income taxes as a component of provision for income taxes.

Severance and Other Related Expenses

The Company records severance-related expenses based on the applicable accounting guidance and whether the severance relates to an ongoing 
benefit arrangement or relates to a one-time involuntary benefit arrangement. Ongoing benefit arrangements, including statutorily required notice 
periods, are recorded when both probable of being paid and estimable. One-time involuntary benefit arrangements and other associated costs are 
generally recognized when a liability is incurred. The Company also evaluates whether these costs are associated with restructuring activities. 
Severance costs are expensed within the appropriate Costs and expenses component within our Consolidated Statements of Operations and associated 
accruals are recorded within ‘Accrued expenses and other liabilities.’

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2021, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2021-08, “Business 
Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers” (“ASU 2021-08”). ASU 
2021-08 will require companies to apply the definition of a performance obligation under ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from contracts with 
customers” (“Topic 606”) to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities relating to contracts with customers that are acquired in a 
business combination. Under current GAAP, an acquirer generally recognizes assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination, 
including contract assets and contract liabilities arising from revenue contracts with customers, at fair value on the acquisition date. ASU 2021-08 
results in the acquirer recording acquired contract assets and liabilities on the same basis that would have been recorded by the acquiree before the 
acquisition under Topic 606. ASU 2021-08 was adopted on a prospective basis, effective January 1, 2023. The Company assessed the impact of the 
guidance to its consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 and concluded that the standard did not have a material 
impact on its financial statements.
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Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 

In November 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable 
Segment Disclosures” (“ASU 2023-07”), which is intended to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced 
disclosures about significant segment expenses. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods 
within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The guidance is to be applied retrospectively to all prior periods 
presented in the financial statements. Upon transition, the segment expense categories and amounts disclosed in the prior periods should be based on 
the significant segment expense categories identified and disclosed in the period of adoption. The Company is currently evaluating the potential 
impact of adopting this new guidance to its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax 
Disclosures” (“ASU 2023-09”), which modifies the rules on income tax disclosures to require entities to disclose (1) specific categories in the rate 
reconciliation, (2) the income or loss from continuing operations before income tax expense or benefit (separated between domestic and foreign) and 
(3) income tax expense or benefit from continuing operations (separated by federal, state and foreign). ASU 2023-09 also requires entities to disclose 
their income tax payments to international, federal, state and local jurisdictions, among other changes. The guidance is effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet been issued or made available for 
issuance. ASU 2023-09 should be applied on a prospective basis, but retrospective application is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the 
potential impact of adopting this new guidance to its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

There are other new accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB that the Company has adopted or will adopt, as applicable. The Company does 
not believe any of these accounting pronouncements have had, or will have, a material impact on the consolidated financial statements or disclosures.

3. Revenue

The Company’s primary source of revenue is generated from its remittance business. Revenue is earned from transaction fees charged to customers 
and the foreign exchange spreads earned between the foreign exchange rate offered to customers and the foreign exchange rate on the Company's 
currency purchases. Revenue is recognized when control of these services is transferred to the Company’s customers, which is the time the funds 
have been delivered to the intended recipient in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for 
services provided. The Company accounts for revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers, which includes the following steps:

(1) identification of the contract with a customer; 

(2) identification of the performance obligations in the contract; 

(3) determination of the transaction price;

(4) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and 

(5) recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation. 

Customers engage the Company to perform one integrated service —collect the customer’s money and deliver funds to the intended recipient in the 
currency requested. Payment is generally due from the customer upfront upon initiation of a transaction, when the customer simultaneously agrees to 
the Company’s terms and conditions. 

Revenue is derived from each transaction and varies based on the funding method chosen by the customer, the size of the transaction, the currency to 
be ultimately disbursed, the rate at which the currency was purchased, the disbursement method chosen by the customer, and the countries to which 
the funds are transferred. The Company’s contract with customers can be terminated by the customer without a termination penalty up until the time 
the funds have been delivered to the intended recipient. Therefore, the Company’s contracts are defined at the transaction level and do not extend 
beyond the service already provided. 

The Company’s service comprises a single performance obligation to complete transactions for the Company’s customers. Using compliance and risk 
assessment tools, the Company performs a transaction risk assessment on individual transactions to determine whether a transaction should be 
accepted. When the Company accepts a transaction and processes the designated payment method of the customer, the Company becomes obligated 
to its customer to complete the payment transaction, at which time a receivable is recorded, along with a corresponding customer liability. None of 
the Company’s contracts contain a significant financing component.

The Company recognizes transaction revenue on a gross basis as it is the principal for fulfilling payment transactions. As the principal to the 
transaction, the Company controls the service of completing payments on its payment platform. The Company bears primary responsibility for the 
fulfillment of the payment service, is the merchant of record, contracts directly with its customers, controls the product specifications, and defines the 
value proposition of its services. The Company is also responsible for providing customer support. Further, the Company has full discretion over 
determining the fee charged to its customers, which is independent of the cost it incurs in instances where it may utilize payment processors or other 
financial institutions to perform services on its behalf. These fees paid to payment processors and other financial institutions are recognized as 
‘Transaction expenses’ within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company does not have any capitalized contract acquisition costs.
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Deferred Revenue

The deferred revenue balances from contracts with customers were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Deferred revenue, beginning of the period $ 1,108 $ 1,212 $ 1,105 
Deferred revenue, end of the period  1,124  1,108  1,212 

Revenue recognized from amounts included in deferred revenue at the beginning of 
the period $ 806 $ 632 $ 349 

Deferred revenue represents amounts received from customers for which the performance obligations are not yet fulfilled. Deferred revenue is 
primarily included within ‘Accrued expenses and other current liabilities’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, as the performance obligations are 
expected to be fulfilled within the next year. 

Sales Incentives 

The following table presents the Company’s sales incentives for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Reduction to revenue $ 32,584 $ 24,796 $ 18,135 
Marketing expenses(1)  18,974  17,638  12,014 

Total sales incentives $ 51,558 $ 42,434 $ 30,149 
__________________
(1) Sales incentives that are charged to marketing expenses are included in Advertising expenses as disclosed in Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies.

Revenue by Geography

The following table presents the Company’s revenue disaggregated by primary geographical location for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, 
and 2021, attributed to the country in which the sending customer is located:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
United States $ 631,746 $ 472,754 $ 338,190 
Canada  113,310  80,142  56,916 
Rest of world  199,229  100,664  63,499 

Total revenue $ 944,285 $ 653,560 $ 458,605 

4. Prepaid Expenses & Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:
December 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022
Payment card receivable $ 15,599 $ 5,558 
Prepaid expenses  11,122  10,256 
Tax receivable  2,813  970 
Employee loans  1,518  2,048 
Restricted cash  774  — 
Other prepaid expenses and other current assets  1,317  495 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 33,143 $ 19,327 
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5. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Capitalized internal-use software $ 23,195 $ 14,072 
Computer and office equipment  8,529  6,177 
Furniture and fixtures  2,636  2,056 
Leasehold improvements  8,080  7,036 
Projects in process  —  722 

Total gross property and equipment  42,440  30,063 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization  (26,430)  (18,517) 

Property and equipment, net $ 16,010 $ 11,546 

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was $8.3 million, $6.7 million and $5.3 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Capitalized Internal-Use Software Costs 

The following table presents the Company’s capitalized internal-use software, including amortization expense recognized, for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Total capitalized internal-use software costs(1) $ 9,379 $ 5,203 $ 2,852 
Stock-based compensation costs capitalized to internal-use software  3,132  1,821  — 
Amortization expense(2)  4,529  3,332  2,480 

_________
(1) Amounts are inclusive of stock-based compensation costs capitalized denoted below.
(2) Amounts are included within ‘Depreciation and amortization’ within the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Capitalized Costs of Cloud Computing Arrangements

The following table presents the Company’s capitalized costs related to the implementation of cloud computing arrangements, including amortization 
expense recognized, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Total capitalized cloud computing arrangement costs $ 3,339 $ 2,350 $ 1,139 

Technology and development $ 1,547 $ 616 $ 165 
General and administrative  237  178  22 

Total amortization expense $ 1,784 $ 794 $ 187 

The following table presents the Company’s total capitalized cloud computing arrangement costs, net of accumulated amortization, on the Company's 
Consolidated Balance Sheets for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 2,220 $ 1,289 
Other noncurrent assets, net  1,811  1,186 

Total capitalized cloud computing arrangement costs, net $ 4,031 $ 2,475 
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The following table presents the Company’s long-lived assets based on geography, which consist of property and equipment, net and operating lease 
right-of-use assets for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
United States $ 15,901 $ 12,560 
Israel  5,128  — 
Europe  1,712  2,754 
Nicaragua  973  1,860 
United Kingdom  767  1,369 
Philippines  348  1,084 
Rest of world  706  594 

Total long-lived assets $ 25,535 $ 20,221 

6. Business Combinations

The Company completed its acquisition of Rewire (O.S.G.) Research and Development Ltd. (“Rewire”) on January 5, 2023 by acquiring all 
outstanding equity interests of Rewire in exchange for cash and equity consideration, described below. The acquisition of Rewire allows the 
Company to accelerate its opportunity to differentiate the remittance experience with complementary products, by bringing together its remittance 
businesses in new geographies, along with a strong team that is culturally aligned with the Company.

The acquisition meets the criteria to be accounted for as a business combination in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”). 
This method requires, among other things, that assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recognized at their fair values as of the acquisition date and 
that the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid for the acquired entity and the fair value of the net assets acquired be recorded as 
goodwill, which is not amortized but is tested at least annually for impairment.

Consideration Transferred

The acquisition date fair value of consideration transferred for the acquisition totaled $77.9 million, as follows:

(in thousands) Amount
Cash paid to selling shareholders $ 56,398 
Equity issued to selling shareholders, including replacement of equity awards attributable to pre-combination services  7,216 
Holdback liability to be settled in cash and Company equity  11,899 
Effective settlement of pre-existing net receivable owed to the Company  2,401 

Total consideration transferred $ 77,914 

The fair value of equity was determined based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock immediately prior to acquisition, and includes 
694,918 shares issued in Company common stock, inclusive of 104,080 shares which are subject to service-based vesting conditions over a two-year 
period. Approximately $0.6 million of these proceeds were accounted for as pre-combination expense, and included within the total consideration 
transferred noted above, with the remaining $0.9 million to be recognized as post-combination share-based compensation expense over the requisite 
service period. The equity issued excludes 133,309 shares and restricted stock units held back and not legally issued at acquisition date, as further 
discussed below.

Approximately $11.9 million of the cash and equity proceeds were held back to satisfy any necessary adjustments, including without limitation, 
indemnification claims related to general representations and warranties, and any net working capital adjustments. The majority of this holdback is 
expected to be settled in cash, and the remainder in Company common stock and restricted stock units, which approximated 133,309 shares held back 
and not legally issued at acquisition date. Such amounts will be settled after a 15-month holdback period, net of any amounts necessary to satisfy all 
unsatisfied or disputed claims for indemnification and net working capital adjustments. As of the acquisition date, this represented approximately 
$10.4 million in cash and $1.5 million in equity, as discussed above, issuable at the end of the holdback period in Company common stock, subject to 
the aforementioned adjustments.

Included in consideration transferred is the settlement of a pre-existing net receivable owed to the Company by Rewire, which was effectively settled 
and became intercompany arrangements as of the closing of the transaction. Excluding the impact of the outstanding net receivable owed to the 
Company by Rewire, the Company would have paid $2.4 million more for the business at closing, and therefore the GAAP purchase price reflects an 
increase in that amount. The settlement of pre-existing relationships between the Company and Rewire did not result in any material gain or loss.
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Holdback Liability

The holdback of cash and equity proceeds discussed above was recorded at its acquisition date fair value and was classified as a liability within 
‘Other noncurrent liabilities’ on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at the acquisition date. The portion of the holdback to be settled in 
Company shares continues to be recorded at its fair value through its settlement date, with changes recorded to earnings. The estimated fair value of 
the portion of the holdback liability that will be settled in equity uses both observable and unobservable inputs, specifically considering the price of 
the Company’s common stock, as well as the probability of payout at the end of the holdback period, and is considered a Level 3 measurement, as 
defined in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement (“ASC 820”). As of December 31, 2023, the holdback liability was recorded within ‘Accrued expenses 
and other current liabilities’ on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as the liability is set to be fulfilled within twelve months of the balance 
sheet date. 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded $1.1 million to reflect the change in the fair value of the holdback liability, 
recorded within ‘General and administrative expenses’ within the Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2023, the fair value of 
the holdback liability was $13.0 million, of which $10.4 million will be paid in cash and the remainder in equity.

Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed 

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Rewire were recorded at their preliminary fair values as of the acquisition date and 
consolidated with those of the Company. Assigning fair market values to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of an acquisition 
requires the use of significant judgments regarding estimates and assumptions. The fair values of intangible assets were estimated using inputs 
classified as Level 3 under the income and cost approaches, including the multi-period excess earnings method for developed technology. The key 
assumptions in applying the income approach used in valuing the identified intangible assets include revenue growth rates for a hypothetical market 
participant, selected discount rates, as well as migration curves for developed technology. The following table summarizes the allocation of the 
purchase consideration to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their acquisition-date fair values:

(in thousands)
Purchase Price 

Allocation 

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 15,465 

Disbursement prefunding  6,016 

Customer funds receivable, net  3,423 

Prepaid expenses and other assets, net  1,187 

Intangible Assets

Trade name  1,000 

Customer relationships  8,500 

Developed technology  12,000 

Goodwill  54,940 

Customer liabilities  (3,075) 

Advance for future deposits  (2,550) 

Other assumed indebtedness  (16,234) 

Other liabilities, net  (2,758) 

Total consideration transferred $ 77,914 

As of December 31, 2023, the valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Rewire is complete. The excess of the purchase consideration 
over the fair value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired was recorded as goodwill and is primarily attributable to the revenue and 
cost synergies expected to arise from the acquisition through continued geographic expansion and product differentiation, along with the acquired 
workforce of Rewire. Goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes. The acquisition did not change the Company’s one operating segment.

Acquired Receivables

The fair value of the financial assets acquired include ‘Disbursement prefunding’ and ‘Customer funds receivable, net,’ with a fair value of $6.0 
million and $3.4 million, respectively, as disclosed above. The Company has collected substantially all of these receivables.

Transaction Costs

Transaction costs totaled $2.1 million and $3.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which included $1.1 million 
for the change in the fair value of the holdback liability for the year ended December 31, 2023. There were no transaction costs incurred for the year 
ended December 31, 2021. 
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Other Disclosures

The results of Rewire have been included within the consolidated financial statements since the date of the acquisition. Rewire’s ‘Revenue’ included 
within the Consolidated Statements of Operations since the acquisition date was $13.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Rewire’s ‘Net 
Loss’ included within the Consolidated Statements of Operations since the acquisition date was $(42.6) million for the year ended December 31, 
2023. 

Pro forma financial information has not been presented, as revenue and expenses related to the acquisition did not have a material impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements. Had Rewire been acquired on January 1, 2022, the Company’s revenue and expenses would not have 
been materially impacted; however, the Company’s net loss would have increased during 2022. Significant pro forma adjustments include transaction 
costs and amortization of acquired intangibles, as discussed further above.

7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The goodwill recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 was attributable to the acquisition of Rewire completed within 
the period, including measurement period adjustments, as described further in Note 6. Business Combinations. There were no other adjustments to 
goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Intangible Assets

The components of identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 were as follows:

(in thousands)
Gross Carrying 

Amount
Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Carrying 
Amount

Weighted Average 
Estimated 

Remaining Useful 
Life (in years)

Trade name $ 1,000 $ (333) $ 667 2.0
Customer relationships  8,500  (2,125)  6,375 3.0
Developed technology  12,000  (2,400)  9,600 4.0

Total $ 21,500 $ (4,858) $ 16,642 

The acquired identified intangible assets have preliminary estimated useful lives ranging from three to five years. Amortization expense for 
intangible assets was $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

Identifiable intangible asset balances as of December 31, 2022 were immaterial. Amortization expense for identifiable intangible assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were immaterial.

Expected future intangible asset amortization as of December 31, 2023 was as follows:

(in thousands) Amount
2024 $ 4,858 
2025  4,858 
2026  4,525 
2027  2,401 

Total $ 16,642 

8. Fair Value Measurements 

Except for the holdback liability related to the Rewire acquisition discussed in Note 6. Business Combinations, there were no financial assets and 
liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 or December 31, 2022. 

The carrying values of certain financial instruments, including disbursement prefunding, customer funds receivable, accounts payable, accrued 
expenses and other current liabilities, customer liabilities, short-term debt, and long-term debt approximate their respective fair values due to their 
relative short maturities. If these financial instruments were measured at fair value in the financial statements, they would be classified as Level 2.
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9.  Debt 

Secured Revolving Credit Facility 

2021 Revolving Credit Facility

On September 13, 2021, Remitly Global, Inc. and Remitly, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Remitly Global, Inc., as co-borrowers, entered into a 
credit agreement (the “2021 Revolving Credit Facility”) with certain lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acting as administrative agent and 
collateral agent, that provided for revolving commitments of $250.0 million (including a $60.0 million letter of credit sub-facility) and terminated its 
then-existing 2020 Credit Agreement. Proceeds under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility are available for working capital and general corporate 
purposes. As part of the refinancing, the Company performed a debt modification analysis, utilizing the borrowing capacity test within ASC 470-50, 
Debt —Modification and Extinguishment, on a lender-by-lender basis, resulting in the capitalization of $1.4 million of new debt issuance costs 
incurred in connection with the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility during the third quarter of 2021. Such amounts were capitalized and recorded within 
‘Other noncurrent assets, net’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the 2021 Revolving 
Credit Facility. The Company previously had $0.5 million of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the then-existing 2020 Credit 
Agreement. As a result of the debt modification, unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.4 million continue to be amortized over the term of the 2021 
Revolving Credit Facility. The remaining $0.1 million was expensed as a debt extinguishment cost within interest expense within the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations during the year ended December 31, 2021.

The 2021 Revolving Credit Facility was amended on June 26, 2023 to reflect changes in the applicable interest rate as a result of the sunsetting of the 
LIBOR interest rate, as noted below. The 2021 Revolving Credit Facility was further amended on December 20, 2023 to increase the revolving 
commitments from $250.0 million (including a $60.0 million letter of credit sub-facility) to $325.0 million. All other terms of the 2021 Revolving 
Credit Facility remain unchanged. The Company evaluated both the June and December 2023 amendments as a debt modification pursuant to ASC 
470-50, Debt —Modification and Extinguishment, noting no material impact.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, $1.2 million and $1.3 million, respectively, of unamortized debt issuance costs were included within ‘Other 
noncurrent assets’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The 2021 Revolving Credit Facility has a maturity date of September 13, 2026. Borrowings under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility after the June 
26, 2023 amendment accrue interest at a floating rate per annum equal to, at the Company’s option, (1) the Alternate Base Rate (defined in the 2021 
Revolving Credit Facility as the rate per annum equal to the highest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (b) the NYFRB Rate in effect for 
such day plus 0.50% and (c) the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for an interest period of one month plus 1.00% (subject to a floor of 1.00%) plus 0.50% 
per annum or (2) the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate (subject to a floor of 0.00%) plus 1.50% per annum. Such interest is payable (a) with respect to loans 
bearing interest based on the Alternate Base Rate, the last day of each March, June, September and December and (b) with respect to loans bearing 
interest based on the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, at the end of each applicable interest period, but in no event less frequently than every three months. 
In addition, an unused commitment fee, which accrues at a rate per annum equal to 0.25% of the unused portion of the revolving commitments, is 
payable on the last day of each March, June, September and December. The 2021 Revolving Credit Facility contains customary conditions to 
borrowing, events of default and covenants, including covenants that restrict the ability to dispose of assets, merge with other entities, incur 
indebtedness, grant liens, pay dividends or make other distributions to holders of its capital stock, make investments, enter into restrictive 
agreements, or engage in transactions with affiliates. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, financial covenants in the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility 
include (1) a requirement to maintain a minimum Adjusted Quick Ratio of 1.50:1.00, which is tested quarterly and (2) a requirement to maintain a 
minimum Liquidity of $100.0 million, which is tested quarterly. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants under the 2021 
Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

The obligations under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by the material domestic subsidiaries of Remitly Global, Inc., subject to 
customary exceptions, and are secured by substantially all of the assets of the borrowers and guarantors thereunder, subject to customary exceptions. 
Amounts of borrowings under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility may fluctuate depending upon transaction volumes and seasonality. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $130.0 million outstanding under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility with a weighted-average interest 
rate of 9.00%. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the 2021 Revolving Credit Facility. As of December 31, 
2023 and 2022, the Company had unused borrowing capacity of $146.8 million and $227.7 million, respectively, under the 2021 Revolving Credit 
Facility. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had $49.4 million and $22.3 million, respectively, in issued, but undrawn, standby letters 
of credit.

Advance for Future Deposits

As part of the acquisition of Rewire, the Company assumed short-term indebtedness of Rewire that represents an advance for future deposits from 
Rewire’s amended agreement with one of its financial partners (the “Amendment” and the “Depositor,” respectively) entered into in October 2021. 
The Amendment has a maturity date of November 2024. The Depositor made an advance payment to Rewire with respect to future deposits (the 
“Advance for Future Deposits”). The original amount of 9.0 million Israeli shekel, approximately $2.8 million, was transferred as an advance under 
the Amendment. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $2.5 million outstanding under the Amendment and was included within ‘Short-term 
debt’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The change in the outstanding balance is driven by the change in the foreign exchange conversion rate. 
The Advance for Future Deposits bears a floating interest rate of 1.4%+ Israeli Prime per annum, paid on a monthly basis. The Israeli Prime rate is 
defined as the Bank of Israel rate + 1.5%. The weighted-average interest rate as of December 31, 2023 was 3.0%.
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Assumed Short-term Debt of Rewire

As part of the acquisition of Rewire, the Company assumed the amounts due on a revolving credit line that Rewire had entered into in 2021 and the 
amounts due on a bridge loan that Rewire had entered into in 2022. The total outstanding amounts were repaid during the year ended December 31, 
2023, along with certain other acquired indebtedness, subsequent to the Company’s acquisition of Rewire and were included within the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows as a financing activity.

10. Net Loss Per Common Share

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the years indicated. As the 
Company reported a net loss, diluted net loss per share was the same as basic net loss per share because the effects of potentially dilutive items were 
anti-dilutive for all years presented.

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except share and per share data) 2023 2022 2021
Numerator:

Net loss $ (117,840) $ (114,019) $ (38,756) 
Denominator:

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to 
common stockholders:

Basic and diluted  180,818,399 167,774,123  60,728,748 
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:

Basic and diluted $ (0.65) $ (0.68) $ (0.64) 

The following potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share calculations for the years presented 
because the impact of including them would have been anti-dilutive:

As of December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Stock options outstanding  10,801,396  15,988,268  23,386,942 
RSUs outstanding(1)  23,555,665  23,366,355  3,496,611 
ESPP  791,226  1,350,486  735,282 
Shares subject to repurchase  8,657  130,929  456,294 
Unvested common stock, subject to service-based vesting conditions, issued in 
connection with acquisition(2)  104,080  —  — 
Equity issuable in connection with acquisition(2)  133,309  —  — 
Total  35,394,333  40,836,038  28,075,129 

_________________

(1) A portion of these RSUs were subject to a performance-based vesting condition until September 22, 2021. See Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies for details on these awards.
(2) Refer to Note 6. Business Combinations for further discussion of equity issued or to be issued in connection with the Rewire acquisition.

11. Common Stock 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has authorized 725,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. Each holder of a 
share of common stock is entitled to one vote for each share held at all meetings of stockholders and is entitled to receive dividends whenever funds 
are legally available and when declared by the Company’s board of directors. No dividends have been declared or paid by the Company during the 
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021. 

Donation to Remitly Philanthropy Fund

In July 2021, the Company’s board of directors approved the reservation of up to 1,819,609 shares of common stock (which was approximately 1.0% 
of the fully diluted capitalization as of June 30, 2021) that the Company may issue to or for the benefit of a 501(c)(3) nonprofit foundation or a 
similar charitable organization pursuant to the Company’s Pledge 1% commitment in installments over ten years. On September 10, 2021, the 
Company executed the stock donation agreement, pursuant to which it issued the first installment of the Pledge 1% commitment to Remitly 
Philanthropy Fund, a donor advised fund administered on the Company’s behalf by Rockefeller Philanthropy Advisors, Inc., on the day after 
consummation of the IPO. 
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The Company donated 181,961 shares of its common stock to Remitly Philanthropy Fund on September 20, 2023, September 28, 2022, and 
September 28, 2021, pursuant to the stock donation agreement, and in connection with the Pledge 1% commitment, which publicly acknowledges the 
Company’s intent to give back and increase social impact, in order to sustainably fund a portion of its corporate social responsibility goals and further 
its mission to expand financial inclusion for immigrants. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company recorded a charge of 
$4.6 million, $2.0 million, and $6.9 million, respectively, to ‘General and administrative expenses’ within the Consolidated Statements of Operations 
based on the closing price of its common stock as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (the “NASDAQ”) on September 20, 2023, September 
28, 2022, and September 28, 2021, respectively.

Warrants 

In connection with a previous Credit Agreement, the Company issued stock warrants to purchase shares of common stock with terms of ten years, 
exercisable at any time, and exercise prices ranging from $0.054 to $0.64 per share, subject to standard anti-dilution adjustments. The warrants were 
recorded as additional paid-in capital and capitalized as debt issuance costs on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. On September 24, 2021, the holders 
of these stock warrants provided a notice of exercise and on September 30, 2021, warrants to purchase 256,250 shares of common stock were 
exercised in a cashless exercise, pursuant to the terms of the original warrant agreement, resulting in the issuance of 254,014 shares. There were no 
warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

12. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock 

Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company had 127,410,631 shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding. Upon completion of the 
IPO, all shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock were automatically converted into an equivalent number of shares of common stock on a 
one-to-one basis and their carrying value of $390.7 million was reclassified into stockholders’ equity. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were 
no shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding.

In addition, in connection with the IPO, the Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation became effective, which authorized the 
issuance of 50,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share with rights and preferences, including voting 
rights, designated from time to time by the Company’s board of directors.

13. Stock-Based Compensation 

Shares Available for Issuance

As of December 31, 2023, 10,821,542 and 5,863,655 awards remain available for issuance under the 2021 Plan and the ESPP, respectively.

Stock Options

The following is a summary of the Company’s stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Stock Options

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Number of Options 

Outstanding
Weighted-Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted-Average 
Remaining 

Contractual Life 
(Years)

Aggregate Intrinsic 
Value (1)

Balances as of January 1, 2023  15,988,268 $ 4.11 6.79 $ 119,467 
Exercised  (4,530,975)  3.02  69,472 
Forfeited  (655,897)  5.96 
Balances as of December 31, 2023  10,801,396  4.46 5.87  161,603 
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2023  8,427,373  3.17 5.43  136,938 
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2023  10,765,053 $ 4.48 5.88 $ 160,880 

_________________
(1) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock options and the estimated fair value of the Company’s 
common stock.
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No stock options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2023.

The fair value of each employee stock option granted during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was estimated on the date of grant using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: 

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Risk-free interest rates 2.86% 0.32% to 1.19%
Expected term 6.1 years 3.5 to 6.8 years
Volatility 64.0% 37.8% to 50.5%
Dividend rate  — %  — %

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $6.78 and $5.22, 
respectively. 

The following is a summary of the Company’s stock option activity during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Aggregate grant-date fair value of options vested $ 9,406 $ 11,650 $ 7,311 
Intrinsic value of options exercised  69,472  43,975  72,208 

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock unit activity during the year ended December 31, 2023 was as follows:

Number of Shares

Weighted-Average 
Grant-Date Fair 
Value Per Share

Unvested at January 1, 2023  23,366,355 $ 11.86 
Granted  12,799,630  17.48 
Vested  (9,453,441)  11.96 
Cancelled/forfeited  (3,156,879)  13.37 
Unvested at December 31, 2023  23,555,665 $ 14.67 

The following is a summary of the Company’s restricted stock unit activity during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except share and per share data) 2023 2022 2021
Weighted-average grant date fair value of RSUs granted $ 17.48 $ 10.65 $ 27.16 
Aggregate grant-date fair value of RSUs vested  113,024  42,317  629 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)

The offering period that commenced on September 22, 2021, for which the accounting grant date was met in October 2021, ended on February 28, 
2022, due to a decline in the Company’s stock price at the end of the purchase period, triggering a new offering period, as required by the ESPP plan 
documents. A new 24-month offering period commenced on March 1, 2022. This event was accounted for as a modification under GAAP in the first 
quarter of 2022, whereby the fair value of the ESPP offering was measured immediately before and after modification, resulting in incremental stock-
based compensation expense of $3.6 million, which is being recognized over the new offering period, which is deemed to be the requisite service 
period. A new subsequent 24-month offering period commences on March 1 and September 1 of each fiscal year. 
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The fair value of the ESPP offerings described above were estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as of the respective offering 
dates, using the following assumptions. These assumptions represent the grant date fair value inputs for new offerings which commenced during the 
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, as well as updated valuation information as of the modification date for any offerings for which a 
modification occurred during the periods presented herein:

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Risk-free interest rates 4.81% to 5.40% 0.60% to 3.48% 0.06% to 0.30%
Expected term (in years) 0.5 to 2.0 years 0.5 to 2.0 years 0.4 to 1.9 years
Volatility 47.8% to 65.2% 58.3% to 73.0% 37.7% to 56.0%
Dividend rate  — %  — %  — %

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense for stock options, RSUs, PRSUs, and the ESPP, included within the Consolidated Statements of Operations, net 
of amounts capitalized to internal-use software, as described in Note 5. Property and Equipment, was as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Customer support and operations $ 1,404 $ 816 $ 153 
Marketing  16,165  10,512  2,325 
Technology and development  74,967  46,420  6,931 
General and administrative  44,431  37,545  7,607 
Total $ 136,967 $ 95,293 $ 17,016 

As of December 31, 2023, the total unamortized compensation cost related to all non-vested equity awards, including options, RSUs, and PRSUs, 
was $302.3 million, which will be amortized over a weighted-average remaining requisite service period of approximately 2.7 years. As of December 
31, 2023, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to the ESPP was $3.1 million, which is expected to be amortized over the next 1.7 
years.

14. Restructuring Initiatives

In the year ended December 31, 2023, as a result of simplifying and scaling certain processes, functions, and team capabilities, the Company began 
implementing restructuring initiatives in order to better serve the Company’s customers and allow the Company to grow and scale global operations. 
Restructuring costs incurred primarily included severance and certain other associated costs. These specific restructuring initiatives were substantially 
complete by December 31, 2023.

The Company incurred charges of $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The following table presents the restructuring costs included within the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2023:

(in thousands) Amount
Customer support and operations $ 749 
Technology and development  524 
General and administrative  96 

Total restructuring costs $ 1,369 

The following table presents the changes in liabilities, including expenses incurred and cash payments resulting from the restructuring costs and 
related accruals, during the year ended December 31, 2023:

(in thousands) Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ — 
Expenses incurred  1,369 
Cash payments  (1,291) 
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 78 
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15. Related Party Arrangements

There were no significant related party transactions for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

The Company entered into promissory note agreements in October 2018 which were fully repaid in August 2021. The promissory note agreements 
were entered into with two executive employees in conjunction with their early exercise of stock options to purchase 1,800,000 shares of the 
Company’s common stock. The principal amount of the notes was $3.1 million, and interest accrued at 2.83% on the outstanding principal amount 
annually. The notes were secured by the shares that were exercised. Based on the nonrecourse nature of these agreements, the agreements were 
accounted for as grants of options to purchase common stock. The fair value of the stock options, determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model was being recognized over the requisite service period.

The associated shares are legally outstanding and included in shares of common stock outstanding within the consolidated financial statements, but 
were historically excluded from the Company’s net loss per common share calculations, as these shares of common stock were considered unvested 
until the underlying promissory notes were repaid. 

On August 23, 2021, the promissory notes were paid in full, including all accrued interest. After repayment of the loan, these shares are now 
considered outstanding for purposes of the Company’s net loss per common share calculations to the extent the shares are vested. 

16. Income Taxes 

The components of loss before provision for income taxes were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
United States ................................................................................................................ $ (74,776) $ (116,272) $ (46,241) 
Foreign      .........................................................................................................................  (37,162)  3,296  8,528 
Loss before provision for income taxes      ....................................................................... $ (111,938) $ (112,976) $ (37,713) 

The components of the provision for income taxes were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Current tax benefit (expense)
Federal    ......................................................................................................................... $ — $ — $ — 
State   .............................................................................................................................  (376)  (9)  (257) 
Foreign    ........................................................................................................................  (6,365)  (2,449)  (1,650) 
Total current tax expense    ............................................................................................  (6,741)  (2,458)  (1,907) 
Deferred tax benefit (expense)
Federal    .........................................................................................................................  —  —  — 
State   .............................................................................................................................  —  —  — 
Foreign    ........................................................................................................................  839  1,415  864 
Total deferred tax benefit  ............................................................................................  839  1,415  864 
Provision for income taxes   .......................................................................................... $ (5,902) $ (1,043) $ (1,043) 

A reconciliation at the applicable federal statutory rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Federal income taxes at statutory rate   ........................................................................... 21.00 % 21.00 % 21.00 %
State income tax, net of federal benefit     ........................................................................  8.71  4.06  11.37 
Increase in valuation allowance   ....................................................................................  (59.69)  (24.08)  (66.51) 
Stock-based compensation   ............................................................................................  16.70  0.92  31.08 
U.S. tax on foreign earnings      .........................................................................................  —  (2.03)  — 
Tax charges from integration of acquired companies  ...................................................  (6.57)  —  — 
Research tax credits      ......................................................................................................  14.98  —  — 
Other    .............................................................................................................................  (0.40)  (0.79)  0.29 
Effective income tax rate   .............................................................................................. (5.27) % (0.92) % (2.77) %
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As of December 31, 2023, the Company has U.S. net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of $210.7 million, of which $202.4 million will begin to 
expire between 2032 and 2037, and state NOL carryforwards of $169.0 million, which begin to expire between 2032 and 2043. NOL carryforwards 
are subject to possible limitation should a change in ownership of the Company occur, as defined by Internal Revenue Code Section 382. As of 
December 31, 2023, the Company has foreign net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards in Israel, the United Kingdom, and Japan of $25.7 million, 
$2.4 million, and $0.5 million, respectively. The NOLs related to Israel and the United Kingdom do not expire, and the NOLs related to Japan will 
begin to expire in 2030.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had Federal research and development credit carryforwards of $21.2 million, which begin to expire in 2041, 
and State research and development credit carryforwards of $0.7 million, which do not expire.

The total income tax benefit related to stock-based compensation expense and stock option exercises was $2.9 million for the year ended December 
31, 2023. The Company did not record a material income tax benefit related to stock-based compensation expense and stock option exercises during 
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 since the Company maintained a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets in the 
jurisdictions where material stock-compensation expense charges were incurred, and stock option exercises occurred.

The tax effects of the temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to deferred tax assets were as follows: 

As of December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwards   ..................................................................................................................... $ 58,901 $ 58,798 
Accrued expenses     ............................................................................................................................................  4,326  2,270 
Stock-based compensation     ..............................................................................................................................  15,623  13,508 
Operating lease liabilities      ................................................................................................................................  1,041  1,156 
Capitalized research costs   ................................................................................................................................  69,279  28,605 
Intangible assets    ...............................................................................................................................................  10,846  — 
Research tax credits    .........................................................................................................................................  17,341  — 
Other       ................................................................................................................................................................  2,748  2,442 

Gross deferred tax assets     .............................................................................................................................  180,105  106,779 

Deferred tax liabilities
Fixed assets and intangible assets ....................................................................................................................  (1,321)  (311) 
Operating lease right-of-use assets    ..................................................................................................................  (756)  (1,076) 
Other       ................................................................................................................................................................  —  (1,720) 

Gross deferred tax liabilities    ........................................................................................................................  (2,077)  (3,107) 

Valuation allowance(1)
   .....................................................................................................................................  (174,863)  (101,446) 

Net deferred tax assets(2)
  .............................................................................................................................. $ 3,165 $ 2,226 

_________________
(1) The Company maintains a full valuation allowance against the U.S. net deferred tax assets, as it believes that these deferred tax assets do not meet the more likely 
than not threshold.
(2) The net deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 was recorded within ‘Other noncurrent assets, net’ on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The net change in the total valuation allowance was an increase of $73.4 million, $27.2 million, and $25.1 million for the years ended December 31, 
2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. The change in valuation allowance as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 was primarily related to an increase in 
capitalized costs under IRC Sec 174 and certain credit carryforwards, offset by the utilization of U.S. federal and state net operating losses. The 
following represents the changes in the Company’s valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Balance at the beginning of the period    ........................................................................ $ 101,446 $ 74,244 $ 49,159 
Charged to net income     .................................................................................................  67,030  27,202  25,085 
Charged to other accounts ............................................................................................  6,387  —  — 
Balance at the end of the period   ................................................................................... $ 174,863 $ 101,446 $ 74,244 

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various state jurisdictions, and internationally. As of December 31, 2023, tax 
years 2012 through 2023 remain open for examination by taxing authorities. 
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The calculation of the Company’s tax obligations involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations. ASC 
740, Income Taxes, provides that a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will 
be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, on the basis of the technical merits. The Company 
has assessed its income tax positions and recorded tax benefits for all years subject to examination, based upon its evaluation of the facts, 
circumstances and information available at each period end. For those tax positions where the Company has determined there is a greater than 50% 
likelihood that a tax benefit will be sustained, the Company has recorded the largest amount of tax benefit that may potentially be realized upon 
ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. For those income tax positions where it is determined 
there is less than 50% likelihood that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit has been recognized.

The following represents the changes in the Company’s unrecognized income tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, 
respectively:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Balance at the beginning of the period    ........................................................................ $ — $ — $ — 
Increases related to tax positions taken during the current year   ..................................  11,438  —  — 
Increases related to tax positions taken during prior years     ..........................................  4,140  —  — 
Balance at the end of the period   ................................................................................... $ 15,578 $ — $ — 

During the year ended December 31, 2023 the Company recorded a $15.6 million uncertain tax position including the impact of intercompany 
transactions not anticipated to recur, of which $4.2 million would impact the annual effective tax rate if recognized and the remainder would offset 
against an adjustment to the valuation allowance. Although it is reasonably possible that over the next 12-month period the Company could 
experience changes in its unrecognized tax position as a result of tax examinations or settlement activities, the Company does not anticipate any 
material change to its unrecognized tax position over the next 12 months. As of December 31, 2023, $4.2 million of uncertain tax positions were 
recorded within ‘Other noncurrent liabilities’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company had no uncertain tax positions during the years 
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The Company recognizes interest and, if applicable, penalties for any uncertain tax positions. Interest and penalties are recorded as a component of 
income tax expense. In the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company did not have material accrued interest or penalties 
associated with any unrecognized tax benefits. 

17. 401(k) Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a defined contribution savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. This plan covers substantially all domestic 
employees who meet minimum age and service requirements and allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pretax 
basis. The Company makes discretionary matching contributions that are funded in the following year. The Company matches 50% of the first 3% of 
compensation that a participant contributes to the 401(k) plan, up to a maximum of $1,000 per plan year. The Company contributed $0.4 million, 
$0.3 million, and $0.2 million to the 401(k) plan during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, which represents the 
current period contribution for the prior plan year. The Company may also make discretionary profit-sharing contributions. No profit-sharing 
contributions were made during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 or 2021. 

As part of the acquisition of Rewire, the Company inherited various employer sponsored contribution savings plans. The Company contributed 
$2.5 million to these various plans for the year ended December 31, 2023.

18. Commitments and Contingencies 

Purchase Commitments

The Company routinely enters into marketing and advertising contracts, software subscriptions or other service arrangements, including cloud 
infrastructure arrangements, and compliance-application related arrangements that contractually obligate us to purchase services, including minimum 
service quantities, unless given notice of cancellation based on the applicable terms of the agreements. Most contracts are typically cancellable within 
a period of less than one year, although some of the larger software or cloud service subscriptions require multi-year commitments. The purchase 
commitments presented in the table below include amounts that are fixed with noncancellable minimum purchase terms with remaining terms in 
excess of one year. Obligations under contracts that are cancellable or with remaining terms of twelve months or less are excluded.
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As of December 31, 2023, the future minimum payments under the purchase commitments were as follows:

(in thousands) Amount
2024 $ 18,453 
2025  17,977 
2026  7,500 
2027  — 
2028 and thereafter  — 
Total future minimum payments $ 43,930 

Guarantees and Indemnification 

In the ordinary course of business to facilitate sales of its services, the Company has entered into agreements with, among others, suppliers and 
partners that include guarantees or indemnity provisions. The Company also enters into indemnification agreements with its officers and directors, 
and the Company’s certificate of incorporation and bylaws include similar indemnification obligations to its officers and directors. To date, there 
have been no claims under any indemnification provisions; therefore, no such amounts have been accrued as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Litigation and Loss Contingencies

Litigation

From time to time, the Company may be a party to litigation and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business, including intellectual 
property claims, labor and employment claims, threatened claims, breach of contract claims, and other matters. The Company accrues estimates for 
resolution of legal and other contingencies when losses are probable, as defined under GAAP, and estimable. Although the results of litigation and 
claims are inherently unpredictable, the Company does not believe that there was a reasonable possibility that it had incurred a material loss with 
respect to such loss contingencies as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Indirect taxes

The Company is subject to indirect taxation in various states and foreign jurisdictions in which it conducts business. The Company continually 
evaluates those jurisdictions in which indirect tax obligations exist to determine whether a loss is probable, as defined under GAAP, and the amount 
can be estimated. Determination of whether a loss is probable, and an estimate can be made, is a complex undertaking and takes into account the 
judgment of management, third-party research, and the potential outcome of negotiation and interpretations by regulators and courts, among other 
information. Such assessments include consideration of management’s evaluation of domestic and international tax laws and regulations, external 
legal advice, and the extent to which they may apply to the Company’s business and industry. The Company’s assessment of probability includes 
consideration of recent inquiries, potential or actual self-disclosure, and applicability of tax rules. As a result of this assessment, management accrued 
an estimated liability of approximately $6.4 million and $6.0 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, reflecting the amount that the 
Company believes is probable and estimable. The estimated liability is recorded within ‘Accrued expenses and other current liabilities’ on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Although the Company believes its indirect tax estimates and associated liabilities are reasonable, the final 
determination of indirect tax audits or settlements could be materially different than the amounts recorded.

Reserve for Transaction Losses 

The table below summarizes the Company’s reserve for transaction losses for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021: 

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Beginning balance $ 3,762 $ 3,134 $ 3,250 

Provisions for transaction losses  38,553  42,496  29,596 
Losses incurred, net of recoveries  (38,956)  (41,868)  (29,712) 

Ending balance $ 3,359 $ 3,762 $ 3,134 
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19. Accrued Expenses & Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Trade settlement liability(1) $ 58,950 $ 26,266 
Accrued cost of revenue  18,500  15,878 
Accrued marketing expense  13,633  11,394 
Holdback liability(3)  12,990  — 
Accrued salary, benefits, and related taxes(2)  10,251  4,026 
Accrued taxes and taxes payable(4)  9,259  8,288 
ESPP employee contributions  3,565  1,926 
Reserve for transaction losses  3,359  3,762 
Other accrued expenses  15,295  16,212 

Total $ 145,802 $ 87,752 

_________________
(1) The trade settlement liability amount represents the total of disbursement postfunding liabilities and book overdrafts owed to the Company’s disbursement partners. 
Refer to Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies within the consolidated financial statements for further discussion. 
(2) The accrued salary, benefits, and related taxes amount is inclusive of accrued severance as part of the Company’s restructuring that occurred during the year ended 
December 31, 2023. Refer to Note 14. Restructuring Initiatives for further detail on the Company’s restructuring activities.
(3) Refer to Note 6. Business Combinations for further detail on the Holdback liability.
(4) The accrued taxes and taxes payable amount is inclusive of indirect taxes of approximately $6.4 million and $6.0 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. Refer to Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies for further details.

20. Leases 

The Company leases office space in all of its locations under noncancellable operating leases with various expiration dates through 2027.

The components of lease expense, lease term, and discount rate for operating leases were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Operating lease expense (in thousands) $ 6,409 $ 4,732 $ 3,824 
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) 2.2 2.1 2.2
Weighted-average discount rate  5.4 %  4.7 %  5.0 %

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Cash payments, net included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities – 
operating cash flows $ 5,415 $ 4,472 $ 3,538 

The following table represents the maturity of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023:

(in thousands) Amount
2024 $ 6,465 
2025  2,673 
2026  1,359 
2027  745 
2028 and thereafter  — 
Total lease payments  11,242 
Less: Imputed interest  (733) 
Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 10,509 
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21. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The supplemental disclosures of cash flow information consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 1,653 $ 906 $ 934 
Cash paid for income taxes  5,305  2,282  756 
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $ 5,954 $ 7,441 $ 2,532 
Vesting of early exercised options  377  716  482 
Stock-based compensation expense capitalized to internal-use software  3,132  1,821  — 
Issuance of common stock for acquisition consideration  6,635  —  — 
Issuance of common stock, subject to service-based vesting conditions, in connection 
with acquisition  581  —  — 
Amounts held back for acquisition consideration  11,899  —  — 
Settlement of preexisting net receivable in exchange for net assets acquired in business 
combination  2,401  —  — 
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to common stock in connection 
with initial public offering  —  —  390,687 
IPO and debt issuance costs incurred but not yet paid  —  —  2,287 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure 
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2023, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The term “disclosure controls 
and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), means 
controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by a company 
in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the 
SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information 
required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the 
company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure. 

Based on our evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level. 

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well 
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of 
disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in 
evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon 
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals 
under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our management conducted an 
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 based on the framework in Internal Control - 
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its evaluation our 
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an 
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In January 2023, we completed our acquisition of Rewire (O.S.G.) Research and Development Ltd. (“Rewire”). Based upon Securities and Exchange 
Commission staff guidance, companies are permitted to exclude acquisitions from their assessment of internal control over financial reporting for the 
first year of acquisition. We have excluded Rewire from our assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. Rewire 
is a wholly owned subsidiary whose total revenue and assets represented less than 2% of our consolidated revenue and 2% of our consolidated assets 
for the year ended and as of December 31, 2023 (goodwill and intangibles are excluded from the calculation of assets, as they were included in our 
assessment).

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially 
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 and Non-Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangements
 
On December 12, 2023, Joshua Hug, our Chief Operating Officer and a member of our Board of Directors, modified an existing trading plan intended 
to satisfy the conditions under Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act (the “Original Trading Arrangement”), which was adopted on September 14, 2023 
and scheduled to terminate on the earlier of the date all the shares under the plan were sold and December 31, 2024. The Original Trading 
Arrangement provided for the sale of up to 444,505 shares of our common stock, the actual amount of which may be less based on tax withholdings 
of RSUs. Mr. Hug’s modified trading arrangement intended to satisfy the conditions under Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act (the “Modified Trading 
Arrangement”) is scheduled to terminate on the earlier of the date all shares under the plan are sold and March 31, 2025. The Modified Trading 
Arrangement provides for the sale of up to 512,539 shares of our common stock, the actual number of which may be less based on tax withholdings 
of RSUs. 

On December 5, 2023, Pankaj Sharma, our Chief Business Officer, adopted a trading plan intended to satisfy the conditions under Rule 10b5-1 of the 
Exchange Act. Mr. Sharma’s plan is for the sale of up to 32,000 shares of our common stock and terminates on the earlier of the date all shares under 
the plan are sold and December 31, 2024.
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Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by Item 10 with respect to executive officers will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement for the 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days of the Company’s fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2023 (the "Proxy Statement").

Information required by Item 10 for matters other than executive officers is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.

Code of Business Conduct

Our Board of Directors adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers, including our Chief Executive 
Officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions and agents and representatives, including directors and consultants. 
The full text of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at ir.remitly.com. We intend to disclose future amendments to 
certain provisions of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, or waivers of such provisions applicable to any Chief Executive Officer and principal 
financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, and our directors, on our website identified above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholders Matters

The information required by Item 12 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) The consolidated financial statements and related documents set forth in Item 8. Financial Statements are filed as part of this report.

(a) (2) All other schedules to the consolidated financial statements required by Regulation S-X are omitted because they are not applicable, not 
material or because the information is included within the consolidated financial statements and related notes in Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data of this report.

(a) (3) Exhibits.

The documents set forth below are filed herewith or are incorporated herein by reference to the location indicated.

(a) Financial Statement Schedules.

All schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown in the financial statements or 
notes thereto.

Table of Contents

96



Exhibit Index

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit 
Number Description

Filed 
Herewith Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 15, 2022, by and 
among, Remitly Global, Inc., Rewire Merger Sub Ltd., Rewire 
(O.S.G.) Research and Development Ltd. and Fortis Advisors LLC

8-K 001-40822 2.1 August 16, 2022

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation 10-Q 001-40822 3.3 November 12, 
2021

3.2 Restated Bylaws 10-Q 001-40822 3.4 November 12, 
2021

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate S-1/A 333-259167 4.1 September 14, 
2021

4.2 Seventh Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement dated 
August 3, 2020

S-1 333-259167 4.2 August 30, 2021

4.3 Description of Common Stock Registered Under Section 12 of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

x

10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Registrant 
and each of its directors and executive officers

S-1 333-259167 10.1 August 30, 2021

10.2 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of equity 
agreements thereunder

S-1 333-259167 10.3 August 30, 2021

10.3 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of award 
agreements thereunder

x

10.4 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, and forms of 
subscription agreement thereunder

x

10.5 Forms of Change in Control and Severance Agreement for executive 
officers

x

10.6 Amended and Restated Offer Letter, effective as of September 13, 
2021 by and between the Registrant and Matthew Oppenheimer

S-1/A 333-259167 10.7 September 14, 
2021

10.7 Amended and Restated Offer Letter, effective as of September 13, 
2021 by and between the Registrant and Joshua Hug

S-1/A 333-259167 10.8 September 14, 
2021

10.8 Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of September 
13, 2021, among Remitly Global, Inc. and Remitly, Inc., the 
guarantors party thereto, the lenders and issuing banks party thereto 
and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.

S-1/A 333-259167 10.10 September 14, 
2021

10.9 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 16, 
2020, by and among the Registrant, Remitly, Inc., Silicon Valley 
Bank and other banks and financial institutions party thereto, 
including the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (amended 
through November 16, 2020) in Annex A

S-1 333-259167 10.2 August 30, 2021

10.10 Amended and Restated Offer Letter, effective as of July 18, 2022 by 
and between the Registrant and Hemanth Munipalli

10-Q 001-40822 10.1 August 10, 2022

10.11 Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated as of April 6, 2023, by 
and between the Registrant and Rene Yoakum

10-Q 001-40822 10.2 May 8, 2023

10.12 Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated as of April 6, 2023, by 
and between the Registrant and Ankur Sinha

10-Q 001-40822 10.3 May 8, 2023

10.13 Amendment No. 1, dated June 26, 2023, to the Revolving Credit and 
Guaranty Agreement dated as of September 13, 2021 among Remitly 
Global, Inc. and Remitly, Inc., the guarantors party thereto, the 
lenders and issuing banks party thereto and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, 
N.A.

10-Q 001-40822 10.4 August 3, 2023

10.14 Amendment No. 2 and Joinder Agreement dated as of December 20, 
2023, to the Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement dated as of 
September 13, 2021 among Remitly Global, Inc. and Remitly, Inc. as 
borrowers and guarantors, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as 
administrative agent and the incremental lenders party thereto

8-K 001-40822 10.1 December 22, 
2023

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant x
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23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered 
public accounting firm x

24.1 Power of Attorney (included in the signature page to the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K) x

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 x

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 x

32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 x

32.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 x

97.1 Compensation Recoupment Policy x
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not 

appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are 
embedded within the Inline XBRL document). x

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. x
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. x
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. x
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. x
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 

Document.
x

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and 
contained in Exhibit 101). x

* The certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Form 10-K and are not deemed “filed” for purposes of 
Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing 
under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Remitly Global, Inc.

Date: February 23, 2024 By: /s/ Matthew Oppenheimer

Matthew Oppenheimer

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 23, 2024 By: /s/ Hemanth Munipalli

Hemanth Munipalli

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 23, 2024 By: /s/ Gail Miller

Gail Miller

Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

We, the undersigned officers and directors of Remitly Global, Inc., hereby severally and individually constitute and appoint Matthew Oppenheimer, 
Hemanth Munipalli, and Gail Miller, jointly and severally, the true and lawful attorney and agent of each of us to execute in the name, place and 
stead of each of us (individually and in any capacity stated below) any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and all instruments 
necessary or advisable in connection therewith and to file the same with the Securities and Exchange Commission, each of said attorney and agent to 
have the power to act with or without the others and to have full power and authority to do and perform in the name and on behalf of each of the 
undersigned every act whatsoever necessary or advisable to be done in the premises as fully and to all intents and purposes as any of the undersigned 
might or could do in person, and we hereby ratify and confirm our signatures as they may be signed by our said attorney and agent or each of them to 
any and all such amendments and instruments.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ Matthew Oppenheimer /s/ Hemanth Munipalli

Matthew Oppenheimer, Chief Executive Officer and Director Hemanth Munipalli, Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Executive Officer) (Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 23, 2024 Date: February 23, 2024

/s/ Gail Miller /s/ Ryno Blignaut

Gail Miller, Chief Accounting Officer Ryno Blignaut, Director

(Principal Accounting Officer) Date: February 23, 2024

Date: February 23, 2024

/s/ Phyllis Campbell /s/ Bora Chung

Phyllis Campbell, Director Bora Chung, Director

Date: February 23, 2024 Date: February 23, 2024

/s/ Joshua Hug /s/ Laurent Le Moal

Joshua Hug, Chief Operating Officer and Director Laurent Le Moal, Director

Date: February 23, 2024 Date: February 23, 2024

/s/ Nigel Morris /s/ Phillip Riese

Nigel Morris, Director Phillip Riese, Director

Date: February 23, 2024 Date: February 23, 2024

/s/ Margaret M. Smyth

Margaret M. Smyth, Director

Date: February 23, 2024
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